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HigHligHts of tHe year

The Place

Distributions increased by 14.4% to 106.5 cents per linked unit

Tangible net asset value grew by 12.3% to 1 432 cents per linked unit

Conclusion of management “buy-in” transaction of R1,6 billion

Capital raising to the value of R1,65 billion

Property acquisitions and capital expenditure of R3,4 billion

Property assets increased by 22.9% to R27,2 billion

Additional loan facilities secured to the value of R3,0 billion

New fixed rate loan of R0,7 billion raised

Interest rates fixed for 98.2% of debt at 30 June 2008
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Chairman’s sTaTemenT

INTRODUCTION
It is my pleasure to report on what has been a successful and significant year for Growthpoint. Distributions to 
linked unitholders increased by 14.4%, while the property portfolio was enhanced by a number of acquisitions 
and developments of well located, quality properties totaling R3,4 billion. 

Two major transactions were successfully concluded during the year, both of which were distribution enhancing 
in the 2008 financial year and will have ongoing benefits for the company’s linked unitholders. 

On 1 October 2007, Growthpoint raised an additional R1,65 billion of capital through the issue of 100 million 
new linked units in terms of a claw-back rights offer. The new linked units were issued at a forward yield of 
below 7% and made it possible to acquire quality new properties without diluting earnings.

The other major transaction concluded, with effect from 1 July 2007, was the management “buy-in” transaction, 
which resulted in a change to the management model. Since incorporation in 1987, the company has operated 
with an external management structure, employing no staff. Strategic property asset management and the 
day-to-day property management and administration functions were outsourced to Investec Property Group 
Limited (IPG). These businesses were acquired for R1,5 billion.

CHANGES TO THE MANAGEMENT MODEL
Internationally, the growth in market capitalisation of the Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) industry has 
come largely from internally managed, not externally managed, REITs. The external management model, 
where the asset manager’s remuneration is a function of the value of assets under management, can give rise 
to potential conflicts of interest.

Growthpoint is today a substantial business, owning over 430 properties valued at more than R27 billion. 
Following the management “buy-in” transaction, more than 420 staff are employed in the business. It is the 
board’s and my belief that Growthpoint will be able to extract the most value from its property portfolio by 
recruiting and retaining highly competent, motivated people and providing appropriate incentives that align 
the interests of staff with those of investors.

Through the Growthpoint Staff Incentive Scheme, each Growthpoint employee has an ownership stake in the 
company. The skills within the company include financing, corporate structuring, specialised expertise in retail, 
office and industrial property asset management, IT, systems, property management and administration, 
facilities management, energy management, letting, credit control, property development and redevelopment, 
marketing, human resources, and financial and management accounting.

Growthpoint is now uniquely positioned in South Africa to offer a holistic solution to its clients, covering every 
aspect of their property needs.

UPDATE ON REIT LEGISLATION 
In December 2007, the South African National Treasury (National Treasury) issued a discussion paper to all 
interested parties, inviting comments on the proposed introduction of a REIT legislative framework.  Numerous 
parties, including the Property Loan Stock Association (PLSA), of which Growthpoint is a member, submitted 
their comments in January 2008. National Treasury then embarked on a consultative process to discuss the 
comments with the various parties. 

It is expected that National Treasury will issue a response document shortly and invite final comments prior 
to commencing with the drafting of legislation. 

The finalisation of this process should be positive for South African listed property as it should result in a 
structure that is commonly used and recognisable internationally.
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listed property yields vs long bonds
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STATE OF THE MARKET 
There are two significant factors that influence listed property prices: interest rates and the dynamics of 

supply and demand.

interest rates
As shown in the graph below, there is a strong correlation between long-term interest rates and listed property 
yields.

Since August 2005, listed property has been trading at yields below the RSA government long bond yields due 
to strong property fundamentals and expected growth in distributions.

From November 2007, yields on government bonds rose rapidly to peak in June 2008 at 10.65%. Property 
yields rose in tandem and Growthpoint was no exception, ending the financial year at a closing price on the 
JSE Limited of R11.10 per linked unit. Since the end of June 2008, rates have dropped and listed property prices 
have recovered, with Growthpoint closing at R14.45 at the end of August 2008.

Changes in interest rates have little impact on Growthpoint’s interest cost, as the company’s policy is to 
ensure that interest rates in respect of at least 75% of borrowings are fixed at all times. At 30 June 2008, 
98.2% of debt was at fixed interest rates.

The interest rate markets are currently predicting that we are near the peak of the interest rate cycle. The 
steeply inverse shape of the swap curve (see following graph) indicates that the market is expecting interest 
rates to start declining in the second quarter of 2009.

swap yield curve at 18 august 2008

2 4 6 8 10 12

10.8% 10.0% 9.7% 9.5% 9.3% 9.1%

                                                                                                                                                                                     (source: Reuters)

Year

Yield
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The above graph, which includes all property types within the three sectors and all locations, including the 
CBD’s, shows increasing vacancies, particularly in the office sectors, from 1997 until 2002. From 2003 until the 
end of 2007, there has been a marked decrease in vacancies, particularly in the office and industrial sectors. 
This has been driven by good economic growth and limited supply of new office and industrial space being 
brought onto the market. 

The current low levels of vacancies have resulted in positive reversions on expiry of existing leases. This is 
particularly notable in the industrial sector, where rentals are increasing on average between 15% and 20% 
on renewal and, in some cases, substantially higher increases are achieved. Growthpoint’s office portfolio has 
been experiencing upward reversions of between 10% and 12% on renewal and the retail portfolio has been 
achieving between 8% and 10%.

There are a number of factors that will tend to constrain the supply of new property developments. These 
include delays in the zoning processes, unavailability of electricity for large new users, high and rapidly 

increasing building costs (particularly steel) and the current high costs of funding.

At the current cost of bringing new developments onto the market, developers will have to achieve rentals of 

roughly double the current in-force rentals in Growthpoint’s portfolio.

There are a number of new developments, mainly in the office sector, that will be brought onto the market in the 

next year, both by Growthpoint and other developers. It is expected that this will create a short-term increase in 

office vacancies and limit the ability to increase office rentals substantially in certain nodes in the short-term.

PROSPECTS

On a “like-for-like” basis, property net income is expected to grow at similar levels to the 11.0% achieved 

during the year ended 30 June 2008. The impact of newly completed developments that have recently come 

on stream, and others that will be completed in the next six months, is likely to increase vacancies in the office 

sector in the short-term, as these properties might not all be fully let on completion. Besides the developments, 

Growthpoint intends to spend R360 million in the next year on capital improvements to properties that will, 

in the medium and longer term, enable higher net rentals to be achieved.

In the retail sector, a slow-down in consumer spending due to increased interest rates and higher inflation 

levels, is impacting on disposable incomes and smaller tenants are being affected. Although bad debts and 

tenancy failures are expected to increase, this is not likely to be material to Growthpoint’s results.

Consequently, distributions are not expected to grow at the same level as in 2008. However, provided that 

there is no significant deterioration in economic conditions, we are expecting to achieve growth in distributions 

of approximately 10% in the next financial year.  

This profit forecast has not been reviewed or reported on by Growthpoint’s auditors.

south african vacancy trends over 12 years

                                                                                            
1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

3.0% 10.2% 11.3% 14.0% 16.9% 18.8% 23.6% 22.2% 17.0% 10.6% 7.7% 5.4%

0.6% 2.3% 2.9% 4.3% 5.2% 6.2% 6.5% 5.9% 4.6% 3.8% 3.5% 2.3%

0.7% 5.3% 7.9% 9.6% 10.9% 12.3% 10.4% 6.5% 3.3% 2.6% 3.1% 2.2%

   Office
   Retail
   Industrial                                                                                                                                         (source: IPD South Africa)

supply and demand
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BOARD CHANGES
Sam Leon resigned as non-executive director in October 2007 to focus on his responsibilities as Managing 
Director of IPG. Sam served on Growthpoint’s board since 1987 and was instrumental in the “rebirth” of 
Growthpoint in 2001, with the conclusion of the first major acquisition from the Mine Pension Funds. Sam 
Hackner resigned from the board in July 2008, after serving as non-executive director since 1991 and Chairman 
since 2004, as a result of additional responsibilities and increased workload at IPG. His contribution to 
Growthpoint has been invaluable, in particular the role he played as mentor to many of the senior executives 
and management.

After holding the position of Deputy Chairman since the merger with Primegro Properties in 2003, I am 
honoured to have been appointed as Chairman of Growthpoint. I am pleased to have Herman Mashaba as my 
Deputy Chairman. Herman is a “self-made” successful businessman and entrepreneur and his abilities have 
been recognised by leading companies such as Stocks Building Africa, Aerosud Holdings, PG Group and other 
companies on whose boards he serves.

Growthpoint has a strong board of independent, non-executive directors who assist in fulfilling the board’s 
supervisory and governance responsibilities through active participation on various sub-committees. We are 
pleased to welcome to the board Stuart Snowball and Estienne de Klerk, two senior executives with many 
years’ experience, as Financial Director and as executive director respectively.

ACKNOwLEDGEMENTS
The smooth and well-managed implementation of the capital raising and management “buy-in” transactions, 
as well as R2,3 billion in acquisitions and R1,1 billion worth of developments, are a reflection of the dedication 
and ability of those entrusted with the stewardship of the company.

To Sam Hackner and Sam Leon, we express our thanks for their immense contributions to Growthpoint. To 
Herman Mashaba and the non-executive directors, thank you for your support and commitment.

Congratulations to Norbert and his executive team as well as to every Growthpoint employee for a great year 
in which you exceeded our expectations.

As owners and managers, we believe that Growthpoint is well placed to go from strength to strength.

woodmead Retail Park

south african vacancy trends over 12 years

                                                                                            
1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

3.0% 10.2% 11.3% 14.0% 16.9% 18.8% 23.6% 22.2% 17.0% 10.6% 7.7% 5.4%

0.6% 2.3% 2.9% 4.3% 5.2% 6.2% 6.5% 5.9% 4.6% 3.8% 3.5% 2.3%

0.7% 5.3% 7.9% 9.6% 10.9% 12.3% 10.4% 6.5% 3.3% 2.6% 3.1% 2.2%

   Office
   Retail
   Industrial                                                                                                                                         (source: IPD South Africa)
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direCTors’ review oF operaTions

FINANCIAL RESULTS
For the year ended 30 June 2008, Growthpoint recorded 14.4% growth in distributions per linked unit. This 
was slightly ahead of the 13.5% growth achieved in the interim six months ended 31 December 2007. Tangible 
net asset value increased by 12.3% to 1 432 cents per linked unit.

The growth in distributions was based on core, sustainable earnings derived from property net rental income. 
In keeping with the terms of its debenture trust deed, Growthpoint does not distribute capital profits. 

On 1 October 2007, Growthpoint raised R1,65 billion through the issue of 100 million new linked units in 
terms of a claw-back rights offer. This contributed significantly to the growth in earnings and distributions for 
the year being higher than anticipated at the time of announcing the 2007 results. The timing of the capital 
raising was fortunate, as market conditions were favourable and the cash was raised at a forward yield of less 
than 7%. 

The other significant transaction that occurred during the year was the acquisition of the property fund 
management and property management and all related activities (Property Services Businesses) from Investec 
Property Group Limited (IPG) and Growthpoint’s black economic empowerment partners for a consideration 
of R1,6 billion. This was settled by the issue of 98.3 million new linked units to the sellers, while an additional 
8.5 million linked units were issued to the Staff Incentive Scheme. This was also a distribution enhancing 
transaction for Growthpoint, with the cash saving for the year in asset management fees and net property 
management expenses equal to approximately R141 million.

Prior to this transaction, Growthpoint did not have any employees. The property asset management and 
property management functions were performed by IPG in terms of a management contract. Growthpoint 
has, through this transaction, effectively bought back the management and created an internally managed 
company.  Growthpoint is now uniquely positioned as the only South African listed property company that 
performs every aspect of property fund management, property administration, letting, facilities management, 
developments and redevelopments internally.

SIMPLIFIED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At the end of this report, we have included a simplified income statement and balance sheet as well as a 
five-year record based on the simplified financial statements. We have done this in an attempt to make the 
financial statements easier to understand. Many of the accounting adjustments required to comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) do not, in our opinion, assist the user in understanding 
the important measures used by management and the board in assessing the performance of the company. 
One example is the treatment of deferred taxation. In terms of IFRS, Growthpoint does not reflect deferred 
taxation on its balance sheet (except for the deferred tax liabilty raised on the acquisition of the Property 
Services Businesses) because the deferred tax asset relating to debentures exceeds the deferred tax liability in 
respect of investment property. In the simplified financial statements, we have raised deferred capital gains 
tax on the cumulative revaluation of investment property at the rate applicable to capital gains. We have, in 
all cases, reconciled the management figures to the figures as reported in terms of IFRS.

COMMENTS ON AUDITED RESULTS
Material movements on the audited income statement and balance sheet are explained below.

REvENUE
Apart from normal rental escalations, the large increase in gross revenue (26.0%) and property expenses 
(25.2%) was mainly due to the following:

12



•	 Income	from	73	properties	acquired	from	Paramount	Property	Fund	Limited	(Paramount)	was	included	in 
 the 2007 results for six months, whereas in the current year it was included for 12 months.  

•	 The	2008	year	included	income	from	R2,3	billion	worth	of	properties	acquired	during	the	year,	as	well	as 
 from R1,1 billion spent on developments and capital expenditure.

Excluding the impact of acquisitions and disposals, “like-for-like” property net income increased by 11.0% 
from 2007 to 2008.

COSTS
Following the management “buy-in” transaction, Growthpoint no longer pays any asset management fees to 
the external manager. This was the main reason for other operating expenses decreasing by R58 million.

INvESTMENT INCOME
Prior to 1 January 2007, Growthpoint had acquired a minority interest in Paramount, from which the company 
earned R45 million in investment income in the 2007 financial year. As the earnings of Paramount have been 
consolidated in the Growthpoint group figures since 1 January 2007, the only investment income earned in the 
2008 financial year was R1 million from Growthpoint’s small investment in Ambit Properties Limited.

FINANCING COSTS
The R3,4 billion spent on acquisitions, developments and capital expenditure during the year was partly 
financed by R1,65 billion in additional equity capital raised, with the balance being financed from additional 
borrowings. This accounted for the R82 million increase in finance costs from R615 million to R697 million.

FAIR vALUE ADjUSTMENTS
The year-end revaluation of properties resulted in an upward revaluation of R1,8 billion to R27,2 billion. 
Growth in rentals drove the increase in value, despite the increase in interest rates experienced over the last 
year. Relatively high interest rates at 30 June 2008 gave rise to a R1,2 billion decrease in the fair value of 
borrowings and interest rate swaps. These two fair value adjustments resulted in an increase in the amount 
owing to debenture holders, as debentures are also held at fair value, which is determined as being the net fair 
value of all tangible assets less other liabilities.

NON-CASH CHARGES
The acquisition of the Property Services Businesses gave rise to a R1,5 billion intangible asset, as well as 
R448 million of goodwill on initial recognition. In terms of accounting standards, the intangible asset will 
be amortised over a 15-year period, the same period used to obtain a discounted cash flow valuation of the 
businesses acquired.

The issue of 8.5 million new linked units in terms of the Staff Incentive Scheme, put in place as part of  
the management “buy-in” transaction, also gave rise to a plan asset, shown on the balance sheet net of the 
plan liability.

The amortisation of the intangible asset and increase in the Staff Incentive Scheme liability are book entries 
that do not affect cash flow or distributable income. These entries account for the increase in non-cash charges 
shown in the income statement.

FINANCE INCOME
The R43 million in additional finance income received was mainly as a result of issuing 100 million new linked 
units in terms of the capital raising exercise. The holders of these linked units were paid the full interim 
distribution for the six months ended 31 December 2007, but were obliged to pay back to Growthpoint a pro-
rata portion of the distribution from 1 July 2007 until the date of closure of the claw-back rights offer, early 
in December 2007.

INvESTMENT PROPERTy
Of the R2,3 billion of new properties acquired in the year, office properties represented R1 555 million and 
retail R654 million, with industrial properties making up the balance. During the year, the company spent an 
additional R582 million on office developments, R261 million on retail developments and R302 million on 
industrial developments. The year-end discounted cash flow valuations resulted in increases in property values 
of R735 million for office, R376 million for retail and R712 million for industrial, representing an average increase 
over the entire portfolio of approximately 7%.
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geographical spread at 30 June 2008

   Greater Johannesburg
   Pretoria
   Western Cape
   KwaZulu Natal
   Eastern Cape
   Other

49%
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20%

10%
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55%

8%

17%

14%

3% 3%

Exposure to the office sector increased from 38% at 30 June 2007 to 42% at 30 June 2008, with a corresponding 
decrease in exposure to the retail sector.

The industrial sector was the best performing sector in the country over the last two years in terms of growth 
in income and capital appreciation. Growthpoint benefited from this as the acquisition, on 30 June 2006, of 
Metboard Properties Limited, a focused industrial property fund, increased exposure to the industrial property 
sector from 6% to 23%. The industrial property sector is still performing well, with low vacancies and strong 
upward rent reversions on renewal of leases. It is expected that the office sector will follow this trend over the 
next few years, as high and escalating construction costs and the current high cost of financing will constrain 
the supply of new office stock.

Historically, retail has been the best performing sector over the long term. However, increased interest rates 
and higher fuel and food costs have had an impact on consumers’ disposable incomes. This, together with the 
opening of numerous new shopping centres, has caused the retail sector to lag the other sectors over the last 
two years.

segmental spread at 30 June 2008

   Office
   Retail
   Industrial

53%

26%

21%

By gross lettable area

23%
42%

35%

By value
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Of the R2,3 billion of acquisitions made in the year, R1,7 billion was in Greater Johannesburg and R0,4 billion in 
the Western Cape, increasing exposure to the Greater Johannesburg region by 3%, compared to 30 June 2007.  
Greater Johannesburg and Cape Town are the dominant economic regions and should be better placed to 
weather the current economic slowdown.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND DEFERRED TAX LIABILITy
On the acquisition of the Property Services Businesses, the group recognised an intangible asset of R1,5 billion. 
Applying the deferred tax principle that the intangible asset will be recovered through use, a deferred tax 
liability of R387 million was raised on initial recognition. The intangible asset value of R1,5 billion, less the 
deferred tax liability of R387 million, resulted in a net asset value acquired of R1,1 billion. Goodwill of R448 
million represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the net asset value acquired. The intangible 
asset in respect of the right to manage properties is amortised over 15 years. The charge for the current 
financial year amounted to R99 million. 

MAjOR ACqUISITIONS AND DEvELOPMENTS
Most of the acquisitions and developments concluded in the current year were listed in the 2007 annual report 
as transactions in progress and are listed in Growthpoint’s current year Corporate Profile. The most significant 
of these are:

•	 Woodmead	 Retail	 Park	 was	 completed	 at	 a	 cost	 of	 R505	 million	 and	 opened	 in	 April	 2008. 
 This 52 333m² regional shopping centre is practically fully let and is subject to a one-year rental guarantee 
 from the developer. The property was acquired at an initial yield of 8.0%.
•	 The	 Place,	 a	 32	 636m²	 premier	 grade	 low-rise	 office	 development	 at	 1	 Sandton	 Drive,	 Sandton,	 was 
 completed in March 2008 at a cost of R490 million. At the date of this report, all of the space was let  
 but some smaller tenants are still to take occupation. On a fully let basis, this prime asset is expected  
 to show a 10.1% initial yield.
•	 The	District,	a	17	346m²	low-rise	office	block	in	Woodstock,	Cape	Town,	was	completed	at	the	end	of	May 
 2008 at a cost to Growthpoint of R270 million. There is a one-year rental guarantee in place from the 
 seller based on an initial yield of 8.1%.
•	 Montclare	 in	 Claremont,	 Cape	 Town,	 should	 be	 completed	 in	 phases	 from	 August	 2008	 to	 
 November 2008 at a total cost of about R500 million. The property consists of 29 347m2 of retail and 
 office space, of which 24 729m² has been let. There are also 61 residential units which will be sold on 
 sectional title. To date, 47 units have been pre-sold.
•	 11	Adderley	Street	is	the	redevelopment	of	22	136m2 of office space in the Cape Town CBD that is expected 
 to be completed by November 2008. This development is expected to yield 9.5% when fully let. To date,  
 2 968m2 has been let. The redevelopment also includes a major refurbishment of the existing retail 
 component, known as Grand Parade Centre. The total redevelopment cost is approximately R200 million.
•	 Other	major	developments	still	in	progress	are	the	R475	million	extension	to	Investec’s	head	office	building 
 in Sandton, which is expected to be completed in November 2008 at an initial yield of 8.1% and Lincoln 
 on the Lake, a R94 million office development of 6 179m2 in Umhlanga Ridge, which is due for completion 
 in June 2009, at an initial yield of between 9.0% and 10.0%.
•	 Growthpoint	Industrial	Estate	is	a	secure	industrial	park	in	Meadowdale,	close	to	the	airport	and	with	good 
 access to major highways. Growthpoint acquired the park as vacant, serviced land with potential to build 
 120 000m2 of high grade warehousing facilities. The first development, a state of the art, 11 760m2 
 warehouse and distribution facility for Justine Avon, was completed during the year at a cost of R56 million. 
 The next development, a R90 million, 17 406m2 warehouse for Barloworld Logistics, is due for completion 
 in November 2008. Work has also commenced on the construction of 25 000m2 of mini-units, which are 
 being built in response to strong market demand.

In total, the value of developments in progress amounts to R1,8 billion, of which R487 million had been spent 
at 30 June 2008, with the balance of  R1,3 billion having to be spent over the next 12 months. In addition, the 
value of pending future developments, not yet approved, amounts to R1,1 billion.

DISPOSALS
In line with Growthpoint’s strategy to dispose of properties which no longer meet its investment criteria, three 
properties were disposed of for R111 million at a profit of R11 million on cost. The largest was The Paddocks, 
a neighbourhood shopping centre in Milnerton, Cape Town, which realised R90 million. In addition, some 
residential apartments at Lighthouse Mall in Durban were sold for R9 million.
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vACANCy LEvELS

The impact of interest rates being raised by 4.5% over the last two years and higher fuel and food prices has 

caused a slow-down in the economy. However, Growthpoint has to date not seen a significant increase in 

arrears, bad debts or vacancy levels. Building construction costs, especially steel, have grown at a rate well in 

excess of CPI inflation. This has made the viability of new developments dependent on achieving rentals of 

at least double the average rentals currently being paid. Vacancy levels in all sectors have remained low. The 

relatively large areas of office developments that Growthpoint has completed and is busy with, will cause 

temporary increases in office vacancies over the next year as these developments will not all be fully let on 

completion.

At 30 June 2008, Growthpoint’s vacancy levels, as a percentage of gross lettable area (GLA), were:

Retail  2.8%  (2007: 2.1%)

Office  4.9%  (2007: 4.2%)

Industrial  2.1%  (2007: 2.0%)

Total  2.9%  (2007: 2.5%)

LIqUIDITy AND TRADABILITy
Growthpoint’s linked units continue to enjoy high levels of liquidity and tradability. During the year ended  
30 June 2008, R10,6 billion of Growthpoint linked units traded on the JSE, representing 55.8% of the weighted 
average linked units in issue.

BORROwINGS 
At 30 June 2008, the loan to value ratio, determined by dividing the total fair value of all debt (excluding 
debentures) by the sum of investment property and listed property investments, was 30.9%. The loan to value 
ratio, using the nominal value of all debt (excluding debentures), was 34.5%.

98.2% of interest-bearing debt was fixed at a weighted average rate of 9.4% for a weighted average of  
10,0 years, at 30 June 2008.

growthpoint vacancy by sector

                                                
jul–07 Aug–07 Sep–07 Oct–07 Nov–07 Dec–07 jan–08 Feb–08 Mar–08 Apr–08 May–08 jun–08

4.5% 4.5% 3.9% 3.0% 3.2% 3.4% 3.7% 3.5% 3.8% 5.0% 4.8% 4.9%

2.1% 2.0% 2.2% 1.9% 2.7% 1.9% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 2.7% 4.0% 2.8%

2.1% 2.1% 1.4% 1.1% 1.2% 1.0% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.3% 1.4% 2.1%

   Office
   Retail
   Industrial
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Growthpoint has very little exposure to interest rate risk for the next two years. The current shape of the 
interest rate swap curve indicates that in approximately two years’ time, interest rates should be significantly 
lower than what they are today. Approximately R2,4 billion of interest rate swaps and fixed interest rate loans 
are due to expire in 2018. It is Growthpoint’s intention to monitor its interest rate risk and, at the appropriate 
time, to extend the 2018 swaps. Other than the large exposure in 2018, the risk is well spread from 2011  
to 2024.

Growthpoint has entered into two 10-year, forward-starting swaps of R250 million each, with starting dates 
of 30 September 2008 and 31 December 2008 at an average fixed rate of 9.7%. As there are no fixed interest 
rate contracts expiring in this period, this reflects as R500 million below the line in 2008 in the fixed interest 
rate expiry profile.

Growthpoint has secured new borrowing facilities of R2 billion for five years and R1 billion for two years from 
Nedbank and Standard Bank respectively. At 30 June 2008, Growthpoint had no borrowings from these two 
banks. These facilities have been put in place to fund future developments and acquisitions.

CONCLUSION
2008 has been a significant year for Growthpoint, with the change from an external management model, 
which had been in place since 1987, to an internally managed company. This was a substantial transaction, 
both in terms of size and implementation. 

To Sam Hackner, Growthpoint’s former Chairman and mentor of many at the company, and to Sam Leon, 
who has been a director since 1987, a special thank you for your invaluable contributions over many years, and 
the key role you played in growing the company from the small business that it was up to 2001, to being the 
largest listed property company in South Africa.

The executive management and staff of Growthpoint are motivated and excited by the challenges they face 
to take the company to new heights.

L n sasse J F marais 
Chief Executive Officer Chairman

26 August 2008 
Sandton

fiXed interest rate eXpiry profile

Floating

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

2024

172 –500 50 331 687 455 468 566 591 666 500 2,415 650 658 1001 703

   Rm
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simpLiFied FinanCiaL sTaTemenTs

simplified distribution income statement
for the year ended 30 june 2008 Notes

Group 
2008 rm

Group 
2007 Rm

Revenue 1  2 712   2 152 

Property expenses   (675)  (539)

Net property income   2 037   1 613 

Asset management fees/expenses   (38)  (108)

Other operating expenses   (24)  (12)

Investment income   1    45 

Interest received   87   44 

Other interest paid   (697)  (615)

Profit before taxation   1 366   967 

Taxation  5  (2)  –   

Profit before debenture interest    1 364   967 

Debenture interest and dividends   (1 364)  (967)

Retained profit   –     –   

Number of linked units in issue   1 280 926 195   1 074 126 195 

Distribution per linked unit   106.50   93.10 

asseTs  

Property assets   27 245   22 173 

Intangible assets – acquisition of Property Services Businesses 6  1 445  –   

Other non-current assets   1 154   459 

Derivative assets   759   108 

Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia   325   340 

Other long-term employee benefits   59   –   

Listed property investment    9   11 

Equipment   2   –   

Current assets   426   325 

Total assets   30 270  22 957 

eQUiTY and LiaBiLiTies  

Linked unitholders’ interest 7  18 772   12 910 

Nominal value of interest bearing long-term liabilities 8  9 411   8 091 

Deferred capital gains tax 9  1 012   790 

Other non-current liabilities  8  (279)  255 

Current liabilities 10  1 354   911 

Total equity and liabilities   30 270  22 957 

simplified balance sheet
at 30 june 2008 Notes

Group 
2008 rm

Group 
2007 Rm

18



1 Revenue as stated   2 920   2 362 

 Less:  straight-line lease income adjustment   (208)  (210)

    2 712   2 152 

2 Fair value adjustments as stated   (139)  (186)

 Less:  fair value adjustment reversed   139   186 

    –     –   

3 Non-cash charges as stated   (193)  (16)

 Less:  non-cash charges reversed   193   16 

    –     –   

4 Trading profit and other capital profits/(losses) as stated   22   (6)

 Less:  trading profit and other capital items   (22)  6 

    –    –   

5 Taxation refund/(charge) as stated   1   (2)

 Add back:  capital gains taxation (CGT) prior year overprovision    (5)  2 

 Add back:  taxation on trading profit   2   –   

    (2)  –  

6  Intangible assets as stated   1 832  –

 Reversal of additional goodwill raised on deferred tax liability*   (387)  –   

    1 445   –   

7 Linked unitholders’ interest as stated   19 784   13 700 

 Raising of deferred tax liability on fair value of investment property   (1 012)  (790)

    18 772   12 910 

8 Other non-current financial liabilities as stated   9 132  8 293 

 Add:  re-classification of current financial liabilities   –   53 

 Nominal value of interest bearing long-term liabilities   (9 411)  (8 091)

   (279)  255 

9 Deferred taxation as stated   387   –   

 Reversal of additional deferred tax liability on intangible asset  (387) –

 Raising of deferred tax liability on fair value of investment property at CGT rate   1 012  790  

    1 012  790 

10 Current liabilities as stated  1 354   964 

 Less:  re-classification of current financial liabilities  –  (53)

    1 354   911 

*In terms of IFRS 3 Business Combinations, goodwill was increased with the deferred tax liability (R387 million) that was 
raised on initial recognition of the intangible asset acquired in terms of the acquisition of the Property Services Businesses. 
Applying the principle that the group will recover the carrying value of the intangible asset through use rather than  
through sale, the tax base was determined to have no value, which gave rise to the deferred tax liability. This deferred tax 
liability will reverse over time as the intangible assets to which it relates, will be amortised over a 15-year period.

noTes To The simpLiFied FinanCiaL sTaTemenTs

Group 
2008 rm

Group 
2007 Rm

19



2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Five-Year reCord

number of properties  114   166   345   419   436 

asseTs

Investment properties  6 132   9 119   15 017   22 173   27 245 
Listed property investments  568   391   –    11 9

Property assets  6 700   9 510     15 017     22 184     27 254 
Intangible asset  –     –     –     –     1 445 
Other non-current assets   –     –     336   448   1 145 
Curent assets  142   132   191   325   426

Total assets  6 842   9 642   15 544   22 957   30 270 

eQUiTY and LiaBiLiTies

Linked unitholders’ interest  3 479   4 607   7 507   12 910   18 772 

Nominal value of interest bearing long-term liabilities  2 548  3 261  5 360  8 091  9 411
Other non-current liabilities/(assets)  111  556  388  255  (279) 
Deferred capital gains tax 56 260 475  790  1 012
Current liabilities  648  958  1 814  911  1 354

Total equity and liabilities  6 842  9 642  15 544  22 957   30 270  

     

Revenue  837   1 014   1 298   2 152   2 712
Property expenses  (231)  (256)  (351)  (539)  (675)

Net property income   606   758   947   1 613   2 037 
Asset management fees/expenses  (30)  (39)  (58)  (108)  (38)
Other operating expenses  (5)  (7)  (8)  (12)  (24)
Investment income  86   59   34   45   1

Operating profit  657   771   915   1 538   1 976
Interest paid  (272)  (298)  (361)  (615)  (697)
Finance income  58   9   49   44   87

Profit before taxation  443   482   603   967   1 366
Taxation  –     –     –     –     (2)

Profit before debenture interest  443   482   603   967   1 364 
Debenture interest and dividends  (443)  (482)  (603)  (967)  (1 364)

Retained profit  –     –     –     –     –

distribution per linked unit  69.0   73.2   81.3   93.1   106.5
distribution growth 3.7%   6.1%  11.1%   14.5%   14.4%

Tangible net asset value per linked unit  577   737   1 026   1 275   1 431 

Linked units in issue (million)  612.6   660.4   778.2   1 074.1   1 280.9
ratios     
Property expenses as a % of revenue 27.6% 25.2% 27.0% 25.0% 24.9%
Asset mangement plus other operating expenses as a % of revenue 4.2% 4.5% 5.1% 5.6% 2.3%
Loan to value (based on nominal value of interest bearing debt) 38.0% 34.5% 35.7% 36.5% 34.5%
Interest times cover  3.07   2.67   2.93   2.69   3.24 

cents cents cents cents cents

simplified balance sheet Rm Rm Rm Rm rm

simplified income statement Rm Rm Rm Rm rm
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INCOME statEMENts

For The year ended 30 June 2008

Company 
2008 Rm

Company 
2007 rm notes

Group 
2008 Rm

Group 
2007 rm

For The annual FinanCial sTaTemenTs
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the group and company annual financial statements 
of Growthpoint Properties Limited, comprising the balance sheets 
at 30 June 2008, the income statements, the statements of changes 
in equity and cash flow statements for the year then ended, and 
the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, and 
the directors’ report, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies 
Act of South Africa.

The directors’ responsibility includes: the design, implementation 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of these financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The directors’ responsibility also includes the maintenance of 
adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk 
management as well as the preparation of the supplementary 
schedules included in these financial statements. Nothing has come 
to the attention of the directors to indicate that any breakdown in 
the functioning of these controls, resulting in material loss to the 
group and company, has occurred during the year and up to the date 
of this report.

The directors have made an assessment of the ability of the group 
and company to continue as a going concern. The directors have a 
reasonable expectation that the group and company have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 

future and have no reason to believe the business will not be a going 
concern in the year ahead. For this reason, they continue to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the annual 
financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework.

aPProval oF The annual FinanCial 
sTaTemenTs
The group and company annual financial statements of Growthpoint 
Properties Limited, as identified in the first paragraph, were approved 
by the board of directors on 26 August 2008 and are signed on its 
behalf by:

lN sasse J F Marais 
Chief Executive Officer Chairman 
26 August 2008 
Sandton

DIRECtORs’ REsPONsIBIlItY

DEClaRatION BY COMPaNY sECREtaRY

In terms of section 268G(d) of the Companies Act, 1973, as amended, I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the 
company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies, for the financial year ended 30 June 2008, all such returns as are required of a public 
company in terms of this Act and that such returns are true, correct and up to date.

R a Krabbenhöft 
26 August 2008 
Sandton 
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REPORt OF thE INDEPENDENt aUDItOR

To The members oF GrowThPoinT ProPerTies 
limiTed
We have audited the group and company annual financial statements 
of Growthpoint Properties Limited, which comprise the balance 
sheets at 30 June 2008, the income statements, the statements of 
changes in equity and cash flow statements for the year then ended, 
and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, and 
the directors’ report as set out on pages 26 to 71.

direCTors’ resPonsibiliTy For The FinanCial 
sTaTemenTs 
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of these financial statements, in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner 
required by the Companies Act of South Africa. This responsibility 
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 
the circumstances.

audiTor’s resPonsibiliTy 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

oPinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the group and company financial position of 
Growthpoint Properties Limited at 30 June 2008, and their financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner 
required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

KPmG inC.
Registered Auditor

Per Gs Kolbé 
Chartered Accountant (SA)  
Registered Auditor 
Director 
26 August 2008

85 Empire Road 
Parktown 
Johannesburg



26

DIRECtORs’ REPORt

The directors have pleasure in submitting their 20th annual report, 
which forms part of the audited financial statements of the company 
and the group for the year ended 30 June 2008.

naTure oF business
Growthpoint Properties Limited is a variable rate property loan stock 
company with a portfolio of 436 properties valued at R27,2 billion 
(2007: 419 properties valued at R22,2 billion). The business of the 
company is to invest in quality rental generating properties as long-
term investments. The properties will be maintained, upgraded and 
refurbished where necessary so as to at least maintain the value of 
the investment in the long-term.

Growthpoint Properties Limited is listed on the JSE Limited (JSE) 
under the Financial – Real Estate sector. 
Share Code: GRT  
ISIN: ZAE 0000 37669  (Growthpoint)

inTeresT in subsidiaries

share and debenTure CaPiTal
The authorised share capital is R75 000 000 divided into one and a 
half billion ordinary shares of five cents each. Each ordinary share is 
linked to 10 variable rate debentures of 250 cents each.

The ordinary shares and debentures trade as linked units on the 
JSE.  In terms of the debenture trust deed, the interest payable on 
the debenture component of the linked unit is always 1 000 times 
greater than the dividend payable per ordinary share.

During the year to 30 June 2008, the company issued 98.3 million 
new linked units at R16.00 per linked unit to Investec Property 
Group Limited (IPG), the AMU Trust and Phatsima Properties 
(Pty) Limited as consideration for the acquisition of the property 
fund management business, the property administration business, 
all related activities and all rights to income in terms of the 
Management Agreements. Linked to this transaction, the company 
issued a further 8.5 million new linked units at R16.00 per linked 
unit to the Growthpoint Staff Incentive Scheme Trust. A further 
100.0 million new linked units were issued at R16.50 per linked unit 
on 1 October 2007, raising R1,65 billion capital to finance property 
acquisitions and developments.

subsidiary
issued  
capital

rm

interest in net 
profit/(loss)

rm

investment – 2008 investment – 2007

shares
rm

loan
rm

shares
rm

loan
rm

Changing Tides 5 (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Claremain Properties (Pty) Limited – 13 – – – –

Growthpoint Building Managers (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Growthpoint Finance Company (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Growthpoint Management Services (Pty) Limited (formerly 
Growthpoint Finance Company Security SPV (Pty) Limited)

– (8) – 2 668 – –

Lighthouse Mall (Pty) Limited – 14 – – – –

Majorshelf 184 (Pty) Limited – 9 76 16 66 16

Metboard Finance Company (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Metboard Finance Company Security SPV (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Metboard Properties Limited 3 – 2 357 (81) 1 914 (318)

Michael and Michael Properties (Pty) Limited – 1 – – – –

New Heights 344 (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Ovbel Finance Limited – – – – – –

Ovbel Registrars (Pty) Limited – – – – – –

Paramount Property Fund Limited 25 314 1 987 565 1 580 109

Scopeful 157 (Pty) Limited – 1 8 3 7 3

Skilfull 82 (Pty) Limited – – – – – – 

Skilfull 115 (Pty) Limited – 2 15 5 10 5

Tresso Trading 337 (Pty) Limited – – – (1) 1 2

Tuinweg Property Investments (Pty) Limited – – 32 203 20 202

tOtal 28 346 4 475 3 378 3 598 19
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inTeresT as vesTed beneFiCiary oF a TrusT
The Growthpoint Securitisation Warehouse Trust (the Trust) was 
established in 2005 in order to hold a portfolio of properties in a 
ring-fenced, insolvency remote vehicle for the purposes of raising 
funds through Commercial Mortgage Backed Securitisation (CMBS) 
issues of debt notes to the bond market. In terms of the Trust Deed, 

Growthpoint is the sole, vested beneficiary of the Trust in respect of 
income and capital gains. Accordingly, the balance sheet and income 
statement of the Trust are consolidated in the group financial 
statements. 

The table below shows the salient financial results of the Trust for 
the year ended 30 June:

CaPiTal CommiTmenTs as aT 30 June 2008
Capital commitments in respect of major building projects 
authorised and contracted for, but not yet paid, at 30 June 2008 
amounted to R1 551 million (2007: R1 801 million). In addition, the 
company has entered into agreements to purchase properties to a 
value of R233 million (2007: R1 758 million). Details of these future 
acquisitions are given in the “Directors’ review of operations”.

direCTors and seCreTary
Details of the directors and secretary can be found on page 90.

Messrs P H Fechter, R Moonsamy, B T Ngcuka and L N Sasse are 
to retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting 
in terms of article 13.1 of the company’s articles of association. 
Messrs P H Fechter, R Moonsamy and L N Sasse, being eligible, offer 

themselves for re-election, Mr B T Ngcuka shall not hold himself 
available for re-election. Messrs E K de Klerk and S M Snowball 
are to retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting in terms 
of article 12.3 of the company’s articles of association, persuant to 
their appointment as executive directors on 26 August 2008, and 
offer themselves for re-election. Mr S R Leon resigned as a director 
on 16 October 2007 and Mr S Hackner resigned as a director on 
8 July 2008. Mr J F Marais was elected as Chairman and Mr H S P 
Mashaba as Deputy Chairman, with effect from 8 July 2008. Mr E K 
de Klerk was appointed as executive director and Mr S M Snowball 
was appointed as Financial Director on 26 August 2008.

direCTors’ inTeresTs in linKed uniTs as aT  
30 June
At 30 June 2008 the directors’ interests in linked units were:

2008 beneficial non-beneficial Total

direct indirect

M G Diliza – 15 407 479 – 15 407 479

S Hackner 1 125 000  424 211 – 1 549 211

J C Hayward 50 000 – – 50 000

H S Herman – 50 000 – 50 000

P H Fechter – – 2 871 428 2 871 428

H S P Mashaba – 8 800 000 – 8 800 000

R Moonsamy – 6 054 954 – 6 054 954

L N Sasse 258 500 – – 258 500

L N Sasse Staff Incentive Scheme Option 1 033 333 – – 1 033 333

J H N Strydom – – 134 000 134 000

2008
rm

2007
rm

Net operating profit 365 182 

Investment property at cost plus improvements 5 784 4 330

Fair value adjustment of investment property (before straight-line lease income accrual) 146 600

2007 beneficial non-beneficial Total

direct indirect

M G Diliza – 12 748 725 – 12 748 725

S Hackner 1 125 000 424 211 – 1 549 211

P H Fechter – – 2 871 428 2 871 428

H S P Mashaba – 8 800 000 – 8 800 000

R Moonsamy – 3 500 000 – 3 500 000

J H N Strydom – – 100 000 100 000



28

Fees earned for services as directors (non-executive)
2008

special*
rands

2008
normal

rands

2008
Total

rands

2007
rands

s hackner – 157 500 157 500 –

M G Diliza – 212 500 212 500 205 500

P h Fechter 400 000 292 500 692 500 290 000

J C hayward – 200 000 200 000 158 000

h s herman – 140 000 140 000 –

s R leon – 25 000 25 000 –

J F Marais 225 000 164 000 389 000 167 000

h s P Mashaba – 197 500 197 500 160 500

R Moonsamy – 162 500 162 500 155 500

B t Ngcuka – 110 000 110 000 103 000

C G steyn 400 000 280 000 680 000 318 000

J h N strydom 400 000 313 500 713 500 273 750

F J Visser – 140 000 140 000 143 000

tOtal 1 425 000 2 395 000 3 820 000 1 974 250

During the year ended 30 June 2008, directors carried out the following transactions:

director note date number of units Purchase/sale Price per unit 

M G Diliza 2 30 May to 3 June 2008 410 000 Purchase R12.02 to R12.16

J C Hayward 10 June 2008 50 000 Purchase R11.80

H S Herman 28 May 2008 50 000 Purchase R12.53

R Moonsamy 2 28 February 2008 563 958 Purchase R14.15

L N Sasse 31 August to 3 September 2008 128 500 Purchase R15.46 to R15.47

L N Sasse 1 20 November 2007 1 033 333 Award of scheme options Nil

L N Sasse 3 March to 11 March 2008 100 000 Purchase R13.70 to R14.25

L N Sasse 10 June to 19 June 2008 30 000 Purchase R11.35 to R11.77

J H N Strydom 5 March to 17 March 2008 34 000 Purchase R12.90 to R14.00

noTes
1 Mr Sasse’s options in Growthpoint’s Staff Incentive Scheme 
 shall vest in four tranches of 25% each on 1 September 2008, 
 2009, 2010 and 2011, and are exerciseable within 90 days of 
 those dates, failing which they shall be forfeited.

2 During the financial year, Messrs Moonsamy and Diliza 
 became indirectly, beneficially interested in 244 325 and 
 998 879 Growthpoint linked units respectively, issued to AMU 
 Trust (apart from BEE phase 1) as part of Growthpoint’s 
 transaction with IPG.

executive director’s remuneration: l n sasse
2008

rands
2007

rands

Salary 2 810 503 –

Bonus 3 600 000 –

Contributions to defined contribution plan 439 497 –

Other long-term employee benefits: Staff Incentive Scheme ** 4 858 961 –

Aggregate emoluments 11 708 961 –

tOtal DIRECtORs’ EMOlUMENts 15 528 961 1 974 250
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* Messrs J F Marais, P H Fechter, C G Steyn and J H N Strydom 
received additional fees for their involvement in negotiations to 
approve the terms of the R475 million extension to Investec’s head 
office in Sandton, as well as the acquisition of the Property Services 
Businesses from Investec Property Group Limited (IPG).

Prior to the acquisition of the Property Services Businesses, 
Growthpoint had no employees of its own, as management was 
outsourced to IPG. When Investec proposed the transaction, it 
became necessary for a sub-committee of the board, comprising 
the Deputy Chairman and Chairmen of the various sub-committees 
of the board, to be appointed to investigate and conclude the 
transaction on behalf of Growthpoint. 

This entailed the appointment of external advisors, the finalisation 
of valuations, negotiations with Investec and the conclusion of 
agreements. In addition, it was incumbent on the committee to 
negotiate with senior management to ensure their continued 
service. Because of inherent conflicts of interest, it was not possible 
for management or Investec associated directors to participate in 
the transaction. 

** It should be noted that the amount estimated here will or 
could differ significantly from the actual expense due to the fact 
that no attrition is taken into account and that it is based on the 
principal actuarial assumptions set out in note 17 to the financial 
statements.

Fees earned For serviCes as direCTors  
(non-exeCuTive)
The fees paid to directors for the year ended 30 June 2008 were paid 
on the following basis as approved by the Remuneration Committee: 
Basic fee – R20 000 a year

Fees per meeting attended

Board – Director: R20 000, Deputy Chairman: R24 000,  
Chairman: R27 500 

Audit Committee – Member: R12 000, Chairman: R15 000

Risk Management Committee – Member: R7 500,  
Chairman: R10 000 

Property Committee – Member: R7 500, Chairman: R10 000

Transformation Committee – Member: R5 000, Chairman: R6 000

deTails oF serviCe ConTraCTs
The service contract (commencement date: 1 July 2007) of L N Sasse 
is for a period of four years. After four years his service contract is 
subject to two calendar months’ written notice. Executive directors 
retire from their positions and from the board (as executive directors) 
at the age 60.

manaGemenT and adminisTraTion
In prior years, management was outsourced to IPG in terms 
of a management contract. During the year to 30 June 2008, 
Growthpoint Management Services (Pty) Limited (GMS), a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Growthpoint, purchased from IPG, the AMU 
Trust and Phatsima Properties (Pty) Limited, the property fund 
management business, the property administration business, all 
related activities and all rights to income in terms of the Management 
Agreements. The effective date of this transaction was 1 July 2007. 
The management agreements that were in existence prior to 
this transaction were cancelled. GMS, together with a subsidiary 

company, Growthpoint Building Managers (Pty) Limited, now 
employs approximately 420 people to manage the business.

subsequenT evenTs
There were no material transactions from 30 June 2008 until the 
date of this report.
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INCOME statEMENts

For The year ended 30 June

Company 
2008 Rm

Company 
2007 rm notes

Group 
2008 Rm

Group 
2007 rm

 1 349  1 189  Revenue excluding straight-line lease income adjustment  2 712  2 152 

 81 118 Straight-line lease income adjustment 14.2 208 210

 1 430 1 307 Revenue 2 2 920 2 362

 (311) (291) Property expenses  3 (675) (539)

 1 119 1 016 Net property income   2 245  1 823

 (24) (111) Other operating expenses  4 (62) (120)

 1 095 905 Net property income after other operating expenses   2 183 1 703

 634 436 Investment income 5 1 45

 1 729 1 341 Operating profit  2 184 1 748

 9 (96) Fair value adjustments 6 (139) (186)

 (379) (320) Finance costs 7 (697) (615)

 (94) (16) Non-cash charges 8 (193) (16)

 – (5) Trading profit and other capital profits/(losses) 9 22 (6)

 101 63 Finance income 10 87  44

 1 366 967 Profit before debenture interest   1 264 969

 (1 363) (966) Debenture interest  (1 363) (966)

 3 1 (Loss)/profit before taxation  (99) 3

 4 – Taxation 11 1 (2)

 – 1 – Normal and secondary taxtion on companies  (4) –

 4 (1) – Capital gains taxation  5 (2)

 7 1 (Loss)/profit for the year  (98) 1

       cents cents

   Distribution per linked unit 12 106.50 93.10

   Basic (loss)/earnings per share 13 (7.91) 0.09
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as aT 30 June

Company
2008 Rm

Company
2007 rm notes

Group 
2008 Rm

Group 
2007 rm

BalaNCE shEEts

   assEts
 25 975 18 366 Non-current assets  30 231 22 632

 13 072 10 964  Fair value of investment property for accounting purposes 14.1 26 409 21 545

 595 514  Straight-line lease income adjustment 14.2 836 628

 13 667 11 478 Fair value of property assets  27 245 22 173

 – – Intangible assets 15 1 832 –

 59 – Other long-term employee benefits 17 59  –

 – – Equipment 16 2 – 
 – – Listed property investment 18 9 11

 325  340  Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia 19 325 340

 732  108  Derivative asset  759 108

 11 192  6 440  Other investments 20.1  – –

 223 167 Current assets  426 325

 – – Investment property held for sale 14.3  42 –

 206 152 Trade and other receivables 21 357 306

 17 15 Cash and cash equivalents 22 27 19

 26 198 18 533 total assets  30 657 22 957

   EQUItY aND lIaBIlItIEs
 1 606 54 shareholders’ interest  1 501 54

 64 54 Ordinary share capital  23 64 54

 6 – Retained earnings  – –

 1 536 – Non-distributable reserve 24 1 437 –

 18 283 13 646 Non-current liabilities - debentures 25 18 283 13 646

 19 889 13 700 linked unitholders’ interest  19 784 13 700

 5 275 4 073 Other non-current liabilities  9 519 8 293

 5 275 4 073 Other non-current financial liabilities  26.5 9 132 8 293

 – – Deferred tax liability 28 387 –

 1 034 760 Current liabilities  1 354 964

 323 184 Trade and other payables 27 638 385

 –  53  Current portion of non-current liabilities 26.4 – 53

 – 2 Taxation payable  5 5

 711 521 Linked unitholders for interest and dividends  711 521

 26 198 18 533 total equity and liabilities  30 657 22 957

   linked units in issue   1 280 926 195 1 074 126 195

       cents cents

   Net asset value per linked unit 29 1 545 1 275

   tangible net asset value per linked unit 29 1 432 1 275
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For The year ended 30 June

statEMENts OF ChaNGEs IN EQUItY

Group Ordinary 
share capital

Rm

Non-
distributable 

reserve
Rm

Retained
earnings

Rm

shareholders’ 
interest

Rm

 Balance at 1 July 2006    39 – – 39

 Shares issued     15 – – 15

 Profit for the year    – – 1 1

 Dividends     – – (1) (1)

 Balance at 30 June 2007    54 – – 54

 Shares issued     10 1 536 – 1 546

 Loss for the year     – – (98) (98)

 Transfer to non-distributable reserve   – (99) 99 –

 Dividends     – – (1) (1)

 Balance at 30 June 2008    64 1 437 – 1 501

Company Ordinary 
share capital

Rm

Non-
distributable 

reserve
Rm

Retained
earnings

Rm

shareholders’ 
interest

Rm

 Balance at 1 July 2006    39 – – 39

 Shares issued     15 – – 15

 Profit for the year    – – 1 1

 Dividends     – – (1) (1)

 Balance at 30 June 2007    54 – – 54 

 Shares issued     10 1 536 – 1 546

 Profit for the year    – – 7 7

 Dividends     – – (1) (1)

 Balance at 30 June 2008    64 1 536 6 1 606
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For The year ended 30 June

Company 
2008 Rm

Company 
2007 rm notes

Group 
2008 Rm

Group 
2007 rm

Cash FlOW statEMENts

   Cash flows from operating activities   

 1  295  1 165  Cash received from tenants  2 661 2 087

 (266)  (354) Cash paid to suppliers  (604)  (603)

 1 029  811  Cash generated from operations 30 2 057 1 484

 634  436  Investment income  5 1 45

 68  36  Finance income excluding accrued interest on long-term loans 10 54 17

 (309)  (320) Finance costs excluding accrued interest on financial liabilities 7 (577)  (615)

 2  (21) Taxation received/(paid) 31 1  (22)

 –  (5) Trading profit and other capital profits/(losses) 9 22  (6)

 (1 174)  (778) Distribution to unitholders 32 (1 174)  (804)

 250  159  Net cash inflow from operating activities  384  99 

   Cash flows from investing activities

 (1 415) (660) Investment in investment property   (3 411)  (1 274)

 – (57) Long-term loans to BEE consortia  –  (57)

 – (78) Investment in listed property companies  –  (79)

 – 77 Proceeds on sale of investment property   120  166 

 – 83 Proceeds on sale of listed property investments   – 83

 – – Cash from property portfolio acquisition   – 81

 – – Acquisition of Property Services Businesses 44 (5) –

 (1 873) 493 (Increase)/decrease in loans to subsidiaries and joint ventures   –  –

 – – Acquisition of property portfolio  –  (259)

 (3 288) (142) Net cash outflow from investing activities 33 (3 296)  (1 339)

   Cash flows from financing activities

 2 230 1 821 Non-current loans raised  3 710 3 083

 (796) (1 834) Repayment of  non-current financial liabilities  (2 396)  (1 840)

 5  Proceeds from issue of shares  5 –

 1 601 – Proceeds from issue of debentures  1 601 –

 3 040 (13) Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities  2 920  1 243 

 2 4 Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  8 3

 15 11 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  19 16

 17 15 Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 22 27 19
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NOtEs tO thE FINaNCIal statEMENts

1 accounting policies and basis of preparation

The financial statements and group financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
the requirements of the South African Companies Act and incorporate the 
principal accounting policies set out below.

The policies set out below have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented except for investment property under development which is 
classified as investment property and carried at fair value in accordance 
with the amendment to IAS 40 Investment Property, per the Improvements 
to IFRS standard issued in May 2008. The amendment to IAS 40 has been 
early adopted.

Issued but not yet effective IFRS standards and interpretations as at 26 August 
2008 are not expected to have a material impact on the group (refer 1.16). 

The financial statements are prepared on the fair value basis for investment 
properties, as set out in note 1.3, and financial instruments as set out in 
1.2.  Other assets, liabilities and equity are stated at historic cost.  Fair value 
adjustments (where applicable) do not affect the calculation of distributable 
earnings but do affect the net asset value per linked unit to the extent that 
adjustments are made to the carrying values of assets and liabilities.

1.1 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of 
Growthpoint Properties Limited (“Growthpoint” or “the company”) and 
its subsidiary companies and controlled trusts (together referred to as “the 
group” and individually as “group companies”) and the group’s share of the 
assets, liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows of joint ventures. 

1.1.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are those entities, including special purpose entities, controlled 
by the group. Control exists when the group has the power, directly or 
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting 
rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. Controlled 
trusts are trusts of which the company is the sole, vested beneficiary in 
respect of profits and capital gains. The financial statements of subsidiaries 
and controlled trusts are included in the consolidated financial statements 
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

In the financial statements of the company, investments in subsidiaries and 
controlled trusts are carried at fair value. A list of the group’s subsidiaries is 
set out in note 20.

1.1.2 Joint Ventures

Joint ventures are those entities over which the group exercises joint control 
in terms of a contractual agreement and whose activities require unanimous 
consent for strategic financial and operating decisions. Joint ventures are 
accounted for by including the group’s share of the jointly controlled assets, 
liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows on a line-by-line basis in the 
financial statements from the date that joint control commences until the 
date that joint control ceases. 

Adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies of jointly controlled 
entities in line with the group, where appropriate.

1.1.3 Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances, transactions and any unrealised gains and losses arising 
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements.  Unrealised gains arising from transactions with joint 
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the entity. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but 
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

1.2 Financial Instruments

Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset of one 
entity, and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. All 
transaction costs relating to financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss are immediately expensed. Any gains or losses on these 
instruments arising from fair value adjustments, where appropriate, do not 
affect distributable earnings.

The company recognises financial instruments on the date it commits to 
purchase or sell such instruments. From this date any gains and losses in the 
fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities are recorded.

1.2.1 Listed property investments

Listed property investments are designated as held at fair value through 
profit and loss financial assets.  These assets are initially recognised and 
subsequently measured at fair value, with gains or losses being recognised 
in the income statement.  The fair value of these assets is their quoted bid 
price at the close of business on the balance sheet date. 

1.2.2 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised and subsequently 
measured at fair value. An estimate is made for doubtful debts based on a 
review of all outstanding amounts at the year-end.  Bad debts are written 
off to profit or loss during the year in which they are identified.

1.2.3 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. 
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of change in fair value. Cash and cash equivalents are 
measured at fair value.

1.2.4 Debentures

Debentures are designated as held at fair value through profit or loss financial 
liabilities. These instruments are measured initially at fair value, which is 
the nominal value less debenture discount, and subsequently measured at 
fair value. Fair value represents the net asset value (excluding intangible 
assets) attributable to debenture holders after adjusting all other assets and 
liabilities to fair value. Until such time as the debenture discount is fully 
utilised, the net change in fair value of the tangible assets and liabilities 
will increase or decrease the carrying amount of the debentures. Once 

For The year ended 30 June 2008
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the debenture discount has been fully utilised, any increase in net asset 
value (excluding intangible assets) will increase the reserves attributable to 
shareholders.  

1.2.5 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised and subsequently measured 
at fair value.

1.2.6 Derivative financial instruments

The group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to 
interest rate risk arising from its financing activities.  In accordance with 
its treasury policy, the group does not hold or issue derivative financial 
instruments for trading purposes. However, as the hedge relationship 
is not designated as a hedge for accounting purposes, the derivatives are 
accounted for as trading instruments.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised and subsequently 
measured at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

The only derivative instruments held by the entity are interest rate swaps. 
The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the group 
would receive or pay to terminate the swap at balance sheet date, taking 
into account current interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the 
swap counterparties.

1.2.7 Other financial liabilities 

Non-derivative financial liabilities other than debentures are measured 
initially and subsequently at fair value by discounting the future cash 
payments using the market rate applicable at balance sheet date.

1.2.8 Offset

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported in the balance sheet when the company has a legally enforceable 
right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.3 Investment Property

Investment property consists of land and buildings, installed equipment and 
vacant land held to earn rental income for the long-term. Properties are 
measured initially at cost on acquisition and subsequent additions that will 
result in future economic benefits and whose cost can be measured reliably, 
are capitalised. Investment property under construction is valued at fair 
value. Direct costs relating to major capital projects are capitalised until 
the properties are brought into commercial operation. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair value.

Investment property is maintained, upgraded and refurbished where 
necessary, in order to preserve or improve the capital value as far as it is 
possible to do so.  Maintenance and repairs which neither materially add to 
the value of the properties nor prolong their useful lives are charged against 
income.

Independent valuations are obtained on a rotational basis, ensuring that 
every property is valued every three years. The directors value the remaining 
properties annually on an open market basis.

The calculations are prepared by considering the aggregate of the net annual 
rents receivable from the properties and where relevant, associated costs, 
using the discounted cash flow method. This method takes projected cash 
flows and discounts them at a rate which is consistent with comparable 
market transactions.  The discount rates reflect the risks inherent in the net 
cash flows and are constantly monitored by reference to comparable market 
transactions.

Surpluses and deficits on revaluation or disposals of investment properties 
are recognised in net profit or loss. Such surpluses or deficits are excluded 
from the calculation of distributable earnings.

1.4 Intangible assets

1.4.1 Goodwill

Goodwill (including negative goodwill, if applicable) arises on the acquisition 
of a business and represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the 
group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of the acquiree.  When the excess is negative (negative 
goodwill), it is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.

1.4.2 Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the group, which have finite 
useful lives, are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

1.4.3 Amortisation

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other than goodwill, from the 
date that they are available for use.  The estimated useful life for the current 
and comparative periods is as follows:

•	 Rights	to	manage	investment	property	 15	years

1.5 Equipment

Items of equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses.  Depreciation is recognised on the 
straight-line basis, over the current estimated useful lives of the assets.  The 
estimated useful lives of the assets for the current and comparative periods 
are:

•	 Furniture,	fittings	and	office	equipment	 5	years 
•	 Computer	equipment	 2-3	years 
•	 Motor	vehicles	 5	years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed 
annually.  Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of equipment is 
capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the 
group and its cost can be measured reliably.  All other subsequent expenditure 
is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

1.6 Impairment

The carrying amount of the group’s non-financial assets, other than 
investment property and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any 
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  
For goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.
Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater 
of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present values 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For the purpose 
of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smaller group 
of assets that generate cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflow of the other assets or groups of assets (the 
“cash generating unit”).  The goodwill acquired in a business combination, 
for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units 
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its 
cash generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  Impairment 
losses are recognised in profit or loss.  Impairment losses recognised in 
respect of the cash generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying 
amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro-rata basis.
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Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting 
date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.  An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in estimates used 
to determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

1.7 leases

The company is party to numerous leasing contracts as the lessor of 
property.  All leases are operating leases, which are those leases where the 
group retains a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership.  

An adjustment is made to contractual rental income earned to bring to 
account in the current period the difference between the rental income that 
the company is currently entitled to and the rental for the period calculated 
on a smoothed, straight-line basis over the period of the lease term.

The company is party to leasing contracts as the lessee of some property.  
Leases are classified as operating leases, where substantially all the risks and 
rewards associated with ownership of the asset are not transferred from the 
lessor to the lessee.  Operating lease rentals with fixed escalation clauses 
are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.  The resulting difference arising from the straight-line basis and 
contractual cash flows is recognised as an operating lease asset or operating 
lease liability.

1.8 Revenue recognition

1.8.1 Rental income

Revenue from the letting of investment property comprises gross rental 
income and recoveries of fixed operating costs.  Rental income is recognised 
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  Recoveries 
of costs from lessees, where the company merely acts as agent and makes 
payment of these costs on behalf of lessees, are off-set against the relevant 
costs. 

1.8.2 Investment income

Interest from the company’s listed property investments is recognised using 
the effective interest method.  Dividends from the company’s listed property 
investments are recognised on the date the group’s right to receive payment 
is established.  Interest earned on cash invested with financial institutions is 
recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. 

1.9 Property letting commissions

When considered material, letting commissions are written off over the 
period of the lease. Letting commissions, in respect of new developments, 
are capitalised to the cost of the property.

1.10 Operating profit

Operating profit disclosed in the income statement represents the net 
property income earned from investment property and includes investment 
income on listed property investments.

1.10 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefit will be required to settle the 
obligation and, in addition, a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.  
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at 
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the liability.

1.11 taxation

Income tax for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at balance sheet date, and 
any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  
Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences:  the 
initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, goodwill 
that arises on initial recognition in a business combination, and differences 
relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the 
extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  
The amount of deferred tax recognised is based on the expected manner 
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, 
using tax rates expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 
reverse, based on tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 
enforeceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate 
to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, 
or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities 
and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised 
simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced  
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised.

Secondary tax on companies is recognised at the same time as the liability 
to pay the related dividend.

1.12 Borrowing costs

In the event that borrowing costs are incurred prior to the qualifying asset 
being ready for its intended use, such costs will be capitalised until such time 
as the asset is substantially ready for its intended use. Qualifying assets are 
those that necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for their 
intended use. Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which 
active development is interrupted.  All other borrowing costs are expensed in 
the period in which they are incurred using the effective interest method.

1.13 Employee benefits

1.13.1 Short-term benefits

The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period 
in which the employee renders the related service. Short-term employee 
benefits are measured on an undiscounted basis. The accrual for employee 
entitlements to salaries, bonuses, staff incentive schemes and annual leave 
represent the amount which the group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay as a result of employees’ services provided up to the 
balance sheet date.  

1.13.2 Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under 
which an entity pays fixed contributions to a separate entity and will have 
no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations 
for contributions to the group’s defined contribution provident plan are 
recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss when they are 
due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a 
cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

1.13.3 Other long-term employee benefits

The group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits other 
than the provident plan, is the amount of future benefits that employees 
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any 
related assets is deducted.  The discount rate is the yield at the reporting 
date on AA credit-rated bonds that have maturity dates approximating the 
terms of the group’s obligations. The calculation is performed using the 
projected unit credit method. Any actuarial gains or losses are recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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1.14 segment Reporting

The risks and rewards faced by the group relate primarily to the business 
segments and therefore these form the primary segments. The major 
business segments are retail, office and industrial. Properties are classified 
as retail, office and industrial according to the nature of their tenants 
and income and expenses for all of the properties comprising the various 
segments are consolidated accordingly.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable 
to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  
Unallocated items comprise mainly investments (other that investment 
properties), loans, intangible assets, other long-term employee benefits, 
equipment, debentures, deferred tax, income tax assets or liabilities and 
borrowings and the related expenses to these items. 

The geographical split is a secondary segment; the major geographical 
segments are Gauteng, Western Cape, Kwa-Zulu Natal, Eastern Cape and 
Other.  The geographic breakdown of the value and gross lettable area of the 
property portfolio is disclosed in the Directors’ review of operations.

1.15 Key judgments and sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information regarding judgments that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements as well as the key sources of 
estimation uncertainty is set out in notes 1.2, 1.3, 1.11, 28 and 43. 

Other matters that required key judgment in the preparation of these 
financial statements were:

accounting treatment of BEE transaction 

The company has provided funding to two Special Purpose Entities (“SPEs”) 
that were created for purposes of the Black Economic Empowerment 
(“BEE”) transactions by way of a subordinated fixed-rate loan of R203.75 
million and R57.35 million respectively. The capital and interest on these 
loans are repayable in 2015 and 2016 respectively. Senior and junior funding 
by other financiers to the transaction totals R754.95 million and R162.45 
million respectively. 

The directors have considered whether or not the company and group 
bear the majority of the residual risk of the funding structure. They have 
concluded, based on assumptions and market conditions as at 30 June 
2008, that this is not the case. This conclusion was reached after taking into 
account the following key assumptions:

– Growth in distributions in line with the company’s budget;

– A return of 7% per annum on the assets held by the SPEs; and

– Market price of Growthpoint linked units of at least R5.18 in 2015 and 2016.  

Consequently the SPE’s have not been consolidated in the group financial 
statements. 

1.16 standards and interpretations applicable to the group not yet 
effective

IFRs 8 Operating segments

IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 Segment Reporting and aligns segment reporting with 
the requirements of SFAS 131 (US Standard).  This is effective for annual 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009 and will be applied in the 
group’s 2010 financial year.

This standard requires an entity to adopt the “management approach” 
when reporting on the financial performance of its operating segments.  

The reporting would be based on the information that management uses 
internally for evaluating segment performance and when deciding how to 
allocate resources to operating segments.  The statement will therefore not 
impact the results of the group but will impact the format of disclosure and 
measurement of the results of reportable segments.

IFRs 3 Business Combinations

The standard has been amended effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2009. The company does not intend to adopt this standard early. 
The amendment will have no impact on any transactions already reported.

For these future business combinations, the group will change its accounting 
policies to be in line with the revised IFRS 3. In future all transaction costs 
will be recognised at fair value at acquisition date. For successive share 
purchases, any gain or loss for the difference between the fair value and the 
carrying amount of the previously held equity interest in the acquiree will 
be recognised in profit or loss.

Ias 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

The revised IAS 1 introduces the concept of comprehensive income. 
Comprehensive income is all income earned, net of related costs, income 
statement and statement of changes in equity other than transactions 
directly with the owners. This amendment is effective for periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2009. 

Ias 23 Borrowing Costs

A revised IAS 23 Borrowing Costs was issued in March 2007, and becomes 
effective for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. The 
standard has been revised to require capitalisation of borrowing costs when 
such costs relate to a qualifying asset. This is in line with the group and 
company’s current accounting policy.

1.17 Corporate laws amendment act

The Corporate Laws Amendment Act is effective for annual periods 
commencing after 14 December 2007 and will be applied in the 2009 
financial year.
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Company 
2008 Rm

Company 
2007 rm

Group 
2008 Rm

Group 
2007 rm

   2 Revenue

 56  49  Assessment rates recovered   138   103 

 17  13  Casual parking   32   15 

 119  109  Contracted operating cost recoveries   216   179 

 1 131  996  Contracted rental   2 257   1 815 

 9  8  Other income   23   17 

 – – Property management income   17   –

 17  14  Turnover rental   29   23 

 1 349  1 189  Revenue excluding straight-line lease income adjustment   2 712   2 152 

 81  118  Straight-line lease income adjustment   208   210 

 1 430  1 307       2 920  2 362 

   3 Property expenses

  77  66  Assessment rates   182   145 

 4  1  Bad debts written off   6   4 

 21  20  Cleaning   38   31 

 16  10  Consulting fees   28   18 

 (4)  1  Electricity – net   (7)  2 

 106  99  – cost   194   170 

 (110)  (98) – recovery   (201)  (168)

 17  14  Insurance   39   26 

 18  15  Letting commissions   20   32 

 24  24  Other property expenses   52   35 

 – – Personnel expenses   95   –

 – – Property management expenses   22   –

 3  3  Promotions and marketing costs - net   8   5 

 12  11  – cost   21   16 

 (9)  (8) – recovery   (13)  (11)

 35  52  Property management fee   2   91 

 35  31  Repairs and maintenance   70   57 

 40  36  Security   77   62 

 19  13  Tenant installation costs   30   20 

 6  5  Water and other municipal charges - net   13   11 

 29  25  – cost   69   56 

 (23)  (20) – recovery   (56)  (45)

 311  291       675   539 

   4 Other operating expenses

 13  2  Administration costs   13   2 

 –  100  Asset management fees and expenses   31   107 

 3  2  Auditor’s remuneration – audit fee   3   2 

 2  2  Directors’ fees   9   2 

 1  1  Legal fees   1   1 

 5  4  Other fund expenses   5   6 

 24  111       62   120 

   5 Investment income
 –  44  Distributions from listed investments - interest   1  45 

 283  182  Distributions from Growthpoint Securitisation Warehouse Trust as vested beneficiary  – – 

 351  210  Distributions from subsidiaries   – –

 634  436       1  45 
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Company 
2008 Rm

Company 
2007 rm

Group 
2008 Rm

Group 
2007 rm

   6 Fair value adjustments

 774  1 707  Gross investment property fair value adjustment    1 823   2 802 

 – – Paramount initial recognition adjustment    –  (579)

 (81)  (118) Less: straight-line income adjustment    (208)  (210)

 693  1 589  Net investment property revaluation    1 615  2 013

 1 337  672  Investment in subsidiaries and interest in controlled trust    –  –

 –  5  Listed investment portfolio    (1)  7 

 178  19  Interest bearing borrowings - profit    442   99 

 774 – Derivatives - profit    779   59 

 (32)  (58) Derivatives - loss    (33)  (40)

 (48)  34  Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia   (48)  34

 9  7  Zero coupon loans    9   7 

 (2 902)  (2 364) Debentures (note 6.1)  (2 902)  (2 365)

 9  (96)      (139)  (186)

   6.1 Debenture fair value adjustment

   Debentures are adjusted to fair value which represents the net asset value  
   attributable to debenture holders excluding intangible assets.

   The adjustment consists of:

   Fair value adjustments for other assets and liabilities 

 (2 911) (2 268) excluding fair value adjustment on debentures (note 6)   (2 763)  (2 179)

 (81)  (118) Straight-line lease income adjustment   (208)  (210)

 (4)  1  Capital gains taxation   (5)  2 

 19  16  Notional interest on zero coupon loan   19   16 

 –  5  Trading profit and other capital profits/(losses) net of taxation   (20)   6

 75 – Increase in Staff Incentive Scheme liabilty  75 –

 (2 902)  (2 364)      (2 902)  (2 365)

   7 Finance costs

 –  – Occupational interest   1   1 

 379  320  Interest paid on long-term loans   696   614 

 379  320       697   615 

   Borrowing costs capitalised to investment property

 12  11  developments (at prime less 2.0%)   84   25 

   8 Non-cash charges   

 19  16  Notional interest on zero coupon loans    19   16 

 – – Amortisation of intangible asset    99   –

 75 – Increase in Staff Incentive Scheme liability    75  –

 94  16       193   16 

   9 trading profit and other capital profits/(losses)

 –  – Trading profit on sales of residential units  8  –

 – – Insurance refund  14 –

 – (5) Capital expenses  – (6)

 – (5)     22 (6)
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   10 Finance income

 4 2 Interest received from bank  11 3

 41 11 Interest received from antecedent divestiture of distribution **  41 11

 33 27 Interest received from long-term loans (BEE loans)  33 27

 1 – Interest received from other  2 3 

 22 23 Interest received from subsidiary and controlled trust  – –

 101 63     87 44

   **Where Growthpoint issued linked units as part payment for properties  

   acquired  the recipients of these linked units agreed to divest themselves  

   of that portion of the following Growthpoint distributions that accrued  

   prior to Growthpoint becoming entitled to income from the properties.

   11 taxation

   South African taxation

 –  – Normal – current year  4 1

 –  (1)        – prior year overprovision  – (1)

 –  1  Capital gains taxation – on realised capital profits  – 2

 (4) –                                 – prior year overprovision  (5) –

 (4) –     (1) 2

   the taxation rate is reconciled as follows:

 28.0% 29.0% Statutory taxation rate  28.0% 29.0%

 (250.2%) (19.2%) Exempt income  27.0% (71.3%)

 7.7% 16.0% Disallowable expenses  (28.5%) 11.3%

 (101.0%) (51.0%) Current and prior year taxation overprovision  4.9% (27.4%)

 210.7% 251.1% Deferred taxation asset not raised  (30.3%) 166.7%

 3.8% (203.7%) Effect of capital gains taxation payable at a lower rate   (0.4%) (45.3%)

 3.3% 7.4% Secondary tax on companies  (0.1%) 4.1%

 (97.7%) 29.6% Effective taxation rate  0.6% 67.1%

   12 Distribution per linked unit

   Calculation of distributable earnings

    Net property income after other operating expenses  2 183 1 703

   Less: straight-line lease income adjustment  (208) (210)

    Investment income  1 45

   Finance costs  (697) (615)

    Finance income  87 44

    Taxation (excluding taxation on residential units sold)  (2) –

    Distributable earnings  1 364 967
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   Distribution comprises:

   – Debenture interest   1 363 966 

    – Ordinary dividend  1 1

   Total distribution  1 364 967

   Retained distributable earnings  – –

       cents cents

   Distribution per linked unit  106.50 93.10

   Interest on debentures  106.39 93.01

   Dividend  0.11 0.09

   Distribution for the year  106.50 93.10

   Interim six months ended 31 December  51.10 45.00

   – Period to 31 October  – 30.00

   – Period to 31 December   51.10 15.00

   Final six months ended 30 June  55.40 48.10

   13 Earnings per share

   The disclosure of earnings per share and headline earnings per share set out  

   below  while obligatory in terms of accounting standards  is not meaningful  

   to investors as the shares are traded as part of a linked unit and practically  

   all the revenue earnings are distributed in the form of debenture interest  

   plus dividends in the ratio of 1 000 to 1. In addition  headline earnings include  

   fair value adjustments for listed property investments and for financial  

   liabilities as well as notional interest on non-interest bearing long-term loans  

   and accounting adjustments required  to account for lease income on a  

   straight-line basis. These adjustments do not affect distributable earnings.  

   The calculation of distributable earnings and the distribution per linked unit as  

   shown in note 12 are more meaningful to investors and is in accordance with  

   Growthpoint’s reporting policy.

       Number number 

       of shares of shares

   Shares in issue at end of year  1 280 926 195 1 074 126 195

   Weighted average number of shares in issue  1 238 460 442 1 030 639 648

       cents cents

   Basic (loss)/earnings per share  (7.91)  0.09

   Headline earnings per linked unit   159.31 90.73*

   * The comparative headline earnings per linked unit has been restated in terms  

   of Circular 8/2007  issued in November 2007 by SAICA. As per the circular  the  

   debenture fair value adjustment is added back in the calculation of headline  

   earnings.
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   13 Earnings per share (continued)

   Basic earnings are reconciled to headline earnings as follows:

    (Loss)/profit after taxation  (98) 1

    Add: net fair value adjustment - investment property   (1 381) (1 711)

    – Fair value adjustment   (1 615) (2 013)

    – Applicable taxation   234 302

   Headline loss attributable to shareholders   (1 479) (1 710)

   Less: fair value adjustment - debentures   2 089 1 679

   – Fair value adjustment   2 902 2 365

   – Applicable taxation   (813) (686)

    Add: debenture interest paid  1 363 966

   Headline earnings attributable to linked unitholders  1 973 935

   14 Property assets

   (refer to property portfolio schedule on page 74)

   14.1 Fair value of investment property for accounting purposes

 11 478 9 188 Opening fair value of property assets  22 173 15 017

 – – Acquisition of Paramount  – 3 494

 1 113 343 Additions at cost – acquisitions  2 266 1 071

 302 317                            – capital expenditure  1 145  533

 – (77) Disposals at fair value  (120) (166)

 – – Transferred to investment property held for sale (note 14.3)  (42) –

 774 1 707 Gross fair value adjustment on investment property  1 823 2 224

 13 667 11 478 Property valuation  27 245 22 173

 (595) (514) less: straight-line lease income adjustment (note 14.2)  (836) (628)

 13 072 10 964 Fair value of investment property for accounting purposes  26 409 21 545

 595 514 Straight-line lease income adjustment  836 628

 13 667 11 478 Closing fair value of property assets  27 245 22 173

 8 291 6 876  – cost  20 018 16 727

 5 376 4 602 – cumulative fair value surplus  7 227 5 446

   Mortgage bonds have been registered over investment property with a fair value of  

   R22 062 million (2007: R19 541 million) as security for long-term interest bearing  

   liabilities at a nominal value amounting to R9 411 million (2007: R8 091 million).

   The properties were valued at 30 June 2008 using the  discounted cash flow of  

   future income streams method by the following valuers who are all registered  

   valuers in terms of Section 19 of the Property Valuers Professional Act  

   (Act No. 47 of 2000):
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   Mills Fitchett PWV PG Mitchell

      N Dip (Prop Val), MIV (SA), CIEA

   Mills Fitchett KZN  T Bate  

      MSc BSc Land Econ (UK) MRICS, MIV (SA)

   Mills Fitchett Magnus Penny  Mike Gibbons 

      N Dip (Prop Val), MIV (SA), Professional valuer

   Glenross  A G Rostovsky  

      MIV (SA), Professional valuer, Appraiser

   Old Mutual Properties  T King 

      BSc DipSurv MRICS Valuer (SA)

   SC Property Valuation Services CC  S Crous 

      Dip Real Estate (Prop Val), MIV (SA)

   CB Richard Ellis  R Hunting 

      MRICS, MIV (SA)

   Rode and associates  K Scott 

      B Com (Hons), Registered valuer 

      (SA Council of Property Valuers)

   Benchmark  S Levinson 

      B Com (Real Estate Valuation), Professional valuer

   In view of the increase in the bond yield curve, the discount rate as well as the  

   reversionary capitalisation rate used in the valuation of investment property at  

   30 June 2008 was increased by between 1% and 2%.

   14.2 straight-line lease income adjustment

 514 396 Opening balance  628 418

 81 118 Arising during the year  208 210

 595 514     836 628

   14.3 Investment property held for sale

 – – Fair value  42 –

   The investment property held for sale is a property that the directors have decided  

   will be recovered through sale rather than through use. The property consists of  

   61 residential units in the new development known as Montclare Place in  

   Claremont, Cape Town. It is expected that the property will be disposed of in the  

   forthcoming year.

   15 Intangible assets

   Cost - 2008

   Acquisitions through business combination 448 1 483 1 931

   amortisation and impairment losses

   Amortisation for the year  – (99) (99)

   Carrying value at 30 June 2008 448 1 384 1 832

Goodwill Right to 
manage 

property

total
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   15 Intangible assets (continued)

   amortisation

   The amortisation is recognised as a non-cash charge in the income statement  
   and is excluded from the unitholders’ distribution calculation.

   Impairment testing for cash-generating unit containing goodwill

   For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the group’s  
   management services entity, which represents the property administration and  
   management business within the group where goodwill is monitored for internal  
   management purposes.

   The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was based on its value in use.  
   It was determined that the recoverable amount was higher than the carrying amount  
   and therefore no impairment loss was recognised. The recoverable amount was  
   calculated by discounting the future cash flows generated from the continuing use  
   of the unit and was based on the following key assumptions from discussions with  
   management of Growthpoint Management Services (Pty) Limited (GMS) and  
   past experience:

   a) The management contract will continue on similar terms to the agreement that  
    was in place before the acquisition transaction, which had the following terms:

   – asset management fee was calculated at 0.50% of the “enterprise value”; and

   – enterprise value was measured by taking the sum of the nominal value of  
    external debt plus market capitalisation.

   b)  Letting commission on new deals was calculated at 100% of recommended  
    SAPOA tariffs, while letting commission on renewals was calculated at 50% of  
    recommended SAPOA tariffs.

   c)  Collection fees range from 1% to 4% of cash collected on a property-by- 
    property basis.

   d)  Salaries are in respect of staff of 243 people, who were previously employed  
    by IPG.

   e)  Operating expenditure was based on discussions with the previous property  
    managers and after consideration of historic costs, which included rental of  
    premises, IT systems and support, marketing and other expenses necessary  
    for operating a listed company.

   f)  All profits will be distributed to linked unitholders and thus no tax will be payable.

   g)  A discount rate of 10% was applied in determing the recoverable amount of the  
    unit. The discount rate was estimated based on the group’s weighted average debt.

   h)  Revenue and operating expenses will increase by 7% per annum.

   The discounted cash flow was performed over a 15-year period, which took into  
   account the remaining period of the contract that existed and that the contract  
   would be renewed for another 10-year period.  

   16 Equipment

   Cost - 2008    
   Acquisitions through business combination 3 1 4

   Depreciation and impairment losses    
   Depreciation for the year (1) (1) (2)

   Carrying value at 30 June 2008 2 – 2

Furniture & 
fittings

Equipment total
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   17 Other long-term employee benefits

 94 – Plan assets  94 –

 (35) – Service cost  (35) –

 59 –     59 –

   As part of the management “buy-in” transaction, the company established a Staff  
   Incentive Scheme. The company issued 8.5 million linked units to the Staff Incentive  
   Scheme Trust. The initial Staff Incentive Scheme units will vest with the beneficiaries  
   over a period of four years from the date of issue, in tranches of 25% per year from  
   1 September 2008.

   Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages):

   Discount rate at 30 June 2008 11.9%

   Expected growth on plan assets 10.0%

   Probability of staying was estimated as being 95% in 2008, 90% in 2009,  
   80% in 2010 and 70% in 2011.   

   The expense is recognised as a non-cash charge in the income statement and is  
   excluded from the calculation of unitholders’ distributions.

 – – Linked units issued  8 500 000 – 
 – – Awarded  (8 213 436) – 
 – – Forfeited in respect of resignations  224 849 – 
 – – Additional units acquired  61 667 –

 – – Available for allocation  573 080 –

   18 listed property investments    
 – – Opening valuation  11 –

 – 800  Additions at fair value  – 801

 – –  Additions – Paramount  – 9

 – (83)  Disposals at carrying value  (1) (83)

 – 5  Fair value adjustment on listed investments  (1) 7

 – (722)  Transfer to investment in subsidiaries  – (723)

 – –     9 11

   19 long-term loans granted to BEE consortia

 261 261 Amount advanced  261 261

 261 204  Opening balance  261 204

 – 57  Additions  – 57

 78 45 Accrued interest  78 45

 45 18  Opening balance  45 18

 33 27  Arising during the year  33  27

 339 306 Nominal value of long-term loans  339 306

 (14) 34 Fair value adjustment  (14) 34

 325 340     325 340

   BEE 1 consortium

   Amount advanced R203 750 000

   Date advanced 2 September 2005

   Repayment date (capital and interest) 30 September 2015

   Fixed interest rate 10.25%

Units Units

Company 
2008 Rm

Company 
2007 rm

Group 
2008 Rm

Group 
2007 rm
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   19 long-term loans granted to BEE consortia (continued)

   The loan was advanced to acquire 100 000 000 Growthpoint linked units. 

   The rights to repayment are subordinated to the rights of the senior lenders  

   (R565 000 000) and junior lenders (R130 500 000). Should the growth in  

   Growthpoint’s distributions and linked unit price be sufficient, an additional  

   2% interest may be charged at the end of the loan period, as well as a  

   participation in equity, limited to an internal rate of return on the loan of  

   15%. In order to protect its interest, Growthpoint is entitled but not obligated  

   to provide guarantees to the senior and junior lenders should there be a  

   breach of any of their loan covenants at any time.

   BEE 2 consortium

   Amount advanced R57 350 000

   Date advanced 8 December 2006

   Repayment date (capital and interest) 30 September 2016

   Fixed interest rate 10.35%

   The loan was advanced to acquire 22 000 000 Growthpoint linked units. 

   The rights to repayment are subordinated to the rights of the senior lenders  

   (R164 450 000) and junior lenders (R37 950 000). Should the growth in  

   Growthpoint’s distributions and linked unit price be sufficient, an additional  

   2% interest may be charged at the end of the loan period, as well as a  

   participation in equity, limited to an internal rate of return on the loan of  

   15%. In order to protect its interest, Growthpoint is entitled but not obligated  

   to provide guarantees to the senior and junior lenders should there be a  

   breach of any of their loan covenants at any time.

   20 Balances with controlled entities

   20.1 Other investments    

   Investments in subsidiaries    

 3 562 3 562 Fair value of shares and interest in linked units at initial recognition    

 913 36 Subsequent fair value adjustments

 3 378 228 Amounts due by subsidiaries at fair value*

 7 853 3 826

   The company owns 100% of the shares in:    

   Changing Tides 5 (Pty) Limited    

   Growthpoint Building Managers (Pty) Limited    

   Growthpoint Finance Company (Pty) Limited    

   Growthpoint Management Services (Pty) Limited    

   Majorshelf 184 (Pty) Limited    

   Metboard Finance Company (Pty) Limited    

   Metboard Finance Company Security SPV (Pty) Limited    

   Metboard Properties Limited    

   New Heights 344 (Pty) Limited    

   Paramount Property Fund Limited    

   Scopeful 157 (Pty) Limited    

   Skillful 115 (Pty) Limited    

   Skillful 82 (Pty) Limited    

   Tresso Trading 337 (Pty) Limited    

   Tuinweg Property Investments (Pty) Limited 

   All the subsidiaries are incorporated in South Africa, except for    

   Tuinweg Property Investments (Pty) Limited which is incorporated in Namibia.

   Paramount Property Fund Limited owns 100% of the shares in:    
   Claremain Properties (Pty) Limited    
   Lighthouse Mall (Pty) Limited    
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   Michael & Michael Properties (Pty) Limited    
   Ovbel Finance Limited    

   Ovbel Registrars (Pty) Limited

   Investment in the Growthpoint Securitisation Warehouse Trust (the Trust or GSWT)   

 1 170 1 170 Fair value of contribution at initial recognition    

 1 458 983 Subsequent fair value adjustments    
 711 461 Amount due by the Trust at fair value*

 3 339 2 614

   * Amounts due are unsecured, interest free, with no fixed terms of repayment  

   and will be settled in cash.

 11 192 6 440 total other investments

   21 trade and other receivables    

 17 8 Rental debtors  30 28

 (5) (3) Impairment of debtors  (10) (7)

 2 1 Prepaid expenses  6 10

 65 54 Deferred expenditure (including letting commissions and tenant installations)   109 105

 86 – Value Added Tax   144 13

 – – Property management debtor  15 –

 41 92 Sundry debtors (including deposits for future acquisitions)  63 157

 206 152     357 306

   22 Cash and cash equivalents    

 15 12 Cash held on call account as security for municipal and other guarantees  17 12

 2 3 Other call accounts  10 7

 17 15     27 19

   23 Ordinary share capital

   authorised

   1 500 000 000 (2007: 1 500 000 000) ordinary shares with a nominal value  

 75 75 of 5 cents each  75 75

   Issued

   1 280 926 195 (2007: 1 074 126 195) ordinary shares of 5 cents each:

 54 39 In issue at beginning of the year (1 074 126 195 shares)  54 39

 10 15 Issued during the year (206 800 000 shares)  10 15

 64 54     64 54

   In terms of the memorandum of association and the debenture trust deed,  
   the shares are linked with unsecured, subordinated, variable-rate debentures  
   of 250 cents (2007: 250 cents) each in the ratio of one ordinary share to  
   10 debentures.

   This linkage means that each share may only be issued and traded together  
   with the debentures with which it is linked, until such time as it is de-linked  
   in accordance with the terms of the memorandum of association and the  
   debenture trust deed.

   The unissued shares are under the control of the directors of the company  
   subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, 1973 and the requirements  
   of the JSE Limited.
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   24 Non-distributable reserve

 1 536 – Capital reserve on issue of linked units  1 437 –

   Where a linked unit is issued, it is allocated between an equity and a debenture  
   portion. The debenture component of the linked unit is recognised initially at fair  
   value, as defined in note 43. The remaining component is recognised as equity.  
   Where an intangible asset is acquired using linked units, this results in the majority  
   of the issue price being allocated to the equity component. This component is  
   reflected in a non-distributable reserve. On the issue of linked units for the  
   acquisition of the Property Services Businesses, the majority of the payment  
   related to an intangible asset which was accounted for as a non-distributable reserve  
   in equity. All transactions related to the acquisition, such as the amortisation of the  
   intangible asset, will be transferred to the non-distributable reserve.

   25 Debentures    
   12 809 261 950 (2007: 10 741 261 950) unsecured variable-rate subordinated  
   debentures    
 13 646 7 944 Fair value at beginning of the year  13 646 7 943

 1 735 3 338 Issued during the year  1 735 3 338

 15 381 11 282     15 381 11 281

 2 902 2 364 Fair value adjustment   2 902 2 365

 18 283 13 646     18 283 13 646

 18 283  13 646 Fair value  18 283 13 646

 32 023 26 853 Nominal value  32 023 26 853

 (22 444) (19 009) Discount on issue  (22 444)  (19 009)

 9 579 7 844 Issue value  9 579 7 844

 5 802 3 438 Fair value adjustment – previous years  5 802 3 437

 2 902 2 364 Fair value adjustment – current year  2 902 2 365

   The rights of the debenture holders to repayment of capital are subordinated  
   to the claims of all other secured and unsecured creditors. The interest  
   payable on 10 debentures in each linked unit will be a multiple of 1 000 times  
   the dividend payable on each share.

   Subject to the subordination provisions, the debentures will be repayable if a  
   final court order is granted or an effective special resolution is passed for the  
   winding up of the company or if the company, inter alia, commits a material  
   breach of a material obligation under the trust deed. The debentures are  
   redeemable at the instance of the debenture holders at any time after 25 years 
   from the date of incorporation.

   This right must be exercised by special resolution of the debenture holders.  
   Upon passing of the said special resolution, the debentures shall be redeemed  
   on the last Friday in December of the fifth year after the year in which the  
   special resolution is passed.

   The yield on the debentures is dependent upon the dividend paid on ordinary  
   shares. For this reason, limitations have been placed on the company in that  
   it may not change its share capital if such change results in a change in the  
   equity to debenture ratio.

   26 Other non-current financial liabilities
   26.1 Variable rate loans - secured by investment property

   26.1.1 Variable rate mortgage loan – Old Mutual Specialised Finance (Pty) Limited  
 658 658 R658 million facility  658 658

   Interest is charged at a rate of Jibar + 1.05% per annum.  The capital is  
   repayable on 28 February 2013.

 355 – 26.1.2 Variable rate mortgage loan – ABSA Bank Limited (ABSA) R600 million facility 355 –

   Interest is charged at the prime overdraft rate less 2.00% per annum.   
   The capital is repayable on 31 March 2011.
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 1 200 – 26.1.3 Variable rate mortgage loan – ABSA R1 200 million facility  1 200 –
   Interest is charged at a rate of Jibar + 0.80% per annum.   
   The capital is repayable on 31 March 2011.

 – – 26.1.4 Variable rate mortgage loan – ABSA R740 million facility (Paramount)   740 –
   Interest is charged at a rate of Jibar + 0.80% per annum.   
   The capital is repayable on 28 February 2015.

 –  584 26.1.5 Variable rate mortgage loan – ABSA R584 million facility  – 584
   Interest is charged at a rate of Jibar + 1.15% per annum.

 – – 26.1.6 Variable rate mortgage loan – ABSA R172 million facility (Paramount)  – 167
   Interest is charged at the prime overdraft rate less 1.50% per annum.

 – – 26.1.7 Variable rate mortgage loan – ABSA Development accounts (Paramount)  – 112
   Interest is charged at the prime overdraft rate less 1.50% per annum and  
   at the prime overdraft rate on the VAT mortgage loan.

 – – 26.1.8 Variable rate mortgage loan – Standard Bank Limited (Paramount)  – 38
   Interest is charged at various rates between the prime overdraft rate  
   less 1.00% to 1.50% per annum.    

 – – 26.1.9 Variable rate mortgage loan – Nedbank Limited (Nedbank)(Paramount)  – 54
   Interest is charged at the prime overdraft rate less 2.00% per annum.

 – – 26.1.10 Variable rate mortgage loan – RMB Limited (RMB)(Paramount)  – 71
   Interest is charged at the prime overdraft rate less 1.50% per annum.

 – – 26.1.11 Variable rate mortgage loan – RMB (Paramount)  – 290
   Interest is charged at a rate of Jibar +1.20% per quarter.

 – – 26.1.12 Variable rate mortgage loan – ABSA R250 million facility (Paramount)  – 250
   Interest is charged at a rate of Jibar + 1.20% per quarter.

 – – 26.1.13 Variable rate mortgage loan – ABSA R50 million facility (Paramount)  – 50
   Interest is fixed to 27 July 2011 at 10.13%.

 – – 26.1.14 Variable rate mortgage loan – ABSA R36 million facility (Paramount)  – 36
   Interest is fixed to 23 March  2010 at 12.50%.

 – – 26.1.15 Variable rate mortgage loan – ABSA R51 million facility (Paramount)  – 51
   Interest was fixed to November 2006 at 10.18%.

 – – 26.1.16 Variable rate mortgage loan – ABSA R70 million facility (Paramount)  – 70
   Interest was fixed to 18 December 2007 at 9.27%.

 – – 26.1.17 Variable rate mortgage loan – INDWA R250 million facility (Paramount)  – 250
   Interest is charged at Jibar + 1.20% per quarter.

   26.2 Fixed rate mortgage loans secured by investment property   

 – 53 26.2.1 Fixed rate mortgage loan – ABSA R53 million facility  – 53
   Interest is charged at a rate of 10.26% per annum.

 – 53 26.2.2 Fixed rate mortgage loan – ABSA R53 million facility  – 53
   Interest is charged at a rate of 10.51% per annum.

 – 53 26.2.3 Fixed rate mortgage loan – ABSA R53 million facility  – 53

   Interest is charged at a rate of 10.61% per annum.

 –  53  26.2.4 Fixed rate mortgage loan – ABSA R53 million facility  –  53 

   Interest is charged at a rate of 10.66% per annum.
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   26 Other non-current financial liabilities (continued)
    26.2.5 Fixed rate mortgage loan – Investec Bank Limited (Investec)  

 703  703 R703 million facility   703  703 

   Interest is charged at a rate of 9.01% per annum. The capital can be repaid anytime 

   from 28 February 2009 with a final date of repayment of 28 February 2024.

   26.2.6 Fixed rate mortgage loan – Investec Securitisation issue 1   

 – – R805 million facility (GSWT)  805   805 

   Interest is charged at a rate of 9.28% per annum. 

   The scheduled repayment date is 2 August 2010.

   26.2.7 Fixed rate mortgage loan – Investec Securitisation issue 2   

 – – R969 million facility (GSWT)  969  969 

   Interest is charged at a rate of 8.49% per annum. 

   The scheduled repayment date is 1 August 2013.

    26.2.8 Fixed rate mortgage loan – Investec Securitisation issue 3   

 1 566  1 566 R1 566 million facility  1 566  1 566 

   Interest is charged at a rate of 9.84% per annum. 

   The scheduled repayment date is 1 November 2009.

   26.2.9 Fixed rate mortgage loan – Investec Securitisation   

 – – R1 000 million facility (Metboard)  1 000   1 000 

   Interest is charged at a rate of 8.96% per annum. 

   The scheduled repayment date is 1 September 2011.

 – – 26.2.10 Fixed rate mortgage loan – RMB R250 million facility (Paramount)  250  – 

   Interest is charged at a rate of 10.35% per annum. 

   The scheduled repayment date is 30 April 2018.

 – – 26.2.11 Fixed rate mortgage loan – RMB R490 million facility (Paramount)  490  –

   Interest is charged at a rate of 10.45% per annum. 

   The scheduled repayment date is 30 April 2018.

 675 – 26.2.12 Fixed rate mortgage loan – RMB R675 million facility   675  –

   Interest is charged at a rate of 9.63% per annum. 

   The scheduled repayment date is 28 February 2018.

 – – 26.2.13 Fixed rate mortgage loan – Nedbank R155 million facility (Paramount)  –  155 

   Interest is charged at a rate of 11.55% from April 2007 (previously: 11.95%)  

   per annum.  Interest is only payable to January 2012.   

   Thereafter the capital is repayable in monthly instalments to December 2016.

   Loans listed  from 26.1.1 to 26.2.13 are secured by first mortgage bonds over  

   investment property with a value of R22 062 million (2007: R19 541 million).

 5 157 3 723 Total nominal value of long-term interest bearing loans  9 411 8 091

 (259) (80)  Fair value adjustment:  (656)  (235) 

 –  2  – fixed interest rate loans – loss  –  9 

 (259)  (82) – fixed interest rate loans – profit  (656)  (244)

 239  355  Interest rate swaps (derivatives) – fair value loss  239   355

 5 137  3 998  Fair value of long-term interest bearing loans and derivatives  8 994  8 211
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   26.3 Non-interest bearing long-term liabilities

   26.3.1 Non-interest bearing long-term loan

 153 153 Nominal value  153 153

 (39) (55) Unamortised discount  (39) (55)

 114 98 Book value prior to revaluation  114 98

   The balance is payable as follows :

   R96 513 884 - November 2009

   R56 874 239 - November 2010

   The loan is secured by second covering mortgage bonds over investment  

   property with a value of R2 830 million (2007: R2 731 million).

   26.3.2 Non- interest bearing loan    

 24 24 Nominal value  24 24

 (6) (9) Unamortised discount  (6) (9)

 18 15 Book value prior to revaluation  18 15

   The loan is unsecured and will be discharged as follows:

   – to the extent that any portion of the vacant land acquired in terms of this  

    arrangement is sold or developed, from the proceeds of the sale or on  

    completion of the development

   – to the extent that any portion of the land remains unsold or undeveloped  

    at 31 October 2009, the unpaid amount will become due and payable at  

    that date

 – – 26.3.3 B Debentures  – 7

   The Class B debentures are zero coupon subordinated unlisted Class B  
   debentures with a nominal value of 500 cents each.  The debentures were 
   compulsorily convertible into linked units.  In terms of the Paramount  
   acquisition transaction, the 1 447 304 B debentures converted on 3 January  
   2008 and Growthpoint issued 1 new linked unit for every 1.58 B debentures.

 132 113 Total book value of long-term non-interest bearing loans   132 120

 6 15 Fair value adjustment of non-interest bearing loans  6 15

 138 128 Fair value of non-interest bearing loans  138  135 

 5 275 4 126 Total financial liabilities  9 132 8 347

   26.4 less portion repayable within the next 12 months   

 – (53) Interest bearing  – (53)

 5 275 4 073 26.5 total non-current financial liabilities  9 132 8 293

 5 036 3 718 – loans  8 893 7 938

 239 355 – derivatives  239 355
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   26 Other non-current financial liabilities (continued)

   26.5 total non-current financial liabilities

   loan covenants

   Interest times cover - 3.2 times (2007: 2.7 times)

   Loan to value ratio for Growthpoint based on the nominal value of debt - 34.5%  

   (2007: 36.5%)

   27 trade and other payables

 195 80 Accrued expenses  406 167

 70 30 Accrued interest  120 62

 41 31 Tenant deposits  88 68

 16 34 Trade creditors  24 87

 – 8 Value Added Tax   – –

 1 1 Income received in advance  – 1

 323 184     638 385

   28 Deferred taxation

   28.1 Deductible temporary differences

 2 437 1 683 Fair value adjustment – debentures  2 437 1 683

 28 113 Fair value adjustment – non-current liabilities  – 68

 – – Listed property investments  – 1

 1 1 Impairment of trade receivables  2 2

 4 – Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia  4 –

 2 470 1 797 Deferred taxation asset partially recognised  2 443 1 754

   Recovery of these deferred tax assets is dependent on the generation of  

   sufficient future taxable income. In order to recognise an asset, it must be  

   probable that deductible temporary differences in excess of existing taxable  

   temporary differences will be used.

   In practice, all taxable income (excluding capital gains) is distributed to unit  

   holders primarily in the form of tax deductible debenture interest.  While the  

   debentures (representing the most significant of the above deductible  

   temporary differences) are carried at fair value and remain unredeemed,  

   future tax deductions are likely to equal or exceed any tax liability which  

   may arise (excluding capital gains taxation).

   The deferred tax effect of the right to manage the property assets is excluded from  

   the calculation of the unrecognised deferred tax asset as the deferred tax liability  

   does not qualify for offset against the unrecognised deductable temporary difference.

   The deferred tax asset is limited to the amount of any deferred tax liability raised,  

   being that portion of the deferred tax asset that is recoverable. The net effect of  

   R nil is therefore reflected on the consolidated balance sheet.

.

   28.2 taxable temporary differences

   The recognition of a deferred tax liability is dependent on the manner in which 

   Growthpoint will recover the carrying value of the related assets. The most  

   significant asset in this case is investment property, which is expected to be  

   recovered through a combination of use (rental to third parties) and ultimately  

   by sale.
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   In determining the amount of deferred tax to be raised, accounting  

   standards require:

   a)  the revaluation of land to be separated from that of the buildings and  

    deferred tax to be computed using the consequences of sale; and

   b)  in respect of the buildings, management is required to estimate the  

    expected period of use until sale and an estimated sales value (residual).   

    The fair value adjustment is then split between a use and sale component  

    and the respective tax consequences applied to each component.

   In view of the size of the property portfolio, the complexity of determining  

   the residual value and anticipated sale date of these properties, and the fact  

   that any deferred tax liability raised will be offset by deferred tax assets,  

   management believe that an exercise to determine the requisite amounts  

   would require expenditure well in excess of any expected benefit.

   The effective rate will be between 14% and 28% (2007: 14.5% and 29%).   

   The factors that would reduce the effective rate to less than 28% (2007: 29%)  

   are that:

   a)  the tax effect on revaluation of land must be provided for using the sales  

    consequences; and

   b)  Growthpoint has historically sold investment properties for a  significant  

    amount in relation to the carrying value and therefore a large component of  

    the carrying value is recoverable through sale.

   The following analysis of deferred tax has been provided for illustrative  

   purposes, presuming that the effective tax rate calculated is 14.5%  

   (2007: 15%) for investment properties:

   Investment property component

 5 375 4 602 Fair value adjustment – investment property assets  7 282 5 464

   Other assets/liabilities

 – – Intangible asset – right to manage property assets  1 384 –

 – 17 Fair value adjustment – listed property investments  – –

 732 109 Fair value adjustment – gain on fair value of derivatives  759 109

 – – Fair value adjustment – non-current liabilities  291 –

 2 371 1 088 Fair value adjustment – other investments  – –

 – 34 Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia  – 34 

 – 3 Interest accrued on linked debentures  – 3

 8 478 5 853     9 716 5 610
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   28 Deferred taxation (continued)
   Investment property component

 779 690 Fair value adjustment - investment property assets 14.5% 1 056 820

   Other assets/liabilities

 – – Intangible asset – right to manage property assets 28.0% 387 –

 – 2 Fair value adjustment – listed property investments 14.0% – –

 205 31 Fair value adjustment – gain on fair value of derivatives 28.0% 213 31

 – – Fair value adjustment – non-current liabilities 28.0% 81 –

 332 158 Fair value adjustment – other investments 14.0% – –

 – 10 Long-term loans 28.0% – 10

 – 1 Interest accrued on linked debentures 28.0% – 1

 1 316 892 Potential deferred tax liability  1 737 862

   The excess of the potential deferred tax asset over the potential tax liability  
   is not recognised for the reason stated in note 28.1 above.

   Movement in deferred tax relates to:

 905 104 Balance at beginning of the year (unrecognised)  892 121

 (32) 408 Change in estimate*  (32) 398

   Temporary differences reversed on disposal of assets

 – 4 – investment property  1 4

 – 1 – listed property  investments  – 1

 281 388 Temporary differences arising during the year  (154) 368

 281 388 – net timing difference  233 368

 – – – intangible asset deferred tax liability recognised  (387) –

 1 154 905 Balance at the end of the year (unrecognised)  707 892

   * In the current year  the capital gains tax rate has changed to 14% (2007:  14.5%) 
   and the income tax rate has changed to 28% (2007: 29%).

   29 Net asset value

       Number number 
       of units of units

   Linked units in issue at end of year  1 280 926 195 1 074 126 195

       cents cents

   Net asset value per linked unit   1 545 1 275

   Tangible net asset value per linked unit  1 432 1 275

   Net asset value per linked unit is reconciled to tangible net asset value per linked  
   unit as follows:

   Net asset value  19 784 13 700

   Less: net effect of Property Services Businesses acquisition     (1 445) –

   – intangible assets   (1 832) –

   – deferred tax liability    387  –

   Tangible net asset value   18 339   13 700
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   30 Cash generated from operations   

 1 095 905 Net property income after other operating expenses   2 183 1 703

 (81) (118) Straight-line lease income adjustment   (208) (210)

 (54) (25) Increase in trade and other receivables   (51) (131)

 69 48 Increase in trade and other payables   133 203

   Non-cash movements relating to Paramount transaction:

 – – – trade and other receivables   – 66

 – – – trade and other payables   – (147)

 1 029 810     2 057 1 484

   31 taxation (received)/paid

 2 23 Amounts unpaid at beginning of the year   5 23

 – – Acquisition of Paramount   – 2

 (4) – Amounts (credited)/charged to the income statement   (1) 2

 – (2) Amounts unpaid at end of the year   (5) (5)

 (2) 21     (1) 22

   32 Distribution to unitholders

 521 332 Amounts unpaid at beginning of the year   521 358

 1 363 966 Interest  1 363 966

 1 1 Dividends  1 1

 (711) (521) Amounts unpaid at end of the year   (711) (521)

 1 174 778     1 174 804

   33 Net cash outflow from investing activities

 18 366 15 320 Opening balance of non-current assets   22 632 15 353

 4 321 2 904 Non-cash movements   4 303 5 859

 693 1 589 Fair value adjustment of investment property   1 615 2 013

 81 118 Straight-line lease income adjustment   208 210

 – – Investment property held for sale reclassified  (42) –

 – 5 Fair value adjustment of listed property investments   (1) 7

 624 (6) Fair value adjustment on derivatives   651 (6)

 (15) 34 Fair value adjustment and accrued interest on long-term loans   (15) 34

 1 337 672 Fair value adjustment on investment in subsidiaries and interest in Trust   – –

 1 542 – Property management subsidiary acquired by issue of linked units  – –

 134 – Linked units issued for Staff Incentive Scheme  134 –

 (75) – Increase in Staff Incentive Scheme liability  (75) –

 – – Amortisation of intangible asset  (99) –

 – 317 Properties acquired by issue of linked units   – 317

 – 175 Net movement as a result of the IPG transaction (2007: Paramount)  1 927 3 284

 (25 975) (18 366) Closing balance of non-current assets   (30 231) (22 632)

 – – Cash from acquisition of additional linked units in Paramount    – 81

 (3 288) (142)     (3 296) (1 339)
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 Income statement 2007

 Revenue  excluding straight-line lease income adjustment 813 810 529 –  – 2 152

 Straight-line lease income adjustment 61 97 52  –   –   210

 Revenue 874 907 581  –    –   2 362

 Property expenses (222) (200) (117) – –  (539)

 Net property income 652   707   464  – – 1 823

 Other operating expenses – – – –  (120)  (120)

 Investment income – – –  45 –  45

 Fair value adjustments  826  728  459  7  (2 206) (186)

 Segment results  1 478  1 435  923  52  (2 326) 1 562 

 Finance costs – – – –  (615) (615)

 Non-cash charges – – – –  (16) (16)

 Trading profit and other capital losses  –   – – –  (6)  (6)

 Finance income – – – – 44  44

 Profit before debenture interest 1 478 1 435  923  52  (2 919)  969

 Debenture interest – – – –  (966) (966)

 Profit before taxation 1 478 1 435  923 52  (3 885) 3

 34 Group segmental analysis

 Income statement 2008

 Revenue  excluding straight-line lease income adjustment 1 003 1 050 659 – – 2 712

 Straight-line lease income adjustment 57 99 52 – – 208

 Revenue 1 060  1 149 711 – – 2 920

 Property expenses (260) (263) (152) –  – (675)

 Net property income 800   886   559   – – 2 245

 Other operating expenses – – – –  (62) (62)

 Investment income – – – 1 – 1

 Fair value adjustments 319 636   660  (1) (1 753) (139)

 Segment results 1 119  1 522 1 219 – (1 815) 2 045

 Finance costs – – – –  (697) (697)

 Non-cash charges – – – – (193) (193)

 Trading profit and other capital profits –  – –  –   22  22

 Finance income – – – – 87 87

 Profit before debenture interest 1 119  1 522  1 219   – (2 596) 1 264 

 Debenture interest – – –  –  (1 363) (1 363)

 loss before taxation 1 119 1 522  1 219  – (3 959) (99)
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 Balance sheet 2008

 Non-current assets

 – Investment property

  Opening fair value of property assets 8 573 8 499 5 101 – – 22 173

  Reclassification (73)  73 – – – –

  Acquisitions 654 1 555  57  –  – 2 266

  Capital expenditure 261   582 302 – – 1 145

  Disposals at fair value (99)  (21)  – – – (120)

  Transfer to investment property held for sale  – (42) –  – – (42)

  Net fair value adjustments 319 636 660 – – 1 615

  Straight-line lease income adjustment 57  99 52  – – 208

  Closing fair value of property assets 9 692 11 381 6 172 – – 27 245

 – Intangible assets – – – – 1 832 1 832

 – Other long-term employee benefits – –  – –  59 59

 – Equipment – – – –  2 2

 – Listed property investment –  – –  9  – 9

 – Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia  –  – – – 325 325

 – Derivative asset – – – – 759 759

Current assets 

 – Investment property held for sale – 42 – – – 42

 – Trade and other receivables 125 174 48 – 10 357

 – Cash and cash equivalents – – – – 27 27

 segment assets 9 817 11 597 6 220 9  3 014 30 657

 Linked unitholders’ interest – – – – 19 784 19 784

 Other non-current liabilities 

 – Other non-current financial liabilities  –  –   –  – 8 429 8 429

 – Deferred tax liability –  –  –  – 387 387

 – Trade and other payables 150 250 52 – 186 638

 Current liabilities  

 – Current portion of non-current liabilities – – – – 703 703

 – Taxation payable – – –  –  5 5

 – Linked unitholders for interest and dividends –  – –  – 711 711

 segment equity and liabilities  150 250 52  – 30 205 30 657
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 Balance sheet 2007

 Non-current assets

 – Investment property

  Opening fair value of property assets 6 062 5 563 3 392 – – 15 017

  Acquisition – Paramount 1 126 1 492  876 – – 3 494

  Acquisitions – other 433 464   174 – –  1 071

  Capital expenditure 122 309 102 – –  533 

  Disposals at fair value (57)  (8)  (101) – –  (166)

  Reclassification – (147)  147 – –  –

  Net fair value adjustments 826 729  459 – –  2 014

  Straight-line lease income adjustment 61 97  52 – –  210

  Closing  fair value of property assets 8 573 8 499  5 101 – –  22 173

 – Listed property investment –  –  –  11 –  11

 – Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia –  – – – 340 340

 – Derivative asset – –  – –  108  108

Current assets

 – Trade and other receivables 44  80  77 –  105  306

 – Cash and cash equivalents – – – –  19  19

 segment assets 8 617  8 579  5 178  11  572  22 957

 Linked unitholders’ interest –  –  –   –   13 700  13 700

 Other non-current liabilities

 – Other non-current financial liabilities –     –   –  –  8 293  8 293

 Current liabilities

 – Current portion of non-current liabilities –  – – –  53 53

 – Trade and other payables 67  177  70 –  71  385

 – Taxation payable –   –  – –  5  5

 – Linked unitholders for interest and dividends –  –  – – 521 521

 segment equity and liabilities  67  177  70 –  22 643  22 957

Greater 
JhB
Rm

Pretoria

Rm

Western 
Cape

Rm

KwaZulu 
Natal

Rm

Eastern 
Cape

Rm

Other

Rm

total

Rm

 Income statement extract 2008

 Net property income, excluding straight- 

 line lease income adjustment 968 282 381 222 77 107 2 037

 Income statement extract 2007

 Net property income, excluding straight- 

 line lease income adjustment 781 244 277 163 67 81 1 613
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Balance sheet 2008

 – Investment property

  Opening fair value of property assets 10 168 3 016 4 522 2 323 926 1 218 22 173

  Acquisitions 1 718 99 386 57 – 6 2 266

  Capital expenditure 490 32 448 58 42 75 1 145

  Disposals at fair value (11) – (100) (9) – – (120)

  Transfer to investment property held for sale – – (42) – – – (42)

  Gross fair value adjustments 1 002 148 278 248 71 76 1 823

 Closing fair value of property assets 13 367 3 295 5 492 2 677 1 039 1 375 27 245

Greater 
JhB
Rm

Pretoria

Rm

Western 
Cape

Rm

KwaZulu 
Natal

Rm

Eastern 
Cape

Rm

Other

Rm

total

Rm

 Balance sheet 2007

 – Investment property

  Opening fair value of property assets 7 478 2 550 2 256 1 213 718 802 15 017

  Acquisition – Paramount 902 100 1 533 908 25 26 3 494

  Acquisitions – other 335 29 349 150 18 190 1 071

  Capital expenditure 289 57 112 10 16 49 533

  Disposals at fair value (82) (57) –  (27) – – (166)

  Gross fair value adjustments 1 246 337 272 69 149 151 2 224

 Closing fair value of property assets 10 168 3 016  4 522  2 323 926 1 218 22 173

   35 Joint ventures

   Income statement

   Revenue  165 155

   Property expenses  (33) (34)

   Property operating profit   132 121

   Fair value adjustments   47 246

   Operating profit   179 367

   Balance sheet

   Non-current assets

    Property assets

     Opening fair value of property assets  1 617 1 495

     Acquisitions   121 –

     Transfer to investment properties   – (128)

     Capital expenditure   46 4

     Net fair value adjustments   51 246

     Less: Straight-line lease income adjustment   (45) (35)
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   35 Joint ventures (continued)

   Balance sheet

     Closing balance   1 790 1 582

     Straight-line lease income adjustment   45 35

   Property assets  1 835 1 617 

   Current assets   14 17

   total assets   1 849 1 634

   Owners’ equity   1 839 1 620

   Current liabilities   10 14 

   total equity and liabilities   1 849 1 634

   Joint ventures comprise the following properties:

   – Northgate Shopping Centre (50.0%)

   – Kolonnade Shopping Centre (50.0%)

   – Alberton City (35.7%)

   – Westgate (50.0%)

   – Eagle Industrial Park (50.0%)

   – Lakeside Mall (87.2%)

   During the current year, a further 20.5% of Lakeside Mall was acquired.

   36 Borrowing powers

   The borrowing capacity of the company and its subsidiaries, in terms of  
   their articles of association, is unlimited.

   37 Capital commitments

 1 399 3 692  Authorised and contracted   2 274 3 692 

   The capital expenditure will be financed from existing funding facilities.

   38 Contingent liabilities

   Certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the company have guaranteed the income  
   of their wholly owned subsidiary companies to certain financial institutions. 
   The total value of this income over the next five years amounts to approximately  
   R204 million (2007:  R232 million) and is due, in terms of lease agreements, by  
   the following tenants:

   Centre for Diabetes and Endocrinology (Pty) Limited – R 18 million  
   (2007: R21 million);

   Ernst and Young South Africa – R 160 million (2007: R181 million); and

   Merck (Pty) Limited – R 26 million (2007: R30 million).

   Growthpoint Properties Limited has a total investment in these long-lease  
 204 232 subsidiaries of approximately R22 2 million. (2007: R22 2 million).  204 232

   39 Minimum contracted rental income

   The group leases a number of retail, office and industrial properties under operating  
   leases. Leases typically run for a period of three to five years. 

   Contractual amounts due in terms of operating lease agreements:

 1 126 1 178   Less than one year   2 423 2 116 

 2 731  2 541   Between one and five years   5 786 4 794 

 3 203  3 084   More than five years   4 789 3 904

 7 060  6 803      12 998 10 814
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   40 Related party transactions

   Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the  
   other party or exercise significant influence over the other party making  
   financial or operational decisions.

   Details of the transactions with directors are set out in the Directors’ report.

   Balances with controlled entities are disclosed in note 20.  Balances with  
   BEE consortia are disclosed in note 19.

   Growhtpoint Management Services (Pty) Limtied (GMS) is a wholly owned  
   subsidiary and is responsible for the property management of the properties. 
   This entity started operating after the acquisition of the Property Services  
   Businesses from Investec Property Group Limited was concluded.

   The following transactions within the group were concluded:

 20 – Letting commissions paid to GMS  – –

 1 – Project management fees paid to GMS  – –

 34 – Collection commission paid to GMS  – –

   The following key management remuneration was paid during the year: 

 – – Salaries  8 – 

 – – Bonuses  6 – 

 – – Contributions to defined contribution plan  1 –

 – – Other long-term employee benefits: Staff Incentive Scheme  8 –

       23 –

   The company issued 1 826 366 linked units in terms of the Staff Incentive Scheme  
   to key management.

   In the prior year, Investec Bank Limited (Investec) was a major shareholder of  
   Growthpoint and a controlling shareholder of the asset management company,  
   Growthpoint Managers (Pty) Limited and Investec Property Group Limited (IPG), 
   and was responsible for the property management of the properties. The following  
   additional disclosure is given in the interests of greater transparency and good  
   corporate governance:

   Rental income from Investec

 – 108 – per lease agreement  – 108

 – 64  – straight-line lease income accrual  – 64

 – 63 Interest paid on loan from Investec  – 63

 – 40 Interest paid on loan from Investec (bridging loan)  – 40

 – 1 Interest paid on loan from Investec (swaps)  – 1

 – 2 Interest paid to Investec as part of lending consortium of banks  – 2

 – 1 Secretarial/valuation fees to Investec  – 1

 – 13 Corporate finance fees paid to Investec  – 13

 – 6 877 Swap contracts entered into with Investec  – 6 877

 – 703 Direct loans from Investec  – 703

 – 28 Letting commission paid to IPG  – 28

 – 86 Property management fee paid to IPG  – 86

 – 90 Asset management fees paid to Growthpoint Managers (Pty) Limited  – 90

   Other balances as at 30 June with Investec

 – 9 – fees payable included in trade and other payables  – 9

 – 4 – loan included in trade and other receivables  – 4

 – 17 – cash and cash equivalents  – 17
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41 Financial risk management

Balance sheets

Total financial assets and liabilities

The table below sets out the company and  

group’s accounting classification of each class  

of financial assets and liabilities, and their fair  

values at 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007.

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Listed property investments 9 – 18 – – 9  – – –

Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia  325 325 19 – – 325 325  – –

Derivative asset 759 759  759 759  – – – –

Other investments – 11 192 20.1  –  –  – 11 192 – –

Investment in subsidiaries – 4 475  – – – 4 475  –  –

Amounts due by subsidiaries – 3 378  – – – 3 378 – –

Investment in GSWT – 3 339  – – – 3 339 – –

Current assets 384 223  – – 62 29 322 194

Trade and other receivables 357 206 21  – – 35 12 322 194

Cash and cash equivalents 27 17 22  – – 27 17 – –

Total assets  1 477 12 499  759 759 396 11 546 322 194

 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities – debentures 18 283 18 283 25 –  – 18 283 18 283 – –

Other non-current financial liabilities 9 132 5 275 26.4 239  239  8 893  5 036  –  –

Interest bearing borrowings 8 755 4 898  – – 8 755 4 898 – –

Non-interest bearing borrowings 138 138  – – 138 138 – –

Derivative liability 239 239  239 239 – – – –

Current liabilities 1 349 1 034    1 349 1033  1

Trade and other payables  638  323 27  –  – 638 322 – 1

Linked unitholders for interest and dividends  711  711   – – 711 711 –  –

Total equity and liabilities 28 764   24 592    239  239  28 525  24 353 – 1
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   Balance sheets

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Listed property investments 11  – 18  –  –  11   –  –  –

Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia  340  340 19  –  –  340   340   –  –

Derivative asset  108  108  108   108   –  –  –  –

Other investments  –  6 440  20.1  –  –  –  6 440   –  –

Investment in subsidiaries  –  3 598    –  –  –  3 598   –  –

Amounts due by subsidiaries  –  228    –  –  –  228   –  –

Investment in GSWT  –  2 614    –  –  –  2 614   –   –

Current assets 325 167    40 20 285 147

Trade and other receivables  306   152  21  – –  21   5   285  147

Cash and cash equivalents  19   15  22  –  –  19   15  –  –

Total assets  784   7 055    108  108 391 6 800 285 147

 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities – debentures  13 646   13 646  25  –     –     13 646   13 646   –     – 

Other non-current financial liabilities  8 293   4 073  26.5  355   355   7 938   3 718   –  –

Interest bearing borrowings  7 803   3 590    –     –     7 803   3 590   –     – 

Non-interest bearing borrowings  135   128    –     –     135   128   –     –   

Derivative liability  355   355    355   355   –  –  –   –   

Current liabilities 959 758  – – 958 749 1 9

Trade and other payables  385   184  27  –     –     384   175   1   9 

Current portion of non-current liabilities  53   53  26.4  –     –     53   53   –     –

Linked unitholders for interest and dividends  521   521    –     –     521   521   –     –   

Total equity and liabilities  22 898   18 477   355   355   22 542   18 113   1   9 

The carrying amounts reflected in the balance sheet are at fair value.

   41 Financial risk management

   The financial instruments of the group consist mainly of cash and cash equavalents,  

   including deposits with banks, long-term borrowings, derivative instruments, trade  

   and other receivables and trade and other payables, long-term loans, amounts due  

   by subsidiaries, debentures and linked unitholders for interest and dividends. The  

   group purchases or issues financial instruments in order to finance operations  

   and to manage the interest rate risks that arise from these operations and the  

   source of funding.

   The group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

   – Credit risk 
   – Liquidity risk 
   – Market risk

   The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and  
   oversight of the group’s risk management framework.  The board has  
   established the Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for  

   developing and monitoring the group’s risk management policies. 
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   41 Financial risk management (continued)

   The Risk Management Committee reports regularly to the board of directors on  

   its activities.

   The group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse  

   the risks faced by the group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to  

   monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management policies and systems  

   are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the  

   group’s activities.

   The Risk Management Committee oversees how management monitors  

   compliance with the group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews  

   the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by  

   the group. The Risk Management Committee is assisted in its oversight role by  

   Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk  

   management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to both  

   the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee.

   41.1 Credit risk

   Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a customer or counterparty  

   to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises  

   principally from the long-term loans advanced to the BEE parties, the investments  

   in subsidiaries and the Trust, amounts advanced to the subsidiaries and Trust,  

   derivatives, as well as trade and other receivables.  There is no significant  

   concentration of credit risk as exposure is spread over a large number of  

   counterparties.

   Exposure to credit risk

   The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. 

   The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

   30 June 2008

 – – Listed property investment  9 11

 325 340 Long-term loans granted to BEE consortia  325 340

 732 108 Derivative asset  759 108

 11 192 6 440 Other investments  – –

 4 475 3 598  Investment in subsidiaries  – –

 3 378 228  Amounts due by subsidiaries  – –

 3 339 2 614  Investment in GSWT  – –

 12 5 Trade and other receivables  35 21

 17 15 Cash and cash equivalents  27 19

   a) Long-term loans

   The group provided the mezzanine finance for the long-term BEE loans. 

   The rights to repayment are subordinated to the rights of the senior lenders and  

   junior lenders. The linked units are held by Growthpoint as collateral in the event  

   that the group is called upon to provide credit support.

   Based on the total debt outstanding in respect of the BEE 1 consortium’s loans,  

   a calculation was performed to determine the breakeven unit price at which  

   Growthpoint’s loan will be recoverable. Assuming distribution growth is in line  

   with budgets and an annual return of 7% on the assets held by the consortium,  

   the break-even unit price before Growthpoint is at risk of non-payment in 2015  

   is calculated at R3.90 per Growthpoint linked unit.
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   Based on the total debt outstanding in respect of the BEE 2 consortium’s loans,  

   a calculation was performed to determine the breakeven unit price at which  

   Growthpoint’s loan will be recoverable.  Assuming distribution growth is in line  

   with budgets and an annual return of 7% on the assets held by the consortium,  

   the break-even unit price before Growthpoint is at risk of non-payment in 2016 is  

   calculated at R11.01 per Growthpoint linked unit.

   b) Derivatives and cash and cash equavalents

   Exposure to credit risk is limited by investing liquid funds and entering into  

   derivative financial instruments with counterparties who have a high percentage  

   tier one capital and strong credit ratings assigned by international credit rating  

   agencies.

    c) Other investments

   Exposure to credit risk is spread between the investment in various entities,  

   of which the following are the most significant:

    i)  Paramount Property Fund Limited 

    ii)  Metboard Properties Limited 

    iii)  Growthpoint Securitisation Warehouse Trust

    iv) Growthpoint Management Services (Pty) Limited   

   No impairments have been accounted for on these investments in the current year.   

   The investments are supported by property assets with a fair value of R13 578 million  

   (2007: R10 695 million), and total non-current financial liabilities with a fair value  

   of R3 917 million (2007: R4 214 million).  Intangible assets with a recoverable  

   amount of R1 832 million were raised in respect of the Property Services  

   Businesses acquisition.

   The property assets are located in various sectors as follows:

 5 010 4 142 – Industrial   

 5 708 3 897 – Office   

 2 860 2 656 – Retail   

 13 578 10 695      

   The non-current financial liabilities are spread among various providers of  

   finance as follows:

 2 500 2 635 – Investec Bank Limited    

 762 674 – ABSA Bank Limited    

 655 652 – RMB Limited    

 – 215 – Nedbank Limited    

 – 38 – Standard Bank Limited    

 3 917 4 214      

    d) Trade receivables

   The group’s exposure to credit risk is mainly in respect of the tenants and is  

   influenced by the individual characteristics of each tenant.  The group’s wide- 

   spread tenant base reduces credit risk.
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   41 Financial risk management (continued)

   Management has established a credit policy under which each new tenant is  

   analysed individually for creditworthiness before the group’s standard payment  

   terms and conditions are offered which include, in the majority of cases, the  

   provision of a deposit of at least one month’s rental.  When available, the group’s  

   credit review includes external ratings.

   Impairment losses have been recorded  for those debts whose recovery was not  

   reasonably assured at year-end. The maximum credit exposure at balance sheet  

   date was R45 million (2007: R28 million).

 

   41.2 Market risk

   a) Interest rate risk

   The group is exposed to interest rate risk and adopts a policy of ensuring that at  

   least 75% of its exposure to changes in interest rates on borrowings is on a fixed  

   rate basis.  This is achieved by entering into receive variable and pay fixed interest  

   rate swaps.  All such transactions are carried out within the guidelines set by 

   executive management. As a consequence, the group is exposed to fair value  

   interest rate risk in respect of the fair value of its fixed rate financial instruments,  

   which will not have an impact on distributions. Short-term receivables and  

   payables and investments are not directly exposed to interest rate risk.

   It is estimated that for the year ended 30 June 2008, a 1% increase (or decrease)  

   in interest rates would have decreased (increased) the company’s profit before  

   debenture interest by  approximately R7,7 million (2007: R8,6 million).

    The expiry profile of fixed interest rate contracts is shown in the “Directors’review    

   of operations”.

   Refer to note 19 for the fixed interest rate exposure on long-term loans.

    b) Currency risk

    The group has no exposure to currency risk.

    c) Other market price risk

   Equity price risk arises from the investment in listed investments which are  

   carried at fair value.  Fair value adjustments are recognised directly in equity.   

   All buy and sell decisions are approved by executive  management.

   41.3 liquidity risk

   Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial  

   obligations as they fall due.  The group’s policy is to seek to optimise its exposure  

   to liquidity risk by balancing its exposure to interest rate risk and to refinancing risk. 

   In effect the group seeks to borrow for as long as possible at the lowest  

   acceptable cost. The group regularly reviews the maturity profile of its financial 

   liabilities and seeks to avoid concentration of maturities through the regular  

   replacement of facilities and by using a selection of maturity dates.

   The tables below set out the maturity analysis of the group’s financial liabilities  

   based on the undiscounted contractual cash flows.

   No interest payments have been included as the amounts involved are dependent 

   on future changes in interest rates.
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30 June 2008
Company

Within 1 year 
Rm

1 – 2 years
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2 – 5 years
Rm

Over 5 years
Rm

total
Rm

30 June 2008
Group

Within 1 year 
Rm

1 – 2 years
Rm

2 – 5 years
Rm

Over 5 years
Rm

total
Rm

 Non-current liabilities – debentures  – – – 32 023   32 023  

 Interest bearing borrowings      

 (secured by investment property)   –  1 566   5 727   2 118  9 411 

 Non-interest bearing borrowings      

 (secured by investment property)  – –  153  –  153 

 Non-interest bearing borrowings      

 (unsecured)  – –  24  –  24 

 Linked unitholders for interest and dividends   711  – – –  711 

 Trade and other payables  638  –   –  –   638 

  1 349   1 566   5 904   34 141   42 960 

  

      
Non-current liabilities – debentures  – – – 32 023    32 023 

 Interest bearing borrowings      

 (secured by investment property)  –   1 566   2 213   1 378  5 157 

 Non-interest bearing borrowings      

 (secured by investment property)  –  96   57  –  153 

 Non-interest bearing borrowings      

 (unsecured)  –  24  – –  24 

 Linked unitholders for interest and dividends   711  – – –  711 

 Trade and other payables   323   –  –   –   323

 

  1 034   1 686   2 270   33 401   38 391

      

Non-current liabilities – debentures  – – –  26 853  26 853  

 Interest bearing borrowings      

 (secured by investment property)   53   1 056   4 905   2 077   8 091 

 Non-interest bearing borrowings      

 (secured by investment property)  – –  153  –  153 

 Non-interest bearing borrowings      

 (unsecured)  – –  24  –  24 

 B Debentures   7  – – –  7 

 Linked unitholders for interest and dividends   521  – – –  521 

 Trade and other payables   329   13   28   15   385

 

  910   1 069   5 110  28 945  36 034 
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30 June 2007
Company

within 1 year 
rm

1 – 2 years
rm

2 – 5 years
rm

over 5 years
rm

Total
rm

 Non-current liabilities – debentures  – – –  26 853   26 853 

 Interest bearing borrowings      

 (secured by investment property)   53   703   2 256   711   3 723 

 Non-interest bearing borrowings      

 (secured by investment property)  – –  153  –  153 

 Non-interest bearing borrowings (unsecured)  – –  24  –  24 

 Linked unitholders for interest and dividends   521  – – –  521 

 Trade and other payables   158   6   13   7   184

 

  732   709   2 446  27 571   31 458 

   Cash flows are monitored on a monthly basis to ensure that cash resources are  

   adequate to meet the funding requirements of the group.

    In terms of covenants with certain banks, the nominal value of long-term 

   interest bearing borrowings may not exceed 50% of the value of  

   non-current assets.

    Value of property assets and investments  28 340 22 632

   50% thereof  14 170 11 316

    Nominal value of borrowings utilised at year end  9 411 8 091

    Potential borrowing capacity  4 759 3 225

    Facilities available in terms of existing agreements at year end  245 938

    Facilities available in terms of agreements concluded after year end  3 000 –

   41.4 Derivatives

   Derivative instruments are used to hedge the company’s exposure to any  

   increases in interest rates on variable rate loans.

   Swap contracts are entered into, whereby the company swaps its variable rate  

   obligation for a fixed rate obligation.
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    Amount Start End  
   R’000 date date Pay 
 
   Details of the interest rate swap contracts at 30 June 2008 are as follows:

Swap  1   702 500  1-Mar-09 28-Feb-24 15.42%

Swap  2   702 500  1-Mar-09 28-Feb-11 Jibar

Swap  3   658 000  31-Dec-07 31-Dec-20 8.47%

Swap  4   650 000  31-May-07 31-May-19 8.56%

Swap  5   600 000  1-Aug-11 3-Jul-16 7.56%

Swap  6   600 000  10-Nov-09 10-Nov-11 9.45%

Swap  7   500 000  2-Sep-11 1-Sep-17 8.63%

Swap  8   500 000  2-Sep-11 3-Sep-18 8.61%

Swap  9   500 000  30-Jun-08 30-Jun-21 9.45%

Swap  10   450 000  3-Mar-09 31-May-21 8.46%

Swap  11   400 000  10-Nov-09 11-Nov-13 9.43%

Swap  12   366 000  10-Nov-09 10-Nov-14 9.42%

Swap  13   300 000  3-Mar-06 3-Mar-11 7.65%

Swap  14   255 000  2-Aug-10 2-Aug-12 8.53%

Swap  15   255 000  2-Aug-10 3-Aug-15 8.69%

Swap  16   250 000  30-Sep-08 30-Sep-18 9.73%

Swap  17   250 000  31-Dec-08 31-Dec-18 9.68%

Swap  18   200 000  1-Aug-11 28-Nov-14 7.78%

Swap  19   200 000  10-Nov-09 12-Nov-12 9.43%

Swap  20   200 000  7-Feb-06 3-Mar-09 7.31%

Swap  21   183 750  2-Sep-05 30-Sep-15 8.25%

Swap  22   67 500  1-Aug-11 31-Aug-13 7.91%

Swap  23   65 000  1-Aug-11 15-Oct-15 7.89%

Swap  24   52 645  2-Jan-07 30-Sep-16 8.35%

Swap  25   51 000  6-Nov-09 31-May-21 8.36%

Swap  26   51 000  31-Jul-07 6-Nov-09 8.83%

Swap  27   50 000  31-Jul-06 27-Jul-11 8.78%

Swap  28   36 175  31-Jul-07 23-Mar-10 11.15%

Swap  29   20 000  2-Sep-05 30-Sep-15 8.25%

Swap  30   5 028  2-Jan-07 30-Sep-16 8.35%

   42 Capital management

   In terms of its articles of association, Growthpoint has unlimited borrowing  

   capacity. Growthpoint is funded partly by linked units or owner’s capital and  

   partly by external borrowings. The linked units each comprise a share of 5 cents  

   linked to 10 debentures with a nominal value of R2.50 each.

   In terms of various covenants that Growthpoint is committed to in terms of its  

   external borrowings, the maximum value of external borrowings as a percentage  

   of the value of property assets is 50%. In practice, Growthpoint aims to keep  

   gearing levels between 35% and 50% over the long-term. At 30 June 2008, the  

   nominal value of borrowings was equal to 34.5% of the value of property assets.

   During the year the company raised R1,65 billion of owners’ capital through the  

   issue of 100 million new linked units. This was done to partly fund the R3,4 billion  

   of acquisitions and developments that were brought onto the balance sheet during  

   the year.
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   42 Capital management (continued)

   The board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base, comprising its unitholders’ 

   interest, so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain 

   future development of the business. It is the group’s stated purpose to deliver 

   long-term sustainable growth in distributions per unit. At least 99% of net profits, 

   as defined in the debenture trust deed, are distributed on a six monthly basis. 

   The board of directors monitors the level of distributions to unitholders and 

   ensures compliance with the terms of the debenture trust deed and that no profits 

   of a capital nature are distributed. There were no changes in the group’s approach 

   to capital management during the year. Neither the company nor any of its  

   subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

   43 Estimation of fair value

    The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating 

    the fair values of financial instruments:

    listed property investments

    Listed property investments are designated as held at fair value through profit  

   or loss financial assets on the basis that these investments are managed and  

   their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with a  

   documented risk management or investment strategy and the quarterly reports  

   presented to the board are prepared on this basis.

   These assets are valued at the closing quoted market prices of the listed units  

   on the balance sheet date.

    trade and other receivables

    These are valued at their nominal value (less cumulative impairment losses) as  

   the time value of money is immaterial for these current assets. Impairment  

   losses are estimated at the year end by reviewing amounts outstanding and  

   assessing the likelihood of recoverability.

    Other investments

    Investments in subsidaries and the Growthpoint Securitisation Warehouse Trust  

   are held at fair value. Changes in the fair values of the individual assets and  

   liabilities will impact on the fair value adjustment required for investments.

    Non-current liabilities (excluding debentures) at fair value

   In line with its business model as a property loan stock entity, the group relies  

   on long-term debt to fund the acquisition of investment properties. The group 

   adopts the fair value model to measure investment properties, with fair value 

   adjustments being recorded through profit or loss. In order to eliminate any  

   mismatch that would otherwise arise from measuring non-current liabilities  

   on a different basis. Non-current liabilities are also measured at fair value  

   through profit or loss. The value of these liabilities is estimated using a  

   discounted cash flow analysis. Each future cash flow is discounted using the  

   market rate indicated on the interest rate curve (see definition below) at the  

   dates when the cash flows will take place.

   Debentures

    Debentures are designated as financial liabilities held at fair value through profit  

   or loss. It is believed that this method results in the most relevant measure of  

   the debenture liability as it represents the net asset value attributable to debenture  

   holders after all other liabilities and tangible assets are reflected at fair values.  

   In addition, this method eliminates possible measurement inconsistencies that  

   may arise by valuing the debenture liability on some other basis. These instruments  

   are measured initially at fair value, which is nominal value less debenture  

   discount, and subsequently at fair value. Fair value represents the net asset value  

   attributable to debenture holders after adjusting all other tangible assets and  

   liabilities (excluding goodwill and other intangible assets) to fair value. Until such  

   time as the debenture discount is fully amortised, the net change in fair value of  

   the assets and liabilities will increase or decrease the carrying amount of the  

70



71

Company 
2008 Rm

Company 
2007 rm

Group 
2008 Rm

Group 
2007 rm

   debentures excluding intangible assets. Once the debenture discount has been  

   fully utilised, any increase in net asset value will increase the reserves attributable  

   to ordinary shareholders.

    Derivative financial instruments

    Derivative financial instruments consist of interest rate swaps and are valued by  

   discounting future cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract  

   applying the market rate indicated on the interest rate curve (see definition below)  

   at the dates when the cash flows will take place.

    trade and other payables

    Trade and other payables are valued at their nominal value as the time value of  

   money is immaterial for these current liabilities.

    Definition of the “interest rate curve”

    The interest rate curve is the SA swap curve which represents a benchmark  

   interest rate curve for all Jibar-related transactions in the market. Jibar itself is  

   a benchmark short-term interest rate and, as such, the swap curve gives a  

   representation of future expectations of Jibar. It is constructed using both short- 

   dated financial instruments (such as forward rate agreements) as well as longer  

   dated instruments (such as swaps) where the movements in the curve are  

   reflected through price changes of the underlying instruments.

   44 acquisition of Property services Businesses  
   (2007: Paramount property portfolio)

   On 1 July 2007 the group acquired the fund management business and property  

   management business and all related activities (Property Services Businesses)  

   from Investec Property Group Limited (“IPG”) and the BEE partners for a  

   consideration of R1,5 billion, settled by the issue of 98.3 million new linked units  

   (2007: The Paramount acquisition was financed by issuing 1 new Growthpoint  

   linked unit for every 1.44 Paramount linked units and the effective date was  

   31 December 2006).

   The fair value of the assets and liabilities of the Property Services Business  

   acquired at the effective date were as follows (2007: Paramount):

   Intangible asset - right to manage property   1 483 –

   Equipment   3 –

   Deferred tax liability   (387) –

   Investment property  –  3 495

   Listed investment  –  9

   Trade and other receivables  –  66

   Debentures  –  (7)

   Interest bearing borrowings  –  (1 463)

   Taxation  –  (2)

   Current liabilities  –  (147)

   Cash and cash equivalents acquired  –  81

        1 099  2 032

   Cash and cash equivalents acquired  –  (81)

        1 099  1 951

   Consideration on acquisition:   (1 547)  (1 951)

   – units issued for the acquisition   (1 542)  (1 778)

   – cash outflow on the acquisition   (5)  (173)

   Goodwill raised    448  –
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 Number 
of  

properties 

 GLA  
m² 

 Vacancy  
 m² 

 Vacancy  
% 

 Value  
Rm 

 Value/m2 
Rands 

 Gross 
rental (per 
m²/month) 

Rands 

Forward 
yield 

% 

offiCe Portfolio 

High Rise Offices  20  250 882  4 813 1.9%  3 441.9  11 254  82.05 8.4%

Low Rise Offices  59  321 053  17 884 5.6%  3 200.0  9 643  87.59 9.0%

Office Parks  48  435 110  31 499 7.2%  3 848.3  8 643  82.27 8.9%

Office/Warehouse  1  63 433  311 0.5%  337.4  5 057  49.00 10.1%

Mixed use: Office and Retail  1  6 433  758 11.8%  73.2  11 377  120.20 7.3%

Hotels  1  19 233  – 0.0%  126.3  6 568  56.79 9.1%

Hospitals  1  11 194  – 0.0%  187.5  16 749  131.94 9.7%

Other  7  22 218  – 0.0%  169.5  5 401  117.35           –

total office  138  1 129 556  55 265 4.9%  11 384.1  9 392  82.76 8.7%

retAil Portfolio 

Regional Shopping Centres  12  485 969  8 796 1.8%  5 752.6  11 776  96.44 8.5%

Community Shopping Centres  14  302 640  9 863 3.3%  2 849.8  9 416  83.69 9.1%

Neighbourhood Shopping Centres  20  144 931  7 571 5.2%  928.3  6 405  69.17 9.7%

Retail Warehouses  1  3 914  – 0.0%  11.0  2 810  25.49 8.4%

Speciality Centres  2  13 260  – 0.0%  119.9  9 042  85.95 9.9%

Other  6  660  – 0.0%  29.5           –           –           –

total retail  55  951 374  26 230 2.8%  9 691.1  10 124  88.03 8.8%

iNDUStriAl Portfolio 

Warehousing  124  1 238 607  16 942 1.4%  2 947.7  2 244  21.26 10.1%

Retail Warehouses  12  105 004  3 043 2.9%  392.4  3 737  38.62 10.4%

Motor-related Outlets  14  41 669  1 0.0%  209.2  5 020  47.62 9.9%

Mini Units  19  158 253  3 326 2.1%  494.5  3 093  32.24 9.2%

Midi Units  8  101 477  7 655 7.5%  280.7  2 711  28.76 10.5%

Maxi Units  5  200 374  9 761 4.9%  450.1  2 179  24.37 8.8%

Low grade Industrial  28  233 064  2 770 1.2%  436.3  1 811  17.20 9.0%

High–tech Industrial  12  93 562  – 0.0%  357.5  3 769  35.41 10.0%

High grade Industrial  21  159 815  4 792 3.0%  602.0  3 765  29.30 9.0%

total industrial  243  2 331 825  48 290 2.1%  6 170.4  2 555  24.55 9.8%

total Growthpoint  436  4 412 755  129 785 2.9%  27 245.6  6 027  52.08 9.0%

ProPerty Portfolio

At 30 JuNe 2008
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Property name Location GLA 
m2

June 08
Value  

Rm

Value per m2 
(excluding 

land) Rands

Average gross 
rental per m2 

Rands

High rise offices  250 882  3 441.9 11 254 82.05

1 Investec Sandton Sandton  46 945  1 197.0 25 498 121.43

2 Montclare Claremont, Cape Town  development  439.5 14 978  development

3 Investec Cape Town CBD, Cape Town  12 836  318.7 24 836 147.80

4 Fredman Towers Sandton  13 730  184.8 13 461 102.69

5 33 Bree Street CBD, Cape Town  12 382  150.0 12 114 70.76

6 Paramount Place Claremont, Cape Town  11 959  126.6 10 590 74.97

7 Forum Building CBD, Pretoria  35 345  126.4 3 575 37.19

8 11 Adderley Street CBD, Cape Town   development  122.7 5 543  development

9 Newlands on Main Claremont, Cape Town  12 756  119.3 9 352 87.26

10 The Terraces CBD, Cape Town  11 710  110.0 9 394 90.05

11 Fairview Office Park Port Elizabeth  16 769  101.2 6 035 53.90

12 Aventis Midrand, Johannesburg  7 909  81.4 10 286 79.21

13 Metropark CBD, Pretoria  18 752  69.0 3 679 86.90

14 De Waterkant Greenpoint, Cape Town  5 478  61.0 11 135 92.41

15 Infotech Hatfield, Pretoria  10 198  57.5 5 640 59.09

16 Meersig Centurion, Pretoria  5 588  57.4 6 323 55.88

17 174 Visagie Street CBD, Pretoria  13 619  49.2 3 611 65.47

18 Rosebank College CBD, Cape Town  5 406  34.0 6 289 57.73

19 Braamfontein 4410 Braamfontein, Johannesburg  5 620  20.8 3 701 39.01

20 115 Paul Kruger CBD, Pretoria  3 880  15.4 3 957 67.38

low rise offices  321 053  3 200.0 9 643 87.59

1 The Place Sandton  32 636  580.0 17 772 132.73

2 The District Woodstock, Cape Town  7 357  262.2 15 113 237.74

3 IBM Sandton, Johannesburg  14 077  163.7 11 630 95.63

4 ABSA – Midrand Midrand  11 408  119.0 10 430 89.72

5 160 Jan Smuts Avenue Rosebank, Johannesburg  15 411  113.7 7 378 75.56

6 Longkloof CBD, Cape Town  11 635  100.0 8 595 81.23

7 Greenacres Office Park Newton Park, Port Elizabeth  12 238  98.3 8 033 54.69

8 MTN Mount Edgecombe Mount Edgecombe, Durban  7 013  83.9 11 956 119.85

9 HP Autumn Road Rivonia, Sandton  10 617  80.9 6 887 73.39

10 Sovereign Greenpoint, Cape Town  7 538  78.4 10 398 85.55

11 Grosvenor Corner Parktown North, Johannesburg  9 414  69.9 7 427 88.58

12 Brookfield Office Park Brooklyn, Pretoria  7 281  67.7 9 302 89.30

13 Landbank Brooklyn, Pretoria  4 713  67.6 14 341 123.58

14 Engen House Parktown, Johannesburg 7 501 55.7 7 432 80.06

15 5, 7 & 9 St Davids Parktown, Johannesburg  11 592  55.7 4 801 60.36

16 Homestead Place Rivonia, Sandton  5 380  53.8 10 000 76.78

17 Sunset Boulevard George  10 352  49.5 4 782 52.99

18 Cowey Park Durban  7 084  49.3 6 964 74.54

19 Gestetner Bedfordview, Johannesburg  4 438  48.7 10 967 88.92

20 Cradock Heights Rosebank, Johannesburg  4 596  44.6 9 711 98.56

21 68 Oak Avenue Centurion, Pretoria  4 734  43.8 9 261 86.19

22 N1 Medical Chambers Goodwood, Cape Town  4 450  42.7 9 594 87.85

23 BCX – Port Elizabeth Port Elizabeth  5 567  39.4 7 077 60.92

24 70 Grayston Sandton  3 901  39.2 10 044 85.08

25 24 Peter Place Lyme Park, Sandton  3 874  37.7 9 731 80.02

26 Autopage Midrand  5 545  35.5 6 394 77.03
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27 Altech Autopage Waterfall Park, Midrand  2 699  35.1 13 001 87.45

28 Primegro Place Illovo, Sandton  3 557  34.1 9 586 69.83

29 Meerlus Centurion, Pretoria  5 470  34.0 6 211 68.79

30 EDS Bedfordview Bedfordview  4 337  33.9 7 816 73.29

31 The Boulevard Westville, Durban  2 576  33.0 12 809 101.71

32 ADT House Goodwood, Cape Town  4 797  32.9 6 857 60.76

33 Homechoice Claremont, Cape Town  4 042  30.5 7 542 69.87

34 Honeywell Midrand  3 749  29.4 7 837 47.38

35 61 Central Avenue Houghton, Johannesburg  3 607  29.2 8 107 71.59

36 Devcon Place Rivonia, Sandton  3 620  29.0 8 011 69.49

37 The Avalon Gardens, Cape Town  4 762  29.0 6 090 57.43

38 140 Daisy Street Sandton  2 498  24.4 9 787 121.31

39 ABSA Cash Centre Westville, Durban  2 359  23.0 9 737 91.44

40 25 Rudd Road Illovo, Johannesburg  3 146  22.5 7 145 80.13

41 5 Sturdee Avenue Rosebank, Johannesburg  3 634  21.3 5 868 84.54

42 295 Florida Road Morningside, Durban  2 553  21.3 8 352 79.76

43 The Ridge Parktown, Johannesburg  3 651  20.7 5 677 70.08

44 Endemol Productions Lonehill, Sandton  1 909  20.2 10 600 93.26

45 ABSA – Bruma Bruma Lake, Johannesburg  2 150  19.6 9 101 67.17

46 103 Central Street Houghton, Johannesburg  2 362  18.9 8 017 90.00

47 166 Jan Smuts Avenue Rosebank, Johannesburg  3 591  18.9 5 262 69.53

48 Dunkeld Office Park Dunkeld West, Johannesburg  2 116  17.5 8 260 85.41

49 Lumley House Parktown North, Johannesburg  2 742  17.2 6 283 78.07

50 PWC Paarl Paarl, Cape Town  1 563  16.5 10 547 84.03

51 M & R Bedfordview Bedfordview, Johannesburg  1 668  15.6 9 362 84.09

52 Emerson Energy Systems Sunninghill, Sandton  1 884  15.3 8 109 58.83

53 Sony House Dunkeld West, Johannesburg  1 445  14.7 10 142 81.58

54 Fedics Rosebank, Johannesburg  1 988  13.8 6 947 76.82

55 Nu Payment Solutions Meyersdal, Johannesburg  1 206  11.1 9 218 100.74

56 Varsity College Gardens, Cape Town  1 750  11.0 6 286 72.02

57 ABSA – Goodwood Goodwood, Cape Town  1 134  10.9 9 595 84.06

58 6 Georgian Crescent Bryanston, Sandton  897  8.3 9 285 80.17

59 MLT House Gardens, Cape Town  1 239  6.3 5 085 51.34

office Parks  435 110  3 848.3 8 643 82.27

1 Constantia Office Park Weltevreden Park, Roodepoort  70 966  662.8 9 342 75.96

2 Hatfield Gardens Hatfield, Pretoria  25 253  226.7 8 976 70.74

3 Central Park Midrand  34 243  215.4 6 232 68.50

4 Sunnyside Ridge Office Park Parktown, Johannesburg  27 663  203.8 7 366 68.14

5 Riverpark Mowbray, Cape Town  12 513  145.0 11 588 54.60

6 Sandton Close 1 Sandton  12 671  141.9 11 197 55.39

7 Gillooly's View Bedfordview, Johannesburg  19 379  139.5 7 199 68.61

8 BCX – Century City Montague Gardens, Cape Town  11 204  139.3 12 435 69.15

9 Grayston Office Park Sandton  13 453  131.9 9 806 72.22

10 Belmont Towers Rondebosch, Cape Town  14 447  121.8 8 434 70.96

11 The Oval Newlands, Cape Town  7 659  109.0 14 231 110.63

12 The Estuaries Milnerton, Cape Town 2 330  97.1 8 434 70.96

13 Tulbach Park Colbyn, Pretoria  16 770  93.9 5 597 59.40

14 BCX – Midrand DQE Midrand  12 305  89.8 7 298 46.80
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15 1 Montgomery Mount Edgecombe, Durban  10 376  89.8 8 650 72.54

16 Ogilvy Bryanston, Johannesburg  7 986  89.2 10 956 73.90

17 Healthcare Park Woodmead, Sandton  13 284  87.3 6 573 83.03

18 The Oval Bryanston, Sandton  9 760  84.8 8 690 71.17

19 Sandton Close 2 Sandton  12 062  83.3 6 908 87.94

20 Eton Office Park Bryanston, Johannesburg  8 670  75.5 8 705 77.96

21 Deloitte Consulting Midrand, Johannesburg  6 206  73.4 11 833 84.60

22 BCX – Durban 2 La Lucia Ridge, Durban  4 906  56.8 11 578 77.99

23 Belvedere Office Park Bellville, Cape Town  5 767  53.6 9 294 80.62

24 Pinewood Office Park Woodmead, Sandton  6 137  45.7 7 451 83.55

25 Homestead Park Rivonia, Sandton  8 141  42.8 5 255 63.48

26 ABSA Frosterley La Lucia,  Durban  3 167  40.2 12 690 115.23

27 BCX – Midrand ABC Midrand  5 459  37.4 6 845 44.63

28 Sandhurst B & C Sandton development  36.5  –   development

29 Edgecombe Office Park Umhlanga,  Durban  4 381  35.5 8 108 82.49

30 Morningside Close Morningside, Bryanston  4 235  35.5 8 381 79.74

31 Ditsela Hatfield, Pretoria  2 876  34.6 12 023 97.47

32 Standard Bank U.R. Umhlanga Ridge, Durban  3 287  34.5 10 496 93.06

33 E & PC Sunninghill, Sandton  3 457  31.5 9 112 85.37

34 Lakeside Office Park Centurion, Pretoria  3 141  26.4 8 413 72.41

35 IDCS Midrand  3 074  25.5 8 311 76.80

36 La Rocca Bryanston, Johannesburg  2 683  25.0 9 300 77.64

37 Rosebank Office Park Parktown North, Johannesburg  3 862  24.4 6 327 –39.46

38 Chiselhurston  Chiselhurston, Sandton  2 177  23.1 10 619 104.68

39 BCX – Durban 1 La Lucia Ridge, Durban  2 509  24.1 9 604 88.45

40 Fiat Midrand  1 818  19.4 10 677 81.16

41 Pavilion Office Park Rivonia, Sandton  3 049  16.1 5 273 62.48

42 Galileo House Bruma, Johannesburg  1 637  13.6 8 299 74.98

43 257 Oxford Road Illovo, Sandton  2 789  13.5 4 824 76.65

44 St Peters Square Fourways, Sandton  1 947  11.5 5 915 54.16

45 BCX – Durban 3 La Lucia Ridge, Durban  939  11.1 11 821 79.61

46 Oakhill Fourways, Randburg  1 373  10.7 7 777 79.35

47 Fountain Grove Hyde Park, Johannesburg  1 930  9.5 4 923 78.93

48 9 Frosterley La Lucia, Durban  1 169  8.6 7 348 87.04

office/Warehouse  63 433  337.4 5 057 49.00

1 Growthpoint Business Park Midrand  63 433  337.4 5 057 49.00

Mixed use: office and retail  6 433  73.2 11 377 120.20

1 Menlyn Piazza Menlyn, Pretoria  6 433  73.2 11 377 120.20

Hotel  19 233  126.3 6 568 56.79

1 Holiday Inn Durban  19 233  126.3 6 568 56.79

Hospital  11 194  187.5 16 749 131.94

1 N1 City Hospital Goodwood, Cape Town  11 194  187.5 16 749 131.94

long lease office properties  15 887  120.0 7 553 137.93

1 Ernst & Young Illovo, Sandton  11 013  92.0 8 354 168.54

2 CDE Houghton Houghton, Johannesburg  2 000  17.3 8 650 2.21

3 Merck Linbro Park, Johannesburg  2 874  10.7 3 723 115.10
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Bare Dominiums  6 331 65.69

1 540 Pretorius Street CBD, Pretoria  6 331 65.69

Vacant land  –  49.5  –   

1 The Boulevard Umhlanga, Durban  19.3  –   

2 Lincoln on the Lake Umhlanga, Durban  17.8  –   

3 Mayfair on the Lake Umhlanga, Durban  12.4  –   

138 totAl offiCe  1 129 556  11 384.1 9 392  82.76 

Paramount Place
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regional Shopping Centres  485 969  5 752.6  11 776 96.44

1 Brooklyn Mall Brooklyn, Pretoria 54 810  1 028.7 18 769 139.36 

2 Waterfall Mall Rustenburg 49 991  755.8 15 118 112.44 

3 La Lucia Mall La Lucia, Durban 36 138  565.4 15 647 135.07 

4 Lakeside Mall  (87.2%) Benoni 51 153  553.9 10 828 82.60 

5 Kolonnade (50%) Montana Park, Pretoria 34 330  540.2 15 735 119.37 

6 Northgate  (50%) North Riding, Johannesburg 45 535  473.2 10 392 81.28

7 Woodmead Retail Woodmead, Johannesburg 52 333  500.1 9 557 85.22 

8 River Square Centre Three Rivers, Vereeniging 38 883  449.5 10 919 91.59 

9 Longbeach    Noordhoek, Cape Town 30 563  293.0 9 423 99.91 

10 The Avenues Springs 36 974  244.9 6 623 61.15 

11 Alberton City (35.7%) Alberton 13 626  192.9 14 157 102.64 

12 Game City Greyville, Durban 41 633  155.0 3 723 49.08 

Community Shopping Centres  302 640  2 849.8  9 416 83.69

1 Constantia Village Constantia, Cape Town 20 396  457.0 22 407 157.85 

2 Walmer Walmer Park, Port Elizabeth 34 002  427.2 12 563 93.89 

3 Golden Acre CBD, Cape Town 33 739  310.0 9 188 102.34 

4 Beacon Bay East London 26 861  275.7 10 264 89.67 

5 Hatfield Plaza Hatfield, Pretoria 19 336  223.1 11 538 110.75 

6 Gustav Voigts Windhoek 24 714  214.6 8 681 70.83 

7 City Mall Klerksdorp 18 062  190.9 10 567 68.84

8 Middestad Mall Belville, Cape Town 20 134  193.4 9 607 105.01

9 Picbel CBD, Cape Town 14 040  140.0 9 972 73.46 

10 Mark Park Vereeniging 21 288  126.7 5 952 62.67 

11 Meadowdale Value Centre Germiston 18 346  97.3 9 305 59.33 

12 Centurion South Lake 1 & 2 Centurion, Pretoria 13 087  81.1 6 199 60.12 

13 Arcadia Centre Arcadia, Pretoria 25 227  57.5 2 280 31.03 

14 Goodwood Mall Goodwood, Cape Town 13 408  55.3 4 124 46.76 

Neighbourhood Shopping Centres  144 931  928.3  6 405 69.17

1 Heritage Market Hillcrest, Durban 14 227  113.7 7 993 91.84 

2 Lighthouse Mall Umhlanga Rocks, Durban 8 264  94.7 11 456 109.21 

3 Ruimsig Boulevard Roodepoort 11 655  66.7 5 721 59.93 

4 The Bridge CBD, Johannesburg 8 861  65.5 7 392 92.86 

5 Hatfield Mall Hatfield, Pretoria 6 283  58.0 9 235 49.27 

6 Norkem Mall Norkem Park, Kempton Park 9 319  57.5 6 172 72.00 

7 Atlasville Atlasville, Boksburg 9 444  52.6 5 567 59.67 

8 OK Springs (Palm Springs) Springs 14 344  51.9 3 619 53.64 

9 The Gallery Milnerton, Cape Town 5 307  44.7 8 426 79.20 

10 Northcliff Shopping Centre Northcliff, Johannesburg 5 280  42.7 8 074 77.59 

11 Grand Parade Centre CBD, Cape Town 9 032  41.0 4 540 63.09 

12 Blackheath Blackheath, Randburg 4 312  39.7 9 211 103.82 

13 OK Empangeni Empangeni, Durban 10 570  35.9 3 395 40.62 

14 Sportsmans W/house Tygervalley Belville, Cape Town 3 503  28.2 8 050 82.30 

15 Bronkhorstspruit Bronkhorstspruit 6 548  27.4 4 186 44.76 

16 Stanger Stanger, Durban 3 188  26.7 8 375 77.48 

17 Campus Building Hatfield, Pretoria 3 240  26.0 8 020 87.86 

18 Otjiwarongo Otjiwarongo, Namibia 5 770  21.6 3 748 46.23 
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19 Standard Plaza Hatfield, Pretoria 3 220  20.0 6 209 67.96 

20 Welkom Retail Welkom 2 564  13.8 5 376 51.86 

retail Warehouses  3 914  11.0  2 810 25.49

1 Amrel Alberton Alberton 3 914  11.0 2 810 25.49 

Speciality Centres  13 260  119.9  9 042 85.95

1 Waterfall Value Mart Rustenburg 10 010  105.3 10 519 97.59 

2 Virgin Active Three Rivers, Vereeniging 3 250  14.6 4 493 50.09 

Vacant land  660  29.5  –  – 

1 Tsogo Sun – Lakeside Benoni  –  12.5  –  – 

2 Erlank (vacant land) Brooklyn, Pretoria  –  7.5  –  – 

3 Waterfall Cashan (vacant land) Rustenburg  –  6.0  –  – 

4 River House Three Rivers, Vereeniging  660  3.5  –  – 

Bare Dominiums  –    –    –  – 

1 Jet Bloemfontein  –    –    –  – 

2 Edgars Bloemfontein  –    –    –  – 

55 totAl retAil  951 374  9 691.1 10 124 88.03 

Waterfall Mall
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Warehousing  1 238 607  2 947.7 2 244 21.26

1 Growthpoint Industrial Estate Meadowdale, Germiston  11 789  214.6  –   40.36

2 Midas Meadowdale Meadowdale, Germiston  18 981  112.7 5 936 64.04

3 226 Brakpan Road (Clover) Industria, Boksburg  47 516  105.9 2 228 22.38

4 Kulingile Isando, Germiston  49 000  105.3 2 149 17.35

5 Pine Industrial Park New Germany, Durban  40 238  81.6 2 028 23.80

6 10 Richard Carte Road Mobeni, Durban  19 578  73.8 3 770 34.76

7 Runway Park Mobeni, Durban  35 805  64.8 1 809 21.64

8 Fitzmaurice Epping,  Cape Town  37 029  61.5 1 660 16.93

9 Newmarket Industrial Alrode, Alberton  29 693  55.8 1 829 13.35

10 Imperial Germiston South, Germiston  27 696  49.6 1 790 17.55

11 Metkor Umbilo, Durban  21 442  47.0 2 191 24.69

12 Elvan Fishers Hill, Germiston  16 024  41.8 2 611 18.45

13 Gold Reef Park Booysens Reserve, Johannesburg  19 726  41.6 2 107 21.67

14 Gillits Road Industrial Park Pinetown, Durban  19 629  41.0 2 088 23.08

15 Pick 'n Pay Distribution Centre Mahogany Ridge, Durban  12 996  40.7 3 131 27.60

16 Dominic Corner Boksburg  7 737  39.2 1 408 17.23

17 Bunkers Hill Isipingo, Durban  10 032  38.9 3 876 35.98

18 OK Zandfontein Zandfontein, Johannesburg  18 457  37.8 2 047 19.99

19 Gundle Meadowbrook, Germiston  14 720  35.8 2 432 20.11

20 Chemserve Randjespark, Midrand  9 445  35.5 3 759 36.76

21 DCD Dorbyl Boksburg Boksburg  39 601  35.2 890 9.12

22 Meadowbrook Meadowbrook, Germiston  13 712  33.0 2 404 18.46

23 Chain Montague Gardens, Cape Town  12 698  32.7 2 573 23.18

24 Redwood Roodekop, Alberton  16 645  31.8 1 910 18.03

25 Global Isando, Kempton Park  8 327  31.5 3 787 26.10

26 Rushair Aeroton, Johannesburg  9 237  31.0 3 359 30.22

27 Premier Equipment Boksburg  12 436  30.5 2 454 16.16

28 Astron Denver, Johannesburg  12 313  30.1 2 268 22.14

29 Moorsom Epping, Cape Town  16 808  29.7 1 767 15.77

30 Prolecon Prolecon, Johannesburg  19 779  28.9 1 461 16.44

31 African Gabions Mahogany Ridge, Durban  5 314  28.4 5 344 45.29

32 Laser Clayville Erf 1007 Clayville, Midrand  9 645  28.3 2 931 25.54

33 Kwaford New Brighton, Port Elizabeth  10 234  28.1 2 749 15.08

34 Penraz Industria, Johannesburg  19 762  27.6 1 399 15.33

35 Laser Isipingo Erf 3686 Durban  6 881  27.6 4 005 42.46

36 Mandy Road Reuven, Johannesburg  15 611  26.9 1 723 16.80

37 Laser Cape Town Erf 32549 Epping, Cape Town  7 071  25.8 3 653 27.95

38 Alternator Montague Gardens, Cape Town  8 752  25.7 2 941 27.56

39 Belgrade Aeroport Industrial, Kempton Park  6 909  25.1 3 626 31.48

40 JDG Trading Roodekop, Germiston  33 139  24.8 748 8.25

41 Friedlander Stormill, Roodepoort  18 922  24.3 1 285 11.97

42 Olympic Parow, Cape Town  10 600  23.8 2 246 17.47

43 Foreshore Maydon Wharf, Durban  13 006  23.7 1 819 23.34

44 Avnett Kopp Kramerville, Johannesburg  4 433  23.5 5 294 64.23

45 Independence Square Ottery, Cape Town  10 830  22.9 2 117 20.90

46 Metro Cash & Carry East London  6 331  22.8 3 599 39.60
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47 Isowrench Isando, Kempton Park  4 078  22.0 5 398 51.43

48 DCD Dorbyl Duncanville Vereeniging  32 651  22.0 674 5.66

49 Boston Circle Airport Industria, Cape Town  7 623  20.6 2 699 36.04

50 GKN Chep Durban  14 156  19.5 1 380 14.54

51 Wasteman Airport Airport Industria, Cape Town  4 975  19.3 3 887 39.31

52 Osram Randjespark, Midrand  6 155  19.0 3 087 34.37

53 Triangle Wilbart Ext 2, Germiston  3 685  18.7 5 084 42.88

54 Wingfield Jet Park, Boksburg  6 558  18.3 2 792 25.20

55 Propower Parow, Cape Town  6 418  18.1 2 819 22.52

56 Hawland Midrand  5 252  17.8 3 398 27.44

57 Seaview Jacobs, Durban  8 736  17.7 2 027 24.07

58 Kelsteel Spartan, Kempton Park  9 119  16.7 1 828 15.31

59 Eskom Road New Germany, Durban  6 569  16.5 2 517 28.29

60 Westmead Factory Westmead, Durban  4 300  16.3 3 793 31.68

61 Goodenough Epping, Cape Town  8 526  16.3 1 906 17.35

62 Portion 35 Alrode Alrode, Alberton  10 333  16.0 1 549 17.47

63 Protrans Jet Park, Boksburg  5 439  15.8 2 913 26.41

64 Epping 2 Epping Industria, Cape Town  7 385  15.7 2 123 18.91

65 Montani Wynberg, Johannesburg  12 143  15.7 1 290 12.22

66 Metprop Cape Epping, Cape Town  12 541  15.5 1 237 17.47

67 Nuffield Nuffield, Springs  10 514  15.4 1 466 11.19

68 Fourwinds Montague Gardens, Cape Town  4 618  15.4 3 335 32.49

69 ADT Styline Pinetown, Durban  4 745  15.3 3 224 35.85

70 Loper Kempton Park  3 845  15.1 3 931 34.17

71 Hewitt Epping, Cape Town  7 031  14.9 2 122 13.59

72 Neon Fulcrum, Springs  10 927  14.9 1 359 8.67

73 PS Property Boksburg North, Boksburg  6 600  14.4 2 187 14.53

74 Goodrich Prospection, Durban  5 864  14.1 2 409 22.29

75 23 Herman Road (Volvo) Meadowdale, Germiston  3 514  14.0 3 985 34.63

76 Covora Jet Park, Boksburg  5 597  13.8 2 470 16.96

77 Vintonia Vintonia Extension 2, Nelspruit  2 910  13.3 4 568 44.73

78 Greystone Heliport Glen Anil, Durban  6 784  13.3 1 959 20.44

79 Garfield Alberton  7 806  13.2 1 688 12.76

80 Vinimark Bldg – Linbro Park Linbro Park, Midrand  2 800  13.0 4 651 42.72

81 DCD Dorbyl Newcastle Newcastle  22 269  12.9 579 7.11

82 Metro Cash and Carry Krugersdorp  4 501  12.2 2 717 27.98

83 Laser Commercial Erf 64 Commercia, Midrand  5 520  12.0 2 170 22.84

84 Sofia Spartan Ext 2, Kempton Park  2 963  12.0 4 035 36.44

85 Laser Commercial Erf 65 Commercia, Midrand  5 310  11.9 2 234 25.84

86 Alcom Centre Wynberg, Johannesburg  5 501  11.4 2 080 27.51

87 Watt Meadowdale Ext 4, Germiston  2 841  11.1 3 916 34.30

88 Alrode Erf 34 Alrode, Alberton  7 491  10.9 1 457 8.55

89 Low Cost Marketing Sunnyrock Ext 4, Germiston  3 017  10.7 3 543 36.14

90 Hulley Isando, Kempton Park  3 264  10.7 3 273 29.51

91 Vereeninging Rd 5 Alrode, Alberton  5 465  10.6 1 935 16.26

92 Rittel City Deep, Johannesburg  4 053  10.1 2 488 19.94

93 Kuhne & Nagel Airport Industria, Cape Town  2 941  10.0 3 385 39.29
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94 Novex Kramerville, Sandton  3 496  9.7 2 773 29.51

95 Bison Pretoria West, Pretoria  4 356  9.1 2 092 17.21

96 Serenade Elandsfontein, Boksburg  3 449  9.0 2 618 19.49

97 Burghers East London  3 972  9.0 2 271 19.03

98 Gemini Frankenwald, Sandton  1 431  8.7 6 080 44.34

99 Sarmcol Amalgam, Johannesburg  2 705  8.1 2 999 29.33

100 Laser New Brighton 66 Epping Industria, Port Elizabeth  4 041  8.1 2 000 21.93

101 Denmaree Denver, Johannesburg  5 500  8.0 1 462 14.71

102 Chadwick Wynberg, Sandton  1 828  7.8 4 287 24.57

103 Whitworth Heriotdale Ext 8, Johannesburg  3 197  7.8 2 434 19.52

104 Vereeninging St 36 Alrode, Alberton  4 962  7.6 1 535 13.38

105 Laser Commercial Erf 2 & 3 Commercia, Midrand  2 531  7.2 2 842 37.97

106 Gewel Isando, Kempton Park  2 199  7.0 3 167 29.14

107 Equitable Florida, Roodepoort  2 273  6.6 2 902 34.54

108 Sebenza 137 Sebenza, Edenvale  2 597  6.2 2 376 27.58

109 Metro Cash & Carry Vanderbijlpark  3 960  5.7 1 443 15.35

110 Afship Isando, Kempton Park  1 917  5.7 2 957 26.90

111 Alrode 242 Alrode, Alberton  3 447  5.4 1 578 14.59

112 Aeroton 7 of 17 Aeroton, Johannesburg  3 247  5.4 1 654 14.62

113 Epping 3 Epping Industria, Cape Town  2 962  5.3 1 803 14.60

114 Sky Park Airport Airport Industria, Cape Town  2 067  5.3 2 582 31.27

115 Laser Silvertondale Erf 203 Silvertondale, Pretoria  2 085  5.2 2 500 21.28

116 Epping 4 Epping Industria, Cape Town  2 345  5.2 2 217 19.00

117 Clarens Eastgate, Sandton  1 195  5.1 4 230 39.55

118 Fleming Meadowdale, Germiston  1 390  5.0 3 601 49.58

119 Salmart Alrode, Alberton  3 317  5.0 1 503 14.42

120 Engine Montague Gardens, Cape Town  1 730  4.6 2 639 29.27

121 Sheidan Waltloo, Pretoria  4 419  4.4 993 13.92

122 Epping 1 Epping, Cape Town  1 835  3.6 1 949 18.02

123 Epping 6 Epping, Cape Town  1 317  2.7 2 044 18.83

124 Laser Kimberley Erf 12802 Kimberley  975  1.5 1 587 13.58

retail Warehouses  105 004  392.4 3 737 38.62

1 Commercial City Strijdompark, Randburg  13 864  74.8 5 395 56.17

2 Fountains Motown Pretoria  12 345  70.0 5 668 63.11

3 Meadowdale Meadowdale, Germiston  15 119  68.7 4 545 43.13

4 Builders Market Middelburg  13 000  32.0 2 458 24.51

5 M1 Place Eastgate, Sandton  12 697  30.3 2 386 27.18

6 Gateway Alberton South, Alberton  5 997  25.9 4 319 52.99

7 Ilnov East London  9 427  23.3 2 466 23.64

8 Trador Witbank  9 570  20.5 2 142 22.60

9 Ormonde Ormonde, Johannesburg  2 762  15.5 5 620 59.80

10 Greenhills Centre Elandsfontein, Germiston  1 860  12.8 6 903 63.65

11 Isipingo 2257 Prospecton, Durban  5 769  12.6 2 189 27.52

12 Epping 5 Epping Industria, Cape Town  2 594  6.0 2 300 20.71

Motor-related outlets  41 669  209.2 5 020 47.62

1 Ellenby Motors Hatfield, Pretoria  5 542  43.5 7 856 62.32

2 Pasteur Northcliff, Johannesburg  3 074  31.4 10 224 129.22

3 Herron Booysens, Johannesburg  2 252  17.6 7 827 72.03
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Property name Location GLA 
m2

June 08
Value 

Rm

Value per m2 
(excluding 

land) Rands

Average gross 
rental per m2 

Rands

4 Norbertville Robertville, Roodepoort  5 061  16.8 3 326 29.63

5 Kentyre Randburg  2 306  15.6 6 771 57.40

6 Cornick Midrand  3 948  14.7 3 716 59.29

7 Bonanza Fordsburg, Johannesburg  2 002  12.0 5 998 43.64

8 N1 Tyre N1 City, Cape Town  1 345  11.2 8 290 73.37

9 Bardene Bardene, Boksburg  1 260  9.6 7 613 74.48

10 Stormain Florida, Roodepoort  2 972  9.6 3 245 18.73

11 Middelbeek Middelburg  3 428  9.5 2 757 23.55

12 Newton Park Newton Park, Port Elizabeth  947  6.4 6 741 59.71

13 Snowy Owl Pretoria  1 505  6.3 4 153 34.10

14 Gersident Germiston  6 027  5.0 830 6.44

Mini Units  158 253  494.5 3 093 32.24

1 Scientia Pretoria East, Pretoria  11 885  59.3 4 994 55.38

2 Eastgate Business Park Eastgate, Sandton  13 524  51.6 3 816 42.42

3 Knightsgate Driekoek, Germiston  8 129  48.7 5 375 31.34

4 Amalgam South Crown Ext 4, Johannesburg  16 271  46.6 2 866 30.60

5 Kya North Village Kya Sands, Randburg  13 524  35.2 2 605 29.87

6 Gallagher Place Halfway House, Midrand  8 579  29.7 3 457 33.81

7 Chelsea Road Industrial Park New Germany, Durban  11 510  27.4 2 378 26.96

8 Glen Murray Redhill, Durban  8 296  27.0 3 250 32.58

9 Fern Towers Ferndale Ext 20, Randburg  4 952  25.1 5 062 45.75

10 Isando Industrial Park Isando, Kempton Park  11 707  24.3 2 074 24.64

11 Ferndale Commercial Park Strijdom Park, Randburg  7 016  23.5 3 343 38.61

12 Trafford Park Pinetown, Durban  12 629  23.2 1 839 18.02

13 Palm River Pinetown, Durban  8 156  20.4 2 502 28.97

14 Asetileen Silvertondale Ext 1, Pretoria  4 861  12.6 2 602 27.72

15 Strijdom Park 347 Strijdom Park Ext 2, Randburg  4 654  10.6 2 278 25.50

16 Isando Industrial Isando, Kempton Park  4 932  10.3 2 093 24.68

17 Greystone Industrial Glen Anil, Durban  3 284  9.7 2 945 26.77

18 Devro Park Pinetown, Durban  3 944  7.4 1 884 29.22

19 Gazelle Cape Town Marconi Beam, Cape Town  400  1.9 4 683 46.10

Midi Units  101 477  280.7 2 711 28.76

1 Route 24 Meadowdale, Germiston  23 128  60.9 2 632 31.13

2 Galaxy Business Park Linbropark, Johannesburg  11 505  58.1 5 051 55.15

3 Westgate (50%) Pinetown, Durban  15 837  40.8 2 577 26.74

4 Anchor Industrial Boksburg  14 908  35.8 2 398 30.74

5 City Deep Production Park City Deep, Johannesburg  10 932  35.4 3 238 32.36

6 Route 41 Roodepoort, Johannesburg  12 556  20.6 1 642 14.13

7 Eagle Industrial Park (50%) Richards Bay  7 729  21.9 2 117 16.33

8 Rojolea Lea Glen, Roodepoort  4 882  7.2 1 477 15.80

Maxi Units  200 374  450.1 2 179 24.37

1 Hilltop Industrial Estate Elandsfontein, Germiston  69 129  162.1 2 149 24.44

2 Central Park (MB) Elsiesriver, Cape Town  49 135  117.0 2 381 23.76

3 Maitland Industrial Maitland, Cape Town  27 961  79.1 2 830 30.19

4 Omni Park Aeroton, Johannesburg  39 683  56.4 1 421 20.38

5 Lanner Place Falcon Park, Pinetown  14 466  35.5 2 457 26.10
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Property name Location GLA 
m2

June 08
Value 

Rm

Value per m2 
(excluding 

land) Rands

Average gross 
rental per m2 

Rands

low grade industrial  233 064  436.3 1 811 17.20

1 Gunners Epping, Cape Town  32 209  52.2 1 621 17.38

2 Monteer Isando, Kempton Park  29 136  46.8 1 605 14.29

3 Chamberlain Jacobs, Durban  12 497  27.3 2 185 22.40

4 Bofors 2 Epping, Cape Town  13 076  26.2 2 000 21.15

5 Kew Park Kew, Johannesburg  17 116  24.1 1 340 12.59

6 Maitland Maitland, Cape Town  9 729  20.3 2 084 23.41

7 Industry Road Isando Ext 2, Kempton Park  5 598  19.9 3 556 14.50

8 New Germany New Germany, Durban  10 154  16.0 1 578 18.70

9 Janhope Duncanville, Vereeniging  9 181  15.6 1 694 14.35

10 Maskew Isando, Kempton Park  7 652  13.8 1 799 10.30

11 Kinghall 1 Epping, Cape Town  4 950  13.5 2 720 21.35

12 Linus Parow, Cape Town  6 478  13.1 2 016 17.96

13 Regina Pinetown, Durban  6 326  12.8 2 019 22.03

14 Allen Road Elandsfontein, Germiston  2 761  12.6  –   19.58

15 Chamroy Chamdor, Krugersdorp  10 437  12.6 1 209 10.23

16 Westmead Pinetown, Durban  5 746  12.4 2 156 25.79

17 Italcraft Reuven, Johannesburg  6 673  11.8 1 767 17.84

18 Romatile Jet Park, Boksburg  4 535  10.9 2 409 13.69

19 North Reef Elandsfontein, Germiston  5 963  10.7 1 788 17.32

20 Airrand Wadeville, Germiston  3 632  9.8 2 687 15.79

21 Isando 103 Isando, Kempton Park  3 735  9.7 2 588 23.07

22 Grenville Epping Industria, Cape Town  9 162  8.8 962 13.44

23 Elevation Aeroport, Kempton Park  2 246  8.7 3 880 41.83

24 Dacres Epping, Cape Town  4 840  7.9 1 622 14.66

25 Isando 104 Isando, Kempton Park  2 345  5.2 2 218 20.97

26 Kinghall 2 Epping, Cape Town  2 482  4.7 1 882 17.50

27 Witdrich Witbank  2 476  4.6 1 862 16.64

28 Isando 107 Isando, Kempton Park  1 929  4.3 2 204 16.35

High–tech industrial  93 562  357.5 3 769 35.41

1 Rectron Midrand  19 150  95.5 4 986 42.92

2 Eagle Freight Meadowdale, Germiston  6 687  41.0 5 406 57.18

3 Tripark Kelvin View, Johannesburg  13 771  38.0 2 759 30.81

4 Cummings (Propower) Eastgate, Johannesburg  7 502  32.2 4 291 44.73

5 National Data Systems Selby, Johannesburg  13 390  31.1 2 324 22.16

6 Protec Park Chloorkop, Kempton Park  5 496  22.4 4 076 37.13

7 Linbro Linbro Park, Johannesburg  4 100  21.3 5 186 47.31

8 Fifers Spartan Ext 2, Kempton Park  5 995  19.9 3 324 31.20

9 Impala Road Eastgate, Johannesburg  6 137  19.8 3 226 31.95

10 Highland Meadowdale, Germiston  3 956  19.2 4 841 39.49

11 Altergen Wadeville, Germiston  5 623  12.0 2 136 13.40

12 Stormill 51 Stormill Ext 2, Roodepoort  1 755  5.1 2 909 22.58

High grade industrial  159 815  602.0 3 765 29.30

1 Ebony Meadowdale, Germiston  11 915  58.6 4 915 20.98

2 Gillets Pinetown, Durban  19 471  53.3 2 737 19.03

3 Nestle Bellville, Cape Town  14 364  52.5 3 652 18.98

4 Aeroport Park Spartan Ext 2, Kempton Park  12 867  45.8 3 560 33.26

5 Oude Moulen Maitland, Cape Town  10 205  42.2 4 133 36.20
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6 African Products Meadowdale, Johannesburg  4 467  35.3 7 899 62.61

7 Western Province Park Goodwood, Cape Town  10 539  33.8 3 204 27.34

8 Racetrack Midrand  5 923  31.6 5 331 53.36

9 Electron Isando, Kempton Park  6 178  30.3 4 904 34.95

10 Mount Joy Elandsfontein, Germiston  10 067  29.8 2 958 24.96

11 2 Baker Street Marconi Beam, Cape Town  7 895  27.7 3 510 29.45

12 Gazelle Corporate Park, Midrand  6 016  25.7 4 265 45.13

13 Inanda Road Springfield, Durban  5 770  19.9 3 455 39.20

14 Luxor Boksburg  8 851  17.9 2 019 15.81

15 Corobrick Meadowdale, Johannesburg  2 433  17.1 7 040 61.53

16 Highway Wilbart, Germiston  3 332  15.7 4 709 38.34

17 Hillclimb Road Westmead Ext, Pinetown  4 214  13.8 3 270 28.82

18 Rectron Umhlanga Ridge, Durban  2 293  13.6 5 931 52.56

19 Alrode 706 Alrode, Alberton  7 045  12.9 1 827 13.08

20 Pretzel Cape Airport City, Cape Town  2 600  12.5 4 812 41.21

21 Millennium Park Meadowdale, Germiston  3 370  12.0 3 553 32.95

243 totAl iNDUStriAl  2 331 825  6 170.4 2 555 24.55

tenant profile Retail Office Industrial

% of GLA No of tenants % of GLA No of tenants % of GLA No of tenants

A Large national tenants, listed tenants, 
government and major franchisees

49% 13 30% 16 46% 51

B Other national tenants, other listed 
tenants, franchisees and medium to 
large professional firms

25% 58 47% 169 46% 323

C Other 26% 1 417 23% 868 8% 431

Category A consists of tenant groups occupying more than 10 000 m2 of space.

Category B consists of tenant groups occupying between 1 000 m2 and 10 000 m2  of space.

Category C consists of tenant groups occupying less than 1 000 m2 of space.

ReNtAL eSCALAtION
Average contractual rental escalations in force at 30 June 2008 were:

Retail 8.6%
Office (excluding Investec buildings) 9.5%
Industrial 9.2%
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DIreCtorate anD aDmInIStratIon

DirecTors
J F    (Chairman)
H S P Mashaba (Deputy Chairman) 
E K de Klerk * (Executive Director)
M G Diliza
P H Fechter
J C Hayward
H S Herman
R Moonsamy 
B T Ngcuka 
L N Sasse (Chief Executive Officer)
S M Snowball * (Financial Director)
C G Steyn
J H N Strydom
F J Visser
* Appointed 26 August 2008

AuDiTors
KPMG Inc
(Registration No 1999/021543/21)
85 Empire Road, Parktown, 2193
Private Bag 9, Parkview, 2122

TrAnsfer secreTAries
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited
(Registration No 2004/00364/07)
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107

sPonsor
Investec Bank Limited
(Registration No 1969/004763/06)
100 Grayston Drive, Sandown, Sandton, 2196
PO Box 785700, Sandton, 2146

regisTereD office
Growthpoint Properties Limited
(Registration No 1987/004988/06)
The Place, 1 Sandton Drive, Sandown, Sandton, 2196
PO Box 78949, Sandton, 2146

secreTAry
R A Krabbenhöft
The Place, 1 Sandton Drive, Sandown, Sandton, 2196
PO Box 78949, Sandton, 2146

DebenTure TrusTee
Bell Dewar and Hall Inc 
(Registration No 1995/004675/21)
Landwell Place, 37 West Street
Houghton, 2198
PO Box 1972, Houghton, 2041

MAnAgeMenT coMPAny
Growthpoint Management Services (Pty) Limited
(Registration No 2004/015933/07)
The Place, 1 Sandton Drive, Sandown, Sandton, 2196
PO Box 78949, Sandton, 2146

AuDiT coMMiTTee
C G Steyn (Chairman)
P H Fechter
J C Hayward
J H N Strydom
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risk MAnAgeMenT coMMiTTee
J H N Strydom (Chairman)
M G Diliza
P H Fechter
H S P Mashaba
C G Steyn

The Audit Committee and Risk Management Committee members 
are all non-executive directors.
 
The following parties attend or are represented at Audit 
 and Risk Management Committee meetings:

Chief Executive Officer (L N Sasse)
Executive Director (E K de Klerk)
Financial Director (S M Snowball)
Fund Directors (N T Govender, S A Le Roux, R G Pienaar)
Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management (S Nizetich)
Growthpoint Management Services (Pty) Ltd  
Chief Operating Officer (A Cox)

The external auditors, KPMG Inc, attend all regular meetings  
of the Audit Committee and ad hoc meetings as required.

ProPerTy coMMiTTee 
P H Fechter (Chairman)
M G Diliza
R Moonsamy 
L N Sasse
C G Steyn
J H N Strydom

TrAnsforMATion coMMiTTee
M G Diliza (Chairman) 
P H Fechter
H S P Mashaba 
B T Ngcuka 
L N Sasse 
S M Snowball
C G Steyn
J H N Strydom

noMinATion coMMiTTee
J F Marais (Chairman)
M G Diliza
P H Fechter
J C Hayward
H S Herman
H S P Mashaba 
R Moonsamy 
B T Ngcuka 
C G Steyn
J H N Strydom
F J Visser

reMunerATion coMMiTTee
J F Marais (Chairman)
H S P Mashaba
L N Sasse

WebsiTe
www.growthpoint.co.za

eMAil
info@growthpoint.co.za
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profILe of DIreCtorS

JAcobus frAncois MArAis (53) 

(chAirMAn)

BCom, LLB, H Dip (Company Law)
A founding partner and Chairman of Glyn Marais Inc.
Appointed to the board in 2003.

herMAn sAMTseu PhiliP MAshAbA (49)  

(DePuTy chAirMAn)
Founder of Black Like Me products in 1985. Non-executive 
director of Black Like Me (Pty) Limited.
Chairman of Leswikeng Minerals and Energy (Pty) Limited,  
the Phatsima Group of companies and Stocks Building Africa 
(Pty) Limited. 
Chairman of the Institute of Directors in Southern Africa.
Non-executive director of The IQ Business Group (Pty) Limited  
and PG Group (Pty) Limited.
Appointed to the board in 2006.

leon norberT sAsse (43)  

(chief execuTive officer)

BCom (Hons) (Acc), CA (SA)
Ten years’ experience in corporate finance dealing with listings, 
delistings, mergers, acquisitions and capital raising, prior to 
joining Growthpoint.
Chairman: Property Loan Stock Association.
Director of South African Property Owners’ Association and 
Sandton Business Improvement District.
Appointed to the board in 2003.
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MZolisi gooDMAn DiliZA (59)

BCom (Rhodes)
Bachelor of Business Management and Administration (Hons)  
Chief Executive: Chamber of Mines of South Africa.
Appointed to the board in 2001.

PeTer henry fechTer (62)

BSc (Eng)
More than 30 years’ experience in construction, property 
development, management and investment. 
Appointed to the board in 2003.

John cAry hAyWArD (57)

BSc (Hons)
Fellow of Institute of Actuaries.
25 years’ experience in investment and investment related activities.
Appointed to the board in 2001.

hugh siDney herMAn (67)

BA LLB
Chairman of Investec Bank (UK) Limited. 
Chairman of Investec plc and Investec Limited.
Director of Pick ‘n Pay Holdings Limited and Pick ‘n Pay  
Stores Limited.
Appointed to the board in 1994.

rAgAvAn MoonsAMy (44)

Founder of Kascara Financial Services (Pty) Limited.
Chief Executive of UniPalm Investments (Pty) Limited.
Director of Afripalm (Pty) Limited.

Appointed to the board in 2005.

bulelAni ThAnDAbAnTu ngcukA (54)
BProc, LLB, MA (International Relations)
Director of STRB Attorneys, Transnet and Mutual & Federal.
Appointed to the board in 2005.

colin grAhAM sTeyn (67)

FCIS, Senior Management Program, Harvard University 
Retired. 
Formerly Chairman of Barprop Limited.
Former President of SAPOA. 
Appointed to the board in 2001.

JAn henDrik nicolAAs sTryDoM (69)

MCom (Acc), CA (SA)
Retired.
Co-founder of Stydom’s Incorporated, a firm of chartered 
accountants specialising in business valuations, forensic 
investigations, litigation support and arbitrations.
Director of MTN Group Limited, Director of the Public Investment 
Corporation Limited and senior member of the Special Income  
Tax Court.
Appointed to the board in 2003.

freDerick JohAnnes visser (56)

BCom (Hons)
Chief Executive Officer of Mine Pension Funds.
Appointed to the board in 2001.

esTienne konrAD De klerk (39)
BCom (Industrial Psych), BCom (Hons) (Marketing) 
BCom (Hons) (Acc), CA(SA)
Fund Executive for Growthpoint subsequent to the acquisition of 
Metboard Properties Limited by Growthpoint in June 2006. Seven 
years experience in listed property as an executive at Investec 
Property Group Limited involved in BEE transactions, mergers and 
acquisitions for both Growthpoint and Metboard. Six years prior 
experience with Investec Bank Limited. 
Board member of the Property Sector Charter Council. 
Appointed to the board in 2008.

sTuArT MckenZie snoWbAll (52)
 BCom (Hons) (Acc), CA (SA)
 26 years post-qualifying working experience in commerce, including 
18 years property experience. Chief Financial Officer of Barprop 
Limited, Primegro Properties Limited and of Growthpoint since 2003.
Appointed to the board in 2008. 
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coMPAny Profile
Growthpoint Properties Limited (Growthpoint) is a property 
investment holding company, incorporated and registered as 
a public company on 12 October 1987, and is listed under the 
“Financial - Real Estate” sector of the JSE Limited (JSE).

Growthpoint’s capital structure comprises ordinary shares, which 
are linked to unsecured, subordinated, variable rate debentures in 
the ratio of one ordinary share of five cents linked to 10  debentures 
of 250 cents each. This linkage means that each share may only 
be issued and traded on the JSE as a linked unit together with the 
debentures to which it is linked.

Growthpoint has a diversified portfolio of 436 properties, which 
were valued at R27 billion at 30 June 2008. Retail properties 
comprised 35% of the value, office 42% and industrial 23%.  
The bulk of Growthpoint’s gross lettable area is situated in 
Gauteng (63%), with the balance located in the Western Cape 
(17%), KwaZulu Natal (14%), and other provinces throughout 
South Africa and Namibia (6%).

Measured by market capitalisation and total assets, Growthpoint 
is the largest listed South African property company on the JSE, 
with a market capitalisation of R14 billion at 30 June 2008.

Mission sTATeMenT
“To be the point of reference for listed property investment in 
South Africa, offering investors a highly liquid, tradable instrument 
producing consistently growing income returns and long-term capital 
appreciation.”

In striving to achieve this mission, Growthpoint endeavours to:
• Offer low-risk, superior returns backed by premier assets
•  Maintain an optimal balance of well-located, sectorally and 

geographically diversified property assets
•  Maximise the letting of available space to financially sound tenants 

with long leases
•  Preserve and enhance the value of properties owned through 

ongoing maintenance, upgrading and refurbishment
•  Enhance long-term returns to linked unitholders through the use of 

conservative gearing and financing at the most competitive rates
•  Limit exposure to interest rate risk by fixing interest rates over 

periods matching lease expiries

Company profILe anD mISSIon Statement

AbsA bank
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inTroDucTion
Growthpoint Properties Limited and its board of directors are 
committed to the Code of Corporate Practice and Conduct as 
set out in the King II Report.  The directors recognise the need 
to conduct the enterprise with integrity and accountability in 
accordance with sound corporate practice.

boArD of DirecTors
The board of directors consists of 11 non-executive directors, 
including the Chairman, and three executive directors. Details of 
the board’s composition are set out on page 94 and 95 of this 
report. In addition to four quarterly board meetings held each 
year on pre-set dates, directors’ meetings are convened on an ad 
hoc basis as required. The directors’ remuneration is subject to 
the Remuneration Committee’s recommendations and approval 
by the board as authorised from time to time at annual general 
meetings.

The non-executive directors are independent of management and 
free from any relationship that could materially interfere with 
the execution of their independent judgement.  Their business 
experience enables them to evaluate strategy and act in the 
company’s best interests. The directors’ interest in the company’s 
linked units is set out on page 31 and 32. 

The board operates in terms of a written charter that sets out its 
terms of reference, overall purpose, responsibilities and authority, 
and governs matters such as board membership, meeting 
procedures and ethical conduct. A copy of the board charter is 
available from the Company Secretary.

eThics
The directors are bound in terms of a written code of ethics that 
is part of the board charter, to ensure that the company and its 
agents conduct the business according to the highest ethical 
standards. In particular, the code seeks to ensure compliance with 
all the laws of the country and any applicable regulatory bodies 
and to conduct all business activities in a manner that is beyond 
reproach.

The code of ethics reads as follows:

“The board of directors of Growthpoint Properties Limited 
commits itself to ensure, as far as it lies within its powers to do so, 
that the company and its agents conduct the business according 
to the highest ethical standards and in particular:

•   Comply with all laws of the country that affect the company

•   Comply with the rules of the JSE Limited

•   Not act in any way that may be regarded as a harmful business 
practice

•   Act in the best interests at all times of the various stakeholders, 
including linked unitholders

•   Be transparent in disclosing all material information that may 
influence investors and potential investors

•   Conduct the business as a responsible corporate citizen, having 
regard for the impact the business may have on the public and the 
environment

•   Trade in securities of the company only in open periods and with the 
prior written permission of the Chairman and/or Chief Executive 
Officer

•   Not trade in competition with the company

•   Not hold positions that give rise to a conflict of interests and, 
should any potentially conflicting situations arise, to make full, prior 
written disclosure to the board and abstain from participating in 
any discussions or voting on the matter, unless the board consents 
thereto.”

Growthpoint also has a number of policies in place to promote ethical 
behaviour and integrity among management and employees. These 
include policies on:

•   Employee integrity, to encourage employees to comply with 
Growthpoint’s policies and standards of best practice

•   Gifts, entertainment and inducements 

•   Whistle-blowing and protected disclosures, to encourage employees 
to raise concerns about workplace malpractice without fear of 
victimisation or reprisal  

•   Substance abuse and sexual harassment, forbidding these practices 
within the organisation

DeAling in The coMPAny’s linkeD uniTs
In terms of policy, directors and executive officials have to obtain 
prior written clearance from the Chief Executive Officer and/or the 
Chairman of the board of any intention to buy or sell linked units in 
the company, whether directly or indirectly.  Directors and company 
employees who become aware of sensitive financial information are 
barred from dealing directly or indirectly in the company’s linked 
units until such information is in the public domain.

Corporate governanCe
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AsseT MAnAgeMenT AnD ProPerTy 
ADMinisTrATion
The management company is Growthpoint Management Services 
(Pty) Limited (GMS), a wholly owned subsidiary of Growthpoint. 
GMS is responsible for the asset management, property 
management and related businesses of Growthpoint. In prior years, 
the property and asset management functions were outsourced 
to Investec Property Group Limited (IPG). With effect from 1 July 
2007, GMS purchased these businesses from IPG and took cession 
from Growthpoint’s black economic empowerment partners of 
the rights to asset management fee income that they held.

inTernAl AuDiT
The internal audit function is provided in-house by the Head of 
Internal Audit and Risk Management, appointed on 1 May 2008. 
It  includes:

•   Meeting with the Audit Committee to agree the internal audit 
plan for the year

•   Preparing an audit strategy for the year, for approval by the 
Audit Committee

•   Attending meetings of and reporting to the Audit Committee

•   Meeting with the external auditors to co-ordinate planning and 
promote their reliance on internal audit work performed

•   Carrying out the internal audit work, including the testing of 
controls, according to the agreed internal audit plan 

exTernAl AuDiT
KPMG Inc are the external auditors of the company and its 
subsidiaries. The independence of the external auditors is 
recognised, and annually reviewed, by the Audit Committee with 
the auditors. The external auditors attend the Audit Committee 
meetings and have unrestricted access to the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee.

AuDiT coMMiTTee
The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-executive 
directors, including the Chairman of the Risk Management 
Committee. The Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director, 
Financial Director, external auditors, Head of Internal Audit and 
Risk Management, fund directors and Chief Operating Officer of 
GMS are present at meetings by standing invitation.  

The Audit Committee meets at least four times a year and 
operates according to written terms of reference approved by 
the board of directors.  These include the review of the annual 
financial statements before they are presented to the board, the 
review of internal control systems with reference to the findings 
of the internal and external auditors, considering any changes in 
accounting policies, and considering any recommendations of the 
internal and external auditors.

risk MAnAgeMenT coMMiTTee
The Risk Management Committee comprises five independent 
non-executive directors, including the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee. The Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director, 

Financial Director, fund directors, Head of Internal Audit and Risk 
Management and Chief Operating Officer of GMS are present at 
meetings by standing invitation.

The Risk Management Committee meets at least four times a year 
and operates according to written terms of reference approved by 
the board of directors. These include the review of the company’s 
risk management function, internal control systems, risk philosophy, 
strategies and policies, and risk-related performance measures and 
indicators.

risk MAnAgeMenT
A formalised risk assessment model and strategy is used to identify 
all material risks to which the company is exposed and to evaluate 
these risks in terms of severity of impact and likelihood of occurrence.  
Key risk indicators are identified in order to monitor and manage 
these risks on an ongoing basis.  The Head of Internal Audit and Risk 
Management reports to the Risk Management Committee at each 
quarterly meeting.

ProPerTy coMMiTTee
The committee comprises five independent non-executive directors 
and the Chief Executive Officer.

This committee meets at least twice a year and further as might be 
required. The committee assists the board of directors in the discharge 
of its duties relating to transactions involving the company’s property 
portfolio, including management of the portfolio.

The committee’s terms of reference are to:

•   Review the annual net income budget, proposed capital expenditure 
budget and projected earnings for the linked units for the next 
financial year

•   Appraise proposed purchases and sales of property which exceed 
the levels of authority of the executive directors

•   Evaluate proposed unbudgeted capital expenditure which exceeds 
the levels of authority of the executive directors

•   Review the annual valuation performed on the property portfolio

reMunerATion coMMiTTee
The Remuneration Committee consists of the board’s Chairman, the 
Chief Executive Officer, and one other independent non-executive 
director. The terms of reference of the committee are to make 
recommendations to the board regarding remuneration of directors, 
as well as to approve the annual salary increases, bonus payments 
and Growthpoint Staff Incentive Scheme option allocations.

noMinATion coMMiTTee
The Nomination Committee consists of the independent non-
executive directors in office from time to time and is chaired by the 
board’s Chairman. The terms of reference of the committee are to 
make recommendations to the board regarding the appointment of 
new directors. The committee is also responsible for ensuring that all 
new directors receive appropriate induction and adequate information 
on all aspects of the company’s business.
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Director Board Audit
Risk   

Management Property Transformation

A B C A B A B A B A B

S Hackner 6 5

J F Marais 6 6

M G Diliza 6 6 5 5 3 2 4 4

P H Fechter 6 6 5 5 5 5 3 3 4 4

J C Hayward 6 6 5 5

H S Herman 6 6

S R Leon* 1 1

H S P Mashaba 6 6 5 5 4 4

R Moonsamy 6 6 3 3

B T Ngcuka 6 4 4 2

L N Sasse 6 6 5 4 5 5 3 3 4 4

C G Steyn 6 5 5 5 5 5 3 3 4 4

J H N Strydom 6 6 5 5 5 5 3 3 4 4

F J Visser 6 6

Column A is the number of meetings held during the year that the director was eligible to attend.
Column B is the number of meetings attended by the director.
Column C is the number of board meetings at which a director recused himself.
* resigned on 16 October 2007

Note: In all cases where directors were unable to attend a meeting, the board or the respective committee accepted their justified leave of absence.

invesTor relATions
The board is also committed to transparency and disclosure of relevant and appropriate information in the annual report and through other 
communication channels, to give all unitholders, potential unitholders and other stakeholders access to such information.

Four scheduled board meetings were held during the year. Ad hoc or 
special board meetings are arranged with due regard to the quorum 
requirements of the company’s articles of association and the recusal, 
where necessary, of related-party directors or those presented with 
conflicts of interest.

The Nomination Committee did not meet during the year ended  
30 June 2008. Subsequently, at a meeting held on 26 August 2008, 
the committee met and approved the appointment of Mr E K de Klerk 
and Mr S M Snowball as executive director and Financial Director 
respectively.

The Remuneration Committee met twice during the year ended  
30 June 2008. These meetings, under the chairmanship of  
Mr S Hackner, were held to approve the salaries of staff transferred 
from IPG and their entitlements in terms of the Staff Incentive 
Scheme, as well as review existing remuneration policies and industry 
trends. The committee also settled and agreed the principles as well 
as benchmarking criteria for determining salary increases and bonus 
payments.

At a meeting held on 16 July 2008, chaired by Mr J F Marais following 
Mr S Hackner’s resignation from the board, the Remuneration 
Committee approved the bonuses payable to employees of GMS in 
respect of the year ended 30 June 2008 and salary increases for the 
2009 financial year.

The non-executive directors fees were approved at a meeting of the 
full board of directors held on 26 August 2008.

TrAnsforMATion coMMiTTee
The Transformation Committee comprises six independent non-
executive directors, the Chief Executive Officer and Financial Director.

The company fully supports the principles of empowering 
previously disadvantaged groups in South Africa and was actively 
involved in the formulation of a property sector transformation 
charter. The company will continue to seek to achieve the 
charter’s targets for procurement from black empowered entities, 
as well as invest in socially responsible projects and assist in the 
development of black-owned enterprises.

sTAff incenTive scheMe
Linked to the management “buy-in” transaction entered into with 
IPG, Growthpoint established the Growthpoint Staff Incentive 
Scheme (the scheme) as an incentive for management and staff 
previously employed by IPG to remain with Growthpoint. The 
scheme also ensures that the interests of management and 
staff are aligned with those of linked unitholders. Details of the 
Growthpoint linked units that are subject to the scheme and over 
which options have been awarded to eligible participants appear 
on page 49, in accordance with the JSE Listing Requirements.

ATTenDAnce AT MeeTings
Details of directors’ attendance at meetings from 1 July 2007 to  
30 June 2008 are set out below.
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During the year, Growthpoint Properties Limited continued to 
develop its sustainability focus, with a more defined approach 
emerging in response to the company’s new positioning and South 
Africa’s particular sustainability challenges.

As a business focusing on property development and refurbish-
ment, Growthpoint is aware of its responsibility to manage any 
direct impacts it may have on communities and the environment. 

The company’s triple bottom line commitment goes a lot further, 
with a proactive approach to assist people in becoming empowered 
and self-sufficient. Simultaneously, Growthpoint aims to play a 
leading and influential role in promoting environmentally friendly 
building practices in South Africa. 

Specifically, the company’s triple bottom line approach covers:
•   Conducting sustainable business activities
•   Providing engagement and development opportunities for 

employees
•   Promoting black economic empowerment through company 

structures and policies, enterprise development and preferential 
procurement from black suppliers

•   Supporting corporate social investment projects in communities 
in which Growthpoint operates

•   Implementing green building and energy saving practices 

SuStainable buSineSS
Details of Growthpoint’s financial results are outlined elsewhere 
in this report. In short, Growthpoint achieved a sound financial 
performance during the year. 

The quality, diversity and locations of Growthpoint’s property 
portfolio, and the contractual nature of the company’s rental 
income from a diverse base of financially sound tenants, should 
ensure sustainable growth in revenue for the future. 

The company adopts a responsible approach to gearing its 
property investments, with total debt at 35% of property value at 
30 June 2008. Exposure to interest rate fluctuations is mitigated 
by fixing interest rates for not less than 75% of debt at all times. 
As at 30 June 2008, 98.2% of debt was at fixed interest rates.

Our peOple 
Employee engagement and development
Growthpoint is a leading listed property loan stock company. In 
seeking to maintain this position, a critical part of the company’s 
strategy is maintaining a competent and dynamic workforce. 

In support of this objective, during the year, Growthpoint 
embarked on a recruitment strategy that focuses externally on 

the sourcing of external talent and internally on the development 
of employees. In fact, with employee development regarded as key 
to sustained competence, Growthpoint implemented the following 
initiatives during the period under review:
•   Making a commitment to allocate about 2% of payroll towards 

employee learning and development each year. With a shortage 
of potential black recruits due to a skills deficit in the property 
sector, Growthpoint’s intention is that learning and development 
expenditure focus on ensuring the development of black 
employees

•   A mentorship programme called “The Star Programme”, to assist in 
fast tracking the development of employees who have the potential 
to take on greater challenges

In fostering a philosophy of ownership in Growthpoint, each employee 
is a participant in its Staff Incentive Scheme. As at 30 June 2008, 8.5 
million linked units had been issued to the Staff Incentive Scheme 
Trust at zero cost to employees. Based on the closing price on the JSE 
(on that day) of R11.10 per linked unit, the total value of linked units 
issued was R94 million. Ownership of these linked units vests in equal 
tranches over four years, starting in September 2008.

Employment equity
At the same time, Growthpoint places a strong emphasis on 
workforce representivity and equitable employment practices. As it 
now operates an “internal” management model, Growthpoint is in 
the process of re-looking its employment equity objectives. This will 
be guided by business imperatives, the Employment Equity Act and 
Property Sector Charter objectives. 

transformation
Growthpoint also has a Transformation Committee at board level 
which oversees all transformation initiatives, including employment 
equity and corporate social investment activities. Within the 
company, these interventions are driven through the Human 
Resources division. 

black economic empowerment
Growthpoint is committed to the empowerment of previously 
disadvantaged groups in South Africa through its shareholder 
structure, Staff Incentive Scheme, Transformation Committee, and 
other structures and policies. 

As at the end of June 2008, the overall black economic empowerment 
(BEE) linked unit holding for Growthpoint was 144 986 343 linked 
units or 36.68% (including black participants in its Staff Incentive 
Scheme and based on the exclusion methodology).

This figure also incorporates the 12 500 000 BEE shares held by Amabubesi 
Capital Ltd via its subsidiary 8 Mile Investments 510 (Pty) Limited and all 
other strategic BEE holdings highlighted by the company.

sustainability
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Growthpoint has acheived an AAA empowerment rating 
from rating agency EmpowerDEX and is classified as a Level 2 
contributor to broad-based black economic empowerment in 
terms of the Property Sector Transformation Charter.

DevelOpment Of Small buSineSSeS
Growthpoint supports the development of small black-owned 
and -managed businesses in South Africa through its pioneering 
enterprise development project, The Property Point, as well as a 
policy to procure increasingly from broad-based black economic 
empowerment vendors.

Enterprise development – the Property Point
During the year, Growthpointed launched The Property Point, an 
innovative enterprise development programme, to assist small, 
medium and micro enterprises (SMMEs) operating in the listed 
property sector in South Africa.

The Property Point is being undertaken in partnership with The 
Business Place, a national network of business information and 
support centres that assist start-up and small businesses. 

The Property Point is a first for enterprise development in South 
Africa’s listed property industry. It aims to prepare SMMEs serving 
the sector for a highly competitive marketplace by providing skills 
training and personal development. Ultimately, the objective is 
to help develop the SMMEs into fully independent companies, 
and break down the barriers between the “first” and “second” 
economies by facilitating information sharing.

In supporting The Property Point, Growthpoint is not only funding 
its operation but will also provide procurement opportunities and 
mentoring for participants. Current mentors include Growthpoint 
employees and service providers (iMvula Protection Services and 
Stallion Security are mentoring the first intake of candidates). 

SMMEs will receive assistance in a number of phases, namely: 
selection, development (skills training, mentoring and 
apprenticeships), accreditation and “sign-off” by Growthpoint 
itself.

During the period under review, the programme was piloted in the 
security sector, with successful results and valuable experience 
gained. On 22 May 2008, The Property Point was formally 
launched in Gauteng, with a view to rolling it out nationally. 
The first candidates were selected from across the spectrum of 
property services. 

Companies currently receiving support from The Property Point 
include:

•   Easy Security Systems & Guards CC, established in 1999. The 
company’s clients include Growthpoint Properties, Pick n’Pay, 
Halfway House Primary, Lazzar Liecher, Voltex Pecron, Voltex 
Sunlic Warehouse and Treisman

•   Njilingweni Cleaning (Pty) Limited, established in 2005 and 
contracting to Spar stores, Lenovo SA and Score stores 

•   Oupa O’ Ratile Landscaping, set up in 2006 and providing gardens 
to Bushwillow Estate, Lombardy East, Blue Valley Estate and  
Vorna Valley

•   Thabempho Trading (trading as TmT Cleaning), established in 
2000 and with clients such as Eskom, Silver-Arrow Consulting, 
Rocher-Coetzee Attorneys and Line Property Group 5

Procurement from broad based black economic empowerment 
vendors
Growthpoint’s commitment to sustainable procurement, and its link 
to broad-based black economic empowerment (BBBEE), is stated in 
the company’s procurement philosophy: “In pursuit of sustainable 
profits, we seek to be a positive influence in all our business activities, 
in each of the societies in which we operate. We do this by empowering 
communities through entrepreneurship, mentorship and education, 
leveraging the value in our diversity, and addressing climate change 
and the use of natural resources.”

Growthpoint is centralising and focusing on preferential procurement 
nationally, to improve the quality standards of empowerment 
companies. In this way, and through the use of preferential 
procurement procedures, the company hopes to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable BBBEE in the listed property sector. 

Growthpoint’s discretionary BBBEE procurement (procurement that 
Growthpoint has control over) focuses on helping current vendors to 
achieve the ratings required for sustainable economic development. A 
dual objective is to help non-compliant vendors to become compliant 
so as to facilitate higher levels of preferential procurement for 
both Growthpoint and the vendors. In support of these objectives, 
Growthpoint has implemented the following initiatives:
•   Adherence to a procurement policy that promotes discretionary 

procurement 
•   Re-evaluating the number of vendors used through a tender 

process and using the size of Growthpoint’s portfolio to obtain bulk 
discounts 

•   Promoting the development of small, medium and micro enterprises
•   Using established empowerment platforms to encourage 

transformation in, and the skills development of, existing vendors 
•   Categorising vendors according to empowerment credentials to 

monitor percentage spend 
•   Promoting enterprise development and mentorship programmes to 

assist entrepreneurs through The Property Point 

To help Growthpoint manage its preferential procurement more 
efficiently, all certification of vendor BBBEE status is verified by B1SA, 
a provider of BBBEE management and technology services. In addition, 
in selecting new vendors, preference is given to BBBEE vendors which 
meet all Growthpoint’s procurement policy requirements. 

Over the past financial year, Growthpoint achieved more than R615 
million in preferential procurement spend to BBBEE companies. Its 
objective is to increase this amount in the next financial year.   

COrpOrate SOCial inveStment
In seeking to promote community upliftment in the most effective and 
sustainable manner, Growthpoint supports selective corporate social 
investment (CSI) projects with a strong potential for sustainability 
over the long term.

As such, most of the company’s resources are allocated to The 
Property Point enterprise development initiative.

Growthpoint also supports CSI projects focusing on:
•  Education, entrepreneurship and skills training 
•   Charitable work and community upliftment in areas near retail 

centres and property developments owned and managed by 
Growthpoint

•  Ad hoc requests for donations
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Zikhuliseni skills development project
During the year, Growthpoint donated R2 million towards the 
Zikhuliseni (Zulu for “develop yourselves”) skills development 
project in Diepsloot, near Fourways, Gauteng. 

The funding will go towards the construction of a centre which 
will house proficiency development initiatives and provide 
community training in skills ranging from computers through to 
sewing and crafts, bricklaying, welding and ironwork, and growing 
of cash vegetable crops.

The project is being undertaken in partnership with Bophelong 
Place of Life, a joint initiative between the Diepsloot community, 
various charity and welfare organisations, and the Bryanston 
Methodist Church.

Projects that will all be accommodated in the new Zikhuliseni 
centre, once built, include:
(a)   Themba (Zulu for “hope and trust”), which provides sewing 

and craft skills training to more than 100 women. The project, 
initiated in 2003, aims to enable every Diepsloot resident to 
become self-sufficient through skills training (on graduation, 
where possible, trainees are given equipment to start their 
own businesses). Products made are sold, with 75% of profits 
being retained by the women and 25% by Themba to purchase 
materials and pay for operating costs. As a result of the project, 
more than R300 000 was provided to Diepsloot homes in 
2007. The objective is to increase the number of trainees to 
200 by December 2008 and to 300 by the end of 2009

(b)   The Vegetable Garden School, which trains Diepsloot residents 
to grow cash crops all year round. Training is certified by 
AgriSeta. There are currently 16 trainees and a further 20 will 
join after each 30 weeks

(c)   A Computer Training Centre, to begin operating once the 
Zikhuliseni centre is built. The programme is expected to 
accommodate about 20 trainees every three months

(d)   Welding, bricklaying and ironwork training, to begin on 
completion of the Zikhuliseni centre. It is expected that  
20 trainees will be accommodated in the first intake. Training 
will take approximately six months, after which it is hoped 
to award trainees a certificate of competence and to have an 
arrangement with certain companies to provide them with 
employment. A further intake of 20 trainees will then begin

Contributions through retail centres
Growthpoint also contributes to community upliftment projects 
through retail centres that it owns and manages. In line with 
this strategy, during the year, Growthpoint donated R80 000 to 
Hudson Park Primary in East London, located near Beacon Bay 
Retail Park (owned and managed by Growthpoint). 

The contribution will go towards the school’s foundation stage 
play area, which includes a revamp of the youth recreation area 
and outdoor educational buildings. A sandpit, block pavilion and 
fantasy playhouse will be constructed.

In addition, in the year under review, Growthpoint contributed 
more than R478 000 to CSI initiatives through the activities of its 
retail centres countrywide. These included:
•   Brooklyn Mall in Pretoria provided funding to Banareng Primary 

School in Attridgeville, to enable construction of a borehole and 
water pump for the vegetable garden at the school, the erection 

of a jungle gym and surrounding fencing, and donations of books 
•   Constantia Village in Cape Town allowed the South African Riding 

for the Disabled Association (SARDA) to use its premises for fund-
raising and public awareness. The centre also funded SARDA 
advertising in local newspapers 

•   Waterfall Mall in Rustenburg supported Rustenburg Charities 
Unite and a drive to donate Christmas gifts to state-funded old age 
homes 

•   Northgate in Johannesburg provides regular support to Honeydew 
Child Protection, Honeydew Police Station and Oasis Haven of Love 
Foundation 

•   Kolonnade in Pretoria facilitated centre promotions for various 
charities 

•   La Lucia Mall near Durban holds an annual pensioners day, with gifts 
and activities provided for pensioners 

•   River Square in Vereeniging supports monthly book sales for the 
SPCA and Red Cross and makes an annual donation to the CANSA 
Shavathon

•   Longbeach Mall in Cape Town provides a monthly donation to the 
Chaeli Campaign, which assists children with disabilities, particularly 
in the Fish Hoek / Noordhoek area 

•   The Paddocks in Cape Town served as drop-off point, and facilitated 
promotions, for various charities 

•   Heritage Market in Durban holds an annual fashion show to 
showcase local clothing shops, and supports an annual fun walk 
for schools and annual beauty pageant with proceeds donated  
to charity 

envirOnmental COmmitment 
During the period under review, Growthpoint made significant 
advances in its green building and energy saving programmes. While 
green building practices had been a focus for some time, these efforts 
were enhanced to:
•   Reduce Growthpoint’s direct impacts on the environment and 

support the broader international drive towards carbon reduction 
(it is estimated that buildings consume 40-50% of the world’s 
energy through their construction and ongoing operation) 

•   Address the challenges of rising energy prices, South Africa’s energy 
supply shortages and increasing pressure on companies to adopt 
environmentally friendly practices 

In response to these challenges, Growthpoint implemented the 
following initiatives during the year:
•   Employed a senior consultant to address the energy requirements 

of tenants following the Eskom power crisis of January 2008. 
This consultant, who has extensive experience in the industry, is 
mandated to make recommendations on the most suitable form of 
back-up electricity supply to tenants, so they are able to continue 
running their businesses without interruption. His responsibilities 
also include assisting tenants in reducing their energy consumption 
and costs through interventions such as running air-conditioning 
and lights during working hours only, and reducing usage during 
peak demand time

•   Set a target of 10% energy reduction across its portfolio. 
Growthpoint is currently undertaking comprehensive energy audits 
for all its buildings and working to introduce energy saving initiatives 
in each building

•   Formed an employee-based “Green Team” to ensure that key 
areas of sustainability and environmental impact are considered 
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throughout the organisation. The team will work together 
with relevant stakeholders to develop innovative ways for 
Growthpoint to address global warming within a sustainable 
development framework

•   Implemented a successful Green Day education and awareness 
programme, which is being rolled out to all staff and clients 

Other significant achievements included: 
•   Working with the Green Building Council of South Africa to 

develop the first green building rating tool for offices, which was 
released in pilot form at the end of July 2008. One of the buildings 
in Growthpoint’s portfolio, Lincoln on the Lake on Umhlanga 
Ridge in KwaZulu Natal, will be the first Growthpoint building to 
be reviewed by the pilot tool. Growthpoint was actively involved 
in the establishment of, and has board representation on, the 
Green Building Council of South Africa. Endorsed by the World 
Green Building Council, this organisation aims to transform the 
South African property industry to ensure that all buildings are 
designed, built and operated in an environmentally sustainable 
way

•   Being approached to become a member of the Carbon Disclosure 
Project (CDP). This organisation seeks to create a lasting 
relationship between shareholders and corporations regarding 
the implications for shareholder value and commercial operations 
presented by climate change. On behalf of institutional investors, 
CDP seeks information on the business risks and opportunities 
presented by climate change and greenhouse gas emissions data 
from the world’s largest companies. Growthpoint is currently 
gathering and refining the information for this exercise and is 
honoured to be associated with the world’s top companies on 
this initiative

Ongoing implementation of green building philosophy
During the year, Growthpoint also continued to implement its 
philosophy for green building design, which aims to develop more 
effective buildings by using natural and more efficient resources. 
Accordingly, refurbishments and developments are based on the 
new standard design criteria and focus on:
•   Installing energy efficient light fittings and control equipment 

(during the year, a number of strategic sites were re-fitted)
•   Concentrating on the design of buildings in terms of shape, 

dimension and orientation to direct sunlight 
•   Making better use of natural light
•   Designing more thermal efficient buildings with zero toxicity 

and that reduce the use of air conditioning
•   Using advanced material to enhance ceiling insulation  
•   Re-using construction material (i.e. demolished material) for 

landfill/stabilising
•   Recycling materials and waste management
•   Minimising wastage of water by using modern low-flow taps and 

toilet flush systems
•   Using natural, excess ground water to irrigate landscapes
•   Planting indigenous plants that require less water
•   Saving 70% electricity by using variable drive motors in lifts and 

air conditioning systems
•   Using renewable and sustainable energy sources to generate 

power i.e. solar panels 
•   Determining the impact of carbon emissions on the environment 

by ensuring tenants participate in a carbon disclosure project
•   Undertaking environmental impact assessments on all newly 

zoned sites or on the existing portfolio, where it was felt that there 
might be a threat

•   Running awareness programmes and training employees, 
contractors, consultants and tenants

looking ahead
During the year, while Growthpoint made significant achievements 
with its triple bottom line objectives, the company acknowledges that 
there is still work to be done. For instance:
•   There is a need to implement formal risk assessments of sustainability. 

This will be the responsibility of a newly appointed Head of Internal 
Audit and Risk Management

•   Measurement of sustainability initiatives is in place but needs 
to be developed in certain areas. All aspects of black economic 
empowerment, including procurement, ownership and employment 
equity, are being actively measured. However, as this is the first 
year that Growthpoint has staff (as a result of the Property Services 
Businesses acquisition), employment equity progress from previous 
years cannot be measured. In addition, recent amendments to the 
Department of Trade and Industry’s BEE Codes of Good Practice, 
which allow companies to use the Exclusion Methodology to 
calculate black ownership, makes comparison with previous years 
meaningless

•   While green and environmental issues, such as the company’s 
carbon footprint, are not yet being measured, this will be a priority 
in the year ahead. Growthpoint’s commitment in this regard is 
further indicated by its partnership with the Green Building Council 
of South Africa to develop the first commercial green building rating 
tool.

Through these commitments, and building on the achievements and 
experiences of the past year, Growthpoint will continue to develop 
its sustainability approach, in line with its objectives and strategy as 
a business.

103



INCOME statEMENts

104

M1 Place



INCOME statEMENts

105

GENERaL sHaREHOLDERs INFORMatION



106

LINKED UNItHOLDERs’ aNaLYsIs

Unitholder profile
No of 

unitholders
% No of units %

Pension funds 197 2.7 525 343 990 41.0

Mutual funds 184 2.5 320 635 813 25.1

Public companies 69 1.0 124 095 870 9.7

Empowerment holdings 2 0.0 122 000 000 9.5

Individuals 4 995 69.1 51 689 305 4.0

Nominees 79 1.1 36 501 464 2.8

Trusts 1 173 16.3 33 274 317 2.6

Other corporations 111 1.5 25 760 159 2.0

Private companies 197 2.7 19 814 805 1.5

Endowment funds 115 1.6  8 582 490 0.7

Staff Incentive Scheme 1 0.0 8 561 667 0.7

Medical aid funds 14 0.2 2 517 860 0.2

Close Corporations 93 1.3 2 148 455 0.2

tOtaL 7 230 100 1 280 926 195 100

Unitholder classification
No of 

unitholders
% No of units %

1-500 units 882 12.2 143 973 0.01

501-1,000 units 478 6.6 372 605 0.03

1,001-5,000 units 2 255 31.2 6 382 378 0.50

5,001-10,000 units 1 338 18.5 10 049 914 0.78

10,001-20,000 units 913 12.6 13 366 220 1.04

20,001-50,000 units 624 8.7 19 976 230 1.56

50,001-100,000 units 253 3.5 17 955 939 1.40

100,001-200,000 units 163 2.3 23 029 997 1.80

200,001-1,000,000 units 203 2.8 86 445 462 6.75

1,000,001-10,000,000 units 103 1.4 320 302 146 25.01

10,000,001 units and over 18 0.2 782 901 331 61.12

tOtaL 7 230 100 1 280 926 195 100

AT 30 JUNE 2008
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Linked unit price performance for the year ended June 2008 cents

Opening price 1 July 2007 1 483

Closing price 30 June 2008 1 110

High for the period 1 710

Low for the period 1 073

units

Number of linked units in issue as at 30 June 2008 1 280 926 195

Weighted average number of linked units 1 238 460 442

Number of units traded during period 691 492 196

Linked units traded as a percentage of weighted number of linked units in issue 55.8%

Beneficial unitholders holding 3% or more No of units %

Public Investment Corporation Limited 373 278 742 29.14

BEE Consortia 122 000 000 9.52

Old Mutual Group 103 809 129 8.10

Stanlib 76 823 875 6.00

Liberty Group 38 638 733 3.02

Unitholder spread
No of 

unitholders
% No of units %

Non-public linked unitholders 12 0.16 416 710 253 32.5

Directors 9 0.12 34 869 844 2.7

Staff Incentive Scheme 1 0.01 8 561 667 0.7

Public Investment Corporation Limited 2 0.03 373 278 742 29.2

Public linked unitholders 7 218 99.84 864 215 942 67.5

tOtaL 7 230 100 1 280 926 195 100

The Estuaries
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Financial year end 30 June 2008

Annual financial statements posted September 2008

Annual general meeting 5 November 2008 

Dividends and debenture interest Declared Paid

Interim February 2008 March 2008

Final August 2008 September 2008

MEMbERs’ DIaRY

Hilltop Industrial
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NOtICE tO MEMbERs

Notice is hereby given that the 20th annual general meeting  
of members of Growthpoint Properties Limited will be held at The 
Place, 1 Sandton Drive, Sandown, Sandton 2196, on Wednesday  
5 November 2008 at 09:00, for the following purposes:

1. To receive, consider and adopt the annual financial statements 
 of the company and the group for the year ended 30 June 2008, 
 together with the reports of the directors and auditors thereon.

2. To re-elect, individually, the following directors who are to retire 
 but, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election:

 - Messrs P H Fechter, R Moonsamy and L N Sasse who retire  
  by rotation; and

 - Messrs E K de Klerk and S M Snowball who are to retire pursuant 
  to their appointment on 26 August 2008.

 (Mr B T Ngcuka, who is also to retire by rotation at this meeting, 
 shall not hold himself available for re-election.)

3. To authorise the directors to determine the remuneration of the 
 auditors for the past audit.

4. To approve the payment of directors’ remuneration as reflected 
 in the annual financial statements for the financial year ended 
 30 June 2008 and to authorise the directors to determine their 
 remuneration payable in respect of the financial year ending  
 30 June 2009.

5. To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without 
 modification, the following special resolution:

 Special resolution No. 1: Increase in authorised share capital

 Resolved that the company’s authorised share capital of  
 R75 000 000.00 consisting of 1 500 000 000 (ONE BILLION 
 FIVE HUNDRED MILLION) ordinary par value shares of 5 (FIVE) 
 cents each be and it is hereby increased by R25 000 000.00 to 
 R100 000 000.00 consisting of 2 000 000 000 (TWO BILLION) 
 ordinary par value shares of 5 (FIVE) cents each by the creation 
 of 500 000 000 (FIVE HUNDRED MILLION) new ordinary 
 par value shares of 5 (FIVE) cents each, ranking pari passu in all 
 respects with the existing ordinary par value shares comprising 
 the company’s authorised share capital, and that the capital 
 clause of the company’s Memorandum of Association be 
 amended accordingly, subject to and upon registration of this 
 special resolution.

 The reason for and the effect of this special resolution number 1 
 is to increase the company’s authorised share capital and 
 to amend the capital clause of the company’s Memorandum  
 of Association.

6. To consider and, if deemed fit, pass with or without modification, 
 the following ordinary resolutions:

6.1. Ordinary resolution No 1

 Resolved that such number of the unissued shares in the 
 authorised capital of the company, as would represent not more 
 than 10% of the shares in issue at the time an issue of new shares 
 is contemplated, be and is hereby placed under the control of the 
 directors of the company who are authorised to allot or issue any 
 such shares at their discretion, subject at all times to the 
 provisions of the Companies Act, 1973, as amended, the 
 company’s Articles of Association and the requirements of 
 the JSE Limited, provided that each ordinary share of five cents be 
 issued together with 10 (ten) unsecured variable-rate 
 subordinated debentures of 250 cents each, as a linked unit.

 However, no issue of linked units is contemplated at the present 
 time and no issue will be made that could effectively transfer 
 control of the company without the prior approval of unitholders 
 in general meeting.

6.2. Ordinary resolution No 2

 Resolved that, subject to the Listings Requirements of the 
 JSE Limited, the directors be and they are hereby authorised by 
 way of a general authority, to issue ordinary shares of five 
 cents each (“ordinary shares”) together with unsecured variable 
 rate subordinated debentures of 250 cents each (“debentures”) 
 for cash as and when suitable situations arise, subject to the 
 following limitations:

	 •	 that	each	ordinary	share	be	linked	to	10	debentures	to	form 
  linked units (“the linked units”);

	 •	 this	authority	shall	not	extend	beyond	15	months	from	the 
  date of this general meeting;

	 •	 a	 paid	 press	 announcement	 giving	 full	 details,	 including 
  the impact on net asset value and earnings per linked unit, 
  will be published at the time of an issue representing, on 
  a cumulative basis within one year, 5% or more of the 
  number of linked units in issue prior to such issues;

	 •	 that	 issues	 in	 aggregate	 in	 any	one	 financial	 year	will	 not 
  exceed 10% of the number of securities of any class in issue, 
  including instruments which are compulsorily convertible 
  into securities of that class;

	 •	 that,	 in	 determining	 the	 price	 at	which	 an	 issue	 of	 linked 
  units may be made in terms of this authority, the maximum 
  discount permitted will be 5% of the weighted average 
  traded price of the linked units in question, measured over 
  the 30 business days prior to the date on which the price of 
  such issue is determined or agreed by the directors;
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	 •	 that	issues	of	linked	units	shall	be	made	to	public	subscribers 
  only and not to related parties; and

	 •	 that	this	authority	shall	be	restricted	to	the	issue	of	linked 
  units to finance the acquisition of property assets or at  
  any time to settle debt in respect of any of the company’s 
  property assets, and further, provided that any such issues 
  for cash may be made prior to the registration of transfer of 
  any property assets to be acquired.

 At least 75% of the votes held by linked unitholders present or 
 represented by proxy at the meeting need to be cast in favour of 
 this resolution in order to give effect thereto.

7. To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without 
 modification, the following special resolution:

 Special resolution No 2: Repurchase of linked units

 “Resolved that the company or any of its subsidiaries be and are 
 hereby authorised, by way of a general approval, to acquire 
 ordinary shares and debentures issued as linked units by the 
 company, in terms of Sections 85(2) and 85(3) of the 
 Companies Act No 61 of 1973, as amended, and in terms of the 
 rules and requirements of the JSE Limited (“the JSE”), being that:

	 •	 any	such	acquisition	of	linked	units	shall	be	implemented	on 
  the open order book of the JSE and without any prior 
  arrangement;

	 •	 this	general	authority	shall	be	valid	until	the	company’s	next 
  annual general meeting, provided that it shall not extend 
  beyond 15 months from the date of registration of this 
  special resolution;

	 •	 an	announcement	will	be	published	as	soon	as	the	company 
  or any of its subsidiaries has acquired linked units 
  constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% of the number of 
  linked units in issue prior to the acquisition pursuant to which 
  the aforesaid 3% threshold is reached, and for each 3% 
  in aggregate acquired thereafter, containing full details of 
  such acquisitions;

	 •	 acquisitions	of	linked	units	in	aggregate	in	any	one	financial 
  year may not exceed 20% of the company’s issued ordinary 
  share capital as at the date of passing of this special resolution;

	 •	 in	determining	the	price	at	which	ordinary	linked	units	issued 
  by the company are acquired by it or any of its subsidiaries 
  in terms of this general authority, the maximum premium at 
  which such linked units may be acquired will be 10% of the 
  weighted average of the market value at which such linked 
  units are traded on the JSE over the five business days 
  immediately preceding the date of repurchase of such linked 
  units;

	 •	 the	company	is	duly	authorised	by	its	Articles	of	Association 
  to acquire linked units issued by it:

  – at any point in time, the company may only appoint one 
   agent to effect any repurchase on the Company’s behalf;

  – the company’s sponsor must confirm the adequacy 
   of the company’s working capital for purposes of 
   undertaking the repurchase of linked units in writing to 
   the JSE before entering the market to proceed with the 
   repurchase;

  – the company shall remain in compliance with the 
   minimum shareholder spread requirements of the JSE, and

  – the company and/or its subsidiaries may not repurchase 
   any linked units during a prohibited period as defined by 
   the JSE Listings Requirements.”

 The reason for and the effect of this special resolution number 
 2 is to permit the company or any of its subsidiaries, by way of a 
 general approval, to acquire ordinary shares and debentures 
 issued as linked units by the company as and when suitable 
 opportunities to do so arise.

 Although no repurchase of linked units is contemplated at 
 the present time, the directors, having considered the effects 
 of a repurchase of the maximum number of ordinary shares and 
 debentures issued as linked units in terms of the aforegoing 
 general authority, are of the opinion that for a period of 12 
 (twelve) months after the date of the notice of the annual 
 general meeting:

	 •	 the	 company	 and	 the	 group	 will	 be	 able,	 in	 the	 ordinary 
  course of business, to pay its debts;

	 •	 the	assets	of	 the	 company	and	 the	group,	 fairly	 valued	 in 
  accordance with generally accepted accounting practice, 
  will exceed the liabilities of the company and the group; and

	 •	 the	 company’s	 and	 the	 group’s	 ordinary	 share	 capital, 
  reserves and working capital will be adequate for ordinary 
  business purposes.

 The following additional information, some of which may appear 
 elsewhere in the annual report of which this notice forms part, 
 is provided in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements for purposes 
 of the general authority:

	 •	 Directors	and	management	–	pages	90	and	91;

	 •	 Major	beneficial	shareholders	–	page	107;

	 •	 Directors’	interests	in	linked	units	–	page	27	and	28;	and	

	 •	 Share	capital	of	the	company	–	page	47.

LITIgATIoN sTATEMENT
In terms of section 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements, the 
directors, whose names appear on pages 90 and 91 of the annual 
report of which this notice forms part, are not aware of any legal or 
arbitration proceedings that are pending or threatened, that may 
have or have had in the recent past, being at least the previous 12 
(twelve) months, a material effect on the company’s or group’s 
financial position.

DIrEcTors’ rEsPoNsIBILITy sTATEMENT
The directors, whose names appear on pages 90 and 91 of the annual 
report, collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the 
accuracy of the information pertaining to this special resolution 
and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are 
no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement 
false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain 
such facts have been made and that the special resolution contains 
all information.
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MATErIAL cHANgEs
Other than the matters reported on in the annual report, there have 
been no material changes in the affairs or financial position of the 
company and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit 
report and up to the date of this notice.

The directors have no specific intention, at present, for the company 
to repurchase any of its shares but consider that such a general 
authority should be put in place should an opportunity present 
itself to do so during the year which is in the best interests of the 
company and its shareholders.

NoTEs:
A member entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting 
is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote in his 
stead. A proxy need not be a member of the company.

All proxy forms or other instruments of authority must be deposited 
with the Transfer Secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 
2004 (Pty) Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 
2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107), so as to be received not 
less than 48 hours before the appointed time for the holding of 
the meeting (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays).

If you are a certificated Growthpoint linked unitholder or an 
own name dematerialised Growthpoint linked unitholder and 
are unable to attend the annual general meeting of Growthpoint 
linked unitholders to be held at 09:00 on Wednesday, 5 November 
2008 (“the Growthpoint annual general meeting”), but wish to be 
represented thereat, you must complete the attached form of proxy 
in accordance with the instructions therein and return it to the 
Transfer Secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) 
Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO 
Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107) so as to be received by no later 
than 09:00 on tuesday, 4 November 2008.

If you are a dematerialised Growthpoint linked unitholder and are 
not an own name dematerialised Growthpoint linked unitholder, you 
must instruct your CSDP or broker as to how you wish to cast your 
vote at the Growthpoint annual general meeting in order for them 
to vote in accordance with your instructions. If you wish to attend 
the Growthpoint annual general meeting in person, please request 
your CSDP or broker to issue the necessary letter of representation 
to you. This must be done in terms of the agreement entered into 
between the dematerialised Growthpoint linked unitholder (who is 
not an own name dematerialised Growthpoint linked unitholder) 
and the CSDP or broker.

By order of the Board

R a Krabbenhöft

Company Secretary

Date: 26 August 2008
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TO BE COMPLETED BY CERTIFICATED AND OWN NAME DEMATERIALISED LINKED UNITHOLDERS OF 
GROWTHPOINT PROPERTIES LIMITED (“Growthpoint”) ONLY

I/We

(Name in block letters)

of

(Address in block capitals)

being the registered holder of linked units in Growthpoint, hereby appoint

 of or failing him

 of or failing him

 of or failing him

the chairman of the meeting, as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the company to be held at 
The Place, 1 Sandton Drive, Sandown, Sandton, 2196 on Wednesday, 5 November 2008 at 09:00 or any adjournment as follows:

FORM OF PROxY 

resolutions In favour of Against Abstain

1.     Adoption of annual financial statements

2.    Re-election of the following directors who are to retire at the meeting:

2.1  P H Fechter

2.2  R Moonsamy

2.3  L N Sasse

2.4  E K de Klerk

2.5  S M Snowball

3.    Auditors’ remuneration

4.    To approve payment of remuneration to the directors

5.    Special resolution 1: Increase in authorised share capital

6.1   To place the unissued shares in the authorised capital under the 
        control of the directors

6.2  General authority to issue linked units for cash

7.    Special resolution 2: Authority to repurchase linked units

My/our proxy has been instructed to vote in accordance with my/our 
wishes as indicated by the placing of a cross in the appropriate space 
above. Unless so instructed, my/our proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit.

  Signed at: this: day of: 2008

  Signature/s of member/s:

  Telephone:  (            ) Cell:   Fax:  (            )
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NoTEs
A member entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint one or more 
proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the company.

All proxy forms or other instruments of authority must be deposited with the Transfer Secretaries, 
Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 
2001 (P O Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107), so as to be received not less than 48 hours before the appointed 
time for the holding of the meeting (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays).

If you are a certificated Growthpoint linked unitholder or an own name dematerialised Growthpoint linked 
unitholder and are unable to attend the annual general meeting of Growthpoint linked unitholders to be 
held at 09:00 on Wednesday, 5 November 2008 (“the Growthpoint annual general meeting”), but wish to 
be represented at there, you must complete the attached form of proxy in accordance with the instructions 
in it and return it to the Transfer Secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited, Ground 
Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (P O Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107) so they receive it not 
later than 09:00 on Tuesday, 4 November 2008. 

If you are a dematerialised Growthpoint linked unitholder and are not an own name dematerialised 
Growthpoint linked unitholder, you must instruct your CSDP or broker as to how you wish to cast your vote 
at the Growthpoint annual general meeting in order for them to vote in accordance with your instructions. If 
you wish to attend the Growthpoint annual general meeting in person, please request your CSDP or broker 
to issue the necessary letter of representation to you. This must be done in terms of the agreement entered 
into between the dematerialised Growthpoint linked unitholder (who is not an own name dematerialised 
Growthpoint linked unitholder) and the CSDP or broker.
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